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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk
that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Legendary Group Limited (formerly known as L & A International
Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”)
for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement herein or this report misleading.

BERBEXZMAERATE (BXFT]) GEMHEE

GEMIIABRAEMREI I ETHNARSERSREBBNPPMEQRRREM—BELTTES FEREERTBRENZELQH
HEERR  TEEBFEHAFTRESEHRERE -

HAGEMLET AR —RAFNEAF  RGEMEENBSF TREBNBEIMEREENESAZBRANTERBER - FE
BERENGEMEENE LSS REBERNTS -

BRRGRBEEMBARRR MBI AHARE AR TAE - HHERE S TEE R EREMNZR - WRBRSHETSHE
AHE2HIEABO ATMEL LR GBEZE ARSI B EAIER AR EFEE

AR EERB I ACEME S EMRA ([GEM LR ) MR ERFEABEREAKREARAR (AIHETRERZERERAR)
([ARA) WER - ARBRESR ([EF)) HAAREMNHABRESAEZHMEE - EFMNMEL IS BERMRER - BIREMR
RARHEE  AREMBERESEAT IO BERL TR - BEYEREHMEERD - MEEREAEMER  BERHRER
ERBARAREEMRE -



CONTENTS
B &

Corporate Information

Management Discussion and Analysis
Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
Directors’ Report

Corporate Governance Report

Independent Auditor’'s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Five Years Financial Summary

Legendary Group Limited
Il Annual Report 2022

NEER

EREHBRAN

EENEAEEERE

EEEHE

e M MmARMEE

REMBHE

1-3

4-16

17-20

21-34

35-50

51-59

60-61

62-63

64

65-67

68-249

250



REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
Maples Corporate Services Limited

P.0. Box 309, Ugland House

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTER AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

5/F, World Interests Building, 8 Tsun Yip Lane,

Kwun Tong, Hong Kong

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yuen Yu Sum (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin

Mr. Lau Chun Kavan (resigned on 27 October 2021)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Law Wing Chung (appointed on 2 June 2021)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie

Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis

Mr. Chung Chin Kwan

Mr. Chung Kwok Pan (appointed on 2 June 2021)

Mr. Leung Kai Cheong Kenneth (appointed on 7 December 2021)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie (Chairman)
Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis

Mr. Chung Chin Kwan

CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEER

FEREEMREE
Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.0. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

RMBRERBETEEEMR

EREE
SRk EeSR B RIE5IE

HITES

RWREE (ZF)

FRSLR e

2t (R=—ZT=—F+ A=+t BHE)

FHITESE
BEKBAEE (NZZE-—FXA-AEZMT)

BIYKHITES

RR&E A

ERMTE

ERM Y (R —E A -BREEME)
PHEESE (N - —F+_-ALHAEET)

BEREREE
PREESEE ()
KREFEE
ERINSE L

AXEAREERAR 1
2022 £k



CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEER

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chung Chin Kwan (Chairman)

Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis

Mr. Law Wing Chung (appointed on 7 December 2021)
Mr. Lau Chun Kavan (resigned on 27 October 2021)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chung Chin Kwan (Chairman)

Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis

Mr. Law Wing Chung (appointed on 7 December 2021)
Mr. Lau Chun Kavan (resigned on 27 October 2021)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Fung Yuk Yiu (appointed on 9 September 2021)
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum (appointed on 27 October 2021)
Mr. Leung Tze Wai (resigned on 9 September 2021)
Mr. Lau Chun Kavan (resigned on 27 October 2021)

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited

P.0. Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F

Two Chinachem Exchange Square

338 King's Road

North Point, Hong Kong

2 Legendary Group Limited
Annual Report 2022

FMEES

BRMTE (FF)

BAXBSEE (N -—F+-A+AEEET)
Bkt (W—E-—F+A=-++HEMD)

REZEEE®

BRMTE (FF)

BXBSEE (N —F+_-_A+HAEET)
Bkt (W—E-—F+A=-++BEMD)

RERK

BEELL (RZE-—FNANBEEE)
EREEE (R—ZE-—F+A-+LAEZME)
RFEEE (R -—FABNBET)
Bkt (W—E-—F+A=-++HEMD)

MERETERDBFETRE

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
P.0. Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

BEERDBFELTE

BEBHFELERAT
XA

HE3E3385%
FEUR 5 EH2H
331£3301-04%



PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
Dah Sing Bank

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Fung Yuk Yiu

(appointed on 9 September 2021)
Mr. Leung Tze Wai

(resigned on 9 September 2021)

AUDITOR
Kenswick CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

COMPANY'S WEBSITE
www.legendarygp.com.hk

STOCK CODE
8195

CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEER

FEAERBRIT
RERERIRIT (M) BIABRA
RHERT

ERIFT (BH) BRAA

NEME
Pt —yoaun
(RZZ=Z—FNANBEZM)
RFIESE
(RZZE=—FNANBEHT)

BB Em
5 (B%) BHHFHHERAA
PE AT

DRI

www.legendarygp.com.hk

BRAD SR
8195

AXEAREERAR 3
2022 £k



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEESWRD T

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group principally derives its revenue from the following
business arms: (i) OEM business segment, which entails product
design and development, raw materials sourcing and procurement,
manufacturing and product quality control management (the “"OEM
Business”); (ii) apparel retail business segment, which entails
designing, procuring, manufacturing, marketing and retailing of pure
cashmere apparel and other apparel products as well as accessories
through the retail network in Hong Kong under the Group's own brand
and high-end fashion brand (the “Retail Business”); (i) money lending
business segment, which provides financing to customers for interest
income (“Money Lending Business”); (iv) financial quotient and
investment education business segment, which provides financial
quotient and investment education courses for the customers in
return of tuition fees from them (“Financial Quotient and Investment
Education Business”); (v) property investment business (“Property
Investment Business”); and (vi) private supplementary education
business segment, which provides private supplementary education
courses for the students in return of tuition fees from them (“Private
Supplementary Education Business”).

OEM Business

The garment sector of the consumer market has experienced a
downturn in recent year. Meanwhile, the Company currently has
no intention, arrangement, agreement, understanding, negotiation
(concluded or otherwise) on disposal, termination and/or scaling-
down of the Company’s OEM business. The Group will cautiously
monitor the business environment, market sentiment and customers’
behaviors of the OEM business and will continue to devote effort to
the development of the OEM business. Going forward, the Group will
continue to focus on expanding the customer base by diversifying
the service scope of the OEM business. The Group is currently in
the negotiation with a new potential customer based in Hong Kong
which provides non-garment textile products to commercial offices,
restaurants, healthcare and retail premises.

Retail Business

While the economic slowdown in the People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC") and the outbreak of the COVID-19 in early 2020 eroded
consumer confidence, the shifting of pattern to online shopping
further negatively impacted the Retail Business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Under such an unfavorable ambience, the Group has adopted
a prudent approach in restructuring its sales network aiming at
minimising the operating costs amid meeting the shift of consumers’
preference towards shopping online.

Money Lending Business

The Group obtained the money lender licence and commenced
Money Lending Business from June 2016. During the year ended 31
March 2022, the Money Lending Business had generated interest
income of approximately HK$2.9 million, representing an decrease
of approximately 29.8% compared to that of last financial year.
Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 in early 2020, the business
environment in Hong Kong has been affected by the worsening
economy caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group expects that
such challenging and unpredictable environment may affect the loan
demand and lending risks of the Group.

Therefore, the Group will continue to evaluate its risk management
measures and ensure a proper balance between return and risk in
the long run.

Financial Quotient and Investment Education
Business

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group established the
Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business. The Group
provides financial quotient and investment education courses for
the customers, aiming at enhancing their knowledge in the areas of
finance and investment. The Group in return earns tuition fee income
from the provision of courses. During the year ended 31 March 2022,
certain courses were completed with inspiring achievements and
revenue of approximately HK$97.6 million, representing an increase
of approximately 43.2% as compared to that of approximately
HK$68.1 million for the last financial year.

Property Investment Business

The Group also established the Property Investment Business
during the year ended 31 March 2020. The Group will keep seeking
for opportunities of asset appreciation and cash flow return in the
property market within Hong Kong and in the Asian-Pacific region.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEESWRD T

Private Supplementary Education Business

In August 2021, the Group resolved to develop the business of
provision of private supplementary education services as a new
business of the Group. Private supplementary education services
play a supplemental role to regular schools, helping students deepen
their understanding of what they have learnt in classes, improve
their school grades and better prepare themselves for public
examinations. Private supplementary education services, especially
those for local secondary school students, have been in high demand
in Hong Kong.

On 15 December 2021, each of the education centers located in
Causeway Bay, Kowloon Bay and Prince Edward has obtained the
“Certificate of Provisional Registration of A School” granted by the
Education Bureau of Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Private Supplemental
Education Business had generated revenue of approximately HK$14.0
million and recorded loss of approximately HK$4.2 million. The Group
estimates that the Private Supplemental Education Business would
be profitable in the next financial year.

PROSPECTS

For the OEM Business, the management of the Group (the
“Management”) is committed to strengthening the customer base.
The Group will continue to find new orders and customers. Also,
as mentioned above, the Group is currently in the negotiation with
a new potential customer based in Hong Kong which provides
non-garment textile products to commercial offices, restaurants,
healthcare and retail premises.

For the Retail Business, the Management will closely monitor the
consumers’ behaviour and will continue the promotion campaigns.
Because of the outbreak of coronavirus in Hong Kong, there was
an adverse impact to the Group and accordingly, the Management
will actively keep monitoring the performance of the Group, and
will implement appropriate strategy in a timely manner. Despite the
uncertainties, the Management still remains positive towards the
Retail Business in the long run.

For Money Lending Business, the Group will continue to expand in a
prudent and balanced risk management approach.

6 Legendary Group Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business, the
Group will (i) invest resources to expand the market share, and
(i) strive to broaden its customer base. The Group is also seeking
for opportunities of asset appreciation and cash flow return in
the property market within Hong Kong and in the Asian-Pacific
region. Whilst the Group remains focused on developing its existing
businesses, in particular the Investment Education Business, it
has been the business strategy of the Group to proactively seek
potential investment opportunities in order to enhance value of the
Shareholders.

The Group commenced the business of provision of private
supplementary education services. The Board is optimistic on
the prospects of the demand for the private tutorial classes and
considers that the new business of the private supplementary
education services will further enhance the Company'’s financial
performance as well as the value of the shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue increased from approximately HK$96.5 million
for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately HK$115.1 million
for the year ended 31 March 2022, representing an increase of
approximately 19.3%. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
outbreak of the COVID-19 in early 2020 eroded customer confidence,
which led to the significant decrease of the revenue of the OEM
Business to nil for the year ended 31 March 2022.

For the Retail Business and Money Lending Business, it had generated
income of approximately HK$0.3 million and HK$2.9 million for the
year ended 31 March 2022 respectively.

For the Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business, certain
courses were completed with inspiring achievements and generated
revenue of approximately HK$97.6 million, representing an increase
of approximately 43.2% as compared to that of approximately
HK$68.1 million for the last financial year.

The Group has commenced a new business of provision of private
supplementary education services. With the successful procurement
of the “Certificate of Provisional Registration of A School” granted
by the Education Bureau of Hong Kong on 15 December 2021, it had
generated tuition income of approximately HK$14.0 million for the
year ended 31 March 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEESWRD T

The following table sets forth the breakdowns of the revenue of the
Group by segment for each of the year ended 31 March 2021 and
31 March 2022.

HK$’000
FET

:E::i A=t RLEEEFEIHE D
HUgaa B4R

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE
2022

2021
—E -4
HK$'000 %
FAIT Bkt

OEM Business RIBEIEET
Retail Business TERK 400 0.4
Money Lending Business BT 4,126 43
Financial Quotient and MR RIEERE £

Investment Education

Business 97,567 68,110 70.6
Property Investment Business — #3384 7% 333 0.3 - 0.0
Private Supplementary NV ENE G- E S

Education Business 13,983 12.2 - 0.0

115,088 100.0 96,468 100.0

Cost of sales and services SHE R R A
The majority of the Group’s cost of sales and services was raw  AEEIHE RIRBK A RIS BRM LA - B
material costs, labor and operating cost of financial quotient and ERREHERENIEES KEE KR - NEEH

investment education courses. The Group's cost of sales and services
increased by approximately 2.0% to approximately HK$30.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2022 as compared to the year ended
31 March 2021.

Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March
2022 was approximately HK$50.6 million (2021: HK$29.2 million),
representing an increase of approximately HK$21.4 million. The
increase was due to the increase in marketing and administration
expenses relating in financial quotient and investment education
courses of approximately of HK$10.0 million and commencement
of a new business of provision of private supplementary education
services which has incurred selling and administrative expenses of
approximately HK$7.2 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Profit for the year

The profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 was approximately
HK$26.0 million. The profit for the year ended 31 March 2021 was
approximately HK$40.4 million.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Capital structure

As at 31 March 2022, the share capital and equity attributable to
owners of the Company amounted to approximately HK$179,000
and HK$213.3 million respectively (2021: HK$154,000 and HK$176.8
million respectively). Details of the capital management are set out
in the Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

Cash position

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s unpledged
bank balances and cash was approximately HK$21.0 million (2021:
HK$72.9 million), representing a decrease of approximately 71.2% as
compared to that of at 31 March 2021.

Gearing ratio

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s total borrowings (including the
promissory notes) were HK$5.0 million (31 March 2021: HK$68.6
million). The gearing ratio was approximately 2.4% as at 31 March
2022 (31 March 2021: approximately 39.4%).

Exchange Rate Exposure

The Group's business operations are denominated mainly in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"). The Group’s assets and liabilities are
mainly denominated in HKS$. Currently, the Group has not entered
into agreements or purchased instruments to hedge the Group's
exchange rate risks.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEESWRD T

Change of company name

On 31 August 2021, the Company changed its English name from
“L & A International Holdings Limited” to “Legendary Group Limited”
and adopted the Chinese name "8I X E#EE B R A F]" as its dual
foreign name to replace its former Chinese name “%4=5 B i A
FRAF]" (the “"Change of Company Name”). Further details of the
Change of Company Name were set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 23 April 2021, the circular of the Company dated 30
June 2021 and the supplemental circular of the Company dated 20
July 2021. The Change of Company Name was registered with the
Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong on 26 August 2021. Following
the Change of Company Name becoming effective, the stock short
name of the Company has been changed from “L & A INTL HOLD" in
English and "£4Z54Z %" in Chinese to “LEGENDARY GROUP" in English
and “BIXf&E7&" in Chinese with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 3 September
2021. The Company also adopted a new company logo with effect
from 3 September 2021.

Significant Investments Held, Material
Acquisitions or Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Affiliated Companies, and Plans for Material
Investments or Capital Assets

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has disposed of an
inactive subsidiary and a loss of approximately HK$1.9 million was
generated. Upon completion of the disposal, the Group ceased its
Wholesaling operation.

On 20 September 2021, Able Glorious Limited (“Able Glorious”), a
direct wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and the vendor
entered into an agreement, pursuant to which, Able Glorious has
agreed to acquire and the vendor has agreed to sell 100% equity
interest of KC Training Company Limited (“KC Training Group”), at
the Consideration of HK$9,000,000, which would be settled (i) as to
HK$5 million by the allotment and issue of the Consideration Shares
at the Issue Price of HK$0.257; (ii) as to HK$3 million by cash; and (iii)
as to HK$1 million by the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities by
Able Glorious. On 11 November 2021, Able Glorious and the vendor
entered into a supplemental agreement and agreed to amend the
payment terms of the corresponding part of the Consideration Shares
of HK$5 million to be settled by the issuance of the Promissory Notes
by the Company to the Vendor. KC Training Group is dedicated to
delivering training programs to equip the customers with selling
and communication skill. Details of the transaction were set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 20 September 2021 and 11
November 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 31 March 2022, Able Glorious and the vendor entered into an
agreement, pursuant to which, Able Glorious has agreed to acquire
and the vendor has agreed to sell 100% equity interest of Brilliant Ever
Global Limited (“Brilliant Ever Global Group”), at the Consideration of
HK$40,000,000, which would be settled (i) as to HK$33 million by the
issuance of the Promissory Notes by the Company; (i) as to HK$6
million by cash; and (iii) as to HK$1 million by the assumption of the
Assumed Liabilities by Able Glorious. Brilliant Ever Global Group is
principally engaged in provision of financial quotient and investment
experience sharing courses in Hong Kong. Details of the transaction
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 21 March 2022.

Save for the above acquisitions and disposal and as disclosed
elsewhere in this report, there were no significant investments,
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no future plan for material
investments or capital assets as at 31 March 2022.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2022
(2021: Nil).

Capital Commitments
The Group had no material capital commitments as at 31 March
2022 (2021: Nil).

Employees and Emolument Policies

The Group had approximately 90 employees (including Directors)
as at 31 March 2022 (2021: 60). The Group recruits and promotes
individuals based on their performance and development potential
in the positions held. In order to attract and retain high quality
staff and to enable smooth operation within the Group, the Group
offers competitive remuneration packages (with reference to
market conditions and individual qualifications and experience)
and various in-house training courses. The remuneration packages
are subject to review on a regular basis. The emoluments of the
Directors and senior management are reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating results, market
competitiveness, individual performance and achievement, and
approved by the Board.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEESWRD T

Share Consolidation

Pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholders passed at an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 24 September
2021, every five issued and unissued ordinary shares with a par
value of HK$0.0001 each in the share capital of the Company be
consolidated into one ordinary shares with a par value of HK$0.0005
each, such that the authorized share capital of the Company is
HK$500,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000,000 shares with a par
value of HK$0.0005 each, the subdivided shares shall rank pari passu
in all aspects with each other in accordance with the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company.

Legal Proceedings

During the year ended 31 March 2019, a petition has been filed to
the court by two shareholders of the Company (the “Petitioners”),
which together holding over 3% of the Company’s issued shares, and
the Petitioners filed and served a re-amended petition to the court
on 3 December 2019. The Petitioners pray (i) that the Company be
wound up pursuant to the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32); (ii) that the court make such other
orders as are deemed to be just and equitable; and (iii) that provision
be made for Petitioners’ costs. On 18 October 2021, the High Court of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region delivered the judgment
of HCCW 72 of 2019 (“the Case”) and made the following orders
("the Orders”):

1) The Company be wound up on 1 November 2021 on which date
the order will be made in open court.

2)  There be general liberty to the Petitioners, the Respondents,
the Company and shareholders of the Company to apply.

3) A costs order nisi that the Respondents pay the Petitioners
costs of the proceedings with certificate for two counsel such
costs to be taxed if not agreed.

On 1 November 2021, the interested parties appeared before the
Honourable Mr. Justice Harris and were legally represented. Strong
Light Investments Limited (the 1st Respondent) was represented
by Mr. José-Antonio Maurellet, Senior Counsel, Mr. Alan Kwong
and Mr. Michael Ng. The executive directors and shareholders of
the Company, Mr. Yuen Yu Sum and Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin were
represented by Mr. Look-Chan Ho and Mr. Jiang Zixin. A substantial
shareholder, Mr. Lui Yu Kin (“Mr. Lui”), holding approximately 7.23%
of the issued share capital of the Company was represented by Mr.
Benjamin Yu, Senior Counsel and Ms. Andrea Yu.

1 2 Legendary Group Limited
Annual Report 2022

5 & B
RER-E-—FALA-THARITHARQF
REFAGBBNRERER  ARFAKRAK
o & A R B EE0.0001/8 T B 21T M AR BT
@R A OF B — BR 9 A% T {50.00057%8 Tt H) i@
B% » BUE AN A B 3A T B AR A500,000,0007% 7T (2
#41,000,000,000,0008% & A% T 80.00057%5 7T &) %
) MARBEAARAABERAMRMA - DIFR
NESHERLZERSES -

SEEREA

(E_T-NFZA=+—HILLFE KRAFW
ERE(2FAD (BERFERRRDEITRG
HBi83%) FARIRR 2% - BEBARZE—N
FHZA-HMERIRERIRKET —HEENE
FIER c EBRABROARTRBEAT (FEK
FETEAESO) 151 (5832%) JEH% : (IVEBTIEL E
AEFERS 0 R BAZNARNGHERA -
RZZEZ—F+A+1\B BEFINTRESS
SEBLEMHCCW 72/2019 ([E2Z 15 ]) BRI 2%
HUTm2 ([ZEs<D !

) AREERZZ—F+—A—BEE &
B ERAFEELBMhZGS

2)  EHAWE ARRRANRARMARERS
BERRELHE -

3 MEBESBERWEAZFAXNMNFLE - Wik
HMBREDEDR - WARERE - HERE
AIEEBREE ©

RZB-—F+—A—B BAZTAEALHE
HEBMDEB 2R YHERRREE - 5
SREBRRA (F—KE) AELEBERAR
fb - EBER AL KR AN R R IEIE REZEIIE - ARF
HITEERBRRRMREERRIE L ERMA
REREMTTFITAREMRE - FEARFD
BIOTRAN7 8%z TZRREFREE (B%
£ ARESERKEMERBEREMARE -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

After hearing of the legal representatives, the Court did not make
a winding-up order. The Honourable Mr. Justice Harris gave an
order for (i) leave to be given to Mr. Lui to make representation to
oppose the petition and to file evidence in opposition to the petition
within 28 days (i) any interested parties including the Company and
contributories of the Company who wish to file evidence to oppose
the petition shall file evidence by 4:30 p.m. on 29 November 2021.
The petitioner has not objected to the aforesaid details in the hearing
of 1 November 2021.

On 9 December 2021, the Company has received notice from the
legal representatives for the Company that the legal representatives
received a letter from the Court dated 8 December 2021, confirming
the Honourable Mr. Justice Harris made the following order on 7
December 2021 with the following terms:

1. the winding up petition needs to be listed for dismissal;

2. the hearing of the winding up petition fixed for 9 December
2021 at 9:30 am before the Honourable Mr. Justice Harris be
vacated; and

3. the 3-day trial fixed for 20 to 22 April 2022 before the
Honourable Mr. Justice Harris be vacated.

The letter from the Court dated 8 December 2021 also stated:

“Please note that the pronouncement of order for dismissal of
petition is fixed on 13/12/2021 at 9:30 am before the Honourable Ms.
Justice Linda Chan, unless there is any issue that the parties wish
to address the court, their attendance and the Official Receiver’'s
attendance at the hearing are excused.”

On 13 December 2021, the Honourable Ms. Justice Linda Chan has
made an order to dismiss the Petition at the hearing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEESWRD T

SUSPENSION OF TRADING

At the request of the Company, the trading in the shares of the
Company on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) has been suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 19
October 2021.

On 22 November 2021, the Company received a letter from the
“Stock Exchange setting out the following resumption guidance (the
“Initial Resumption Guidance”) for the resumption of trading in the
shares:

i. have the winding-up petition (or order, if made) against the
Company withdrawn of dismissed (the “Resumption Guidance
1),

ii.  demonstrate that there is no reasonable regulatory concern
about management integrity and/or the integrity of any persons
with substantial influence over the Company’s management
and operations, which will pose a risk to investors and damage
market confidence (the "Resumption Guidance 2"); and

iii. announce all material information for the Company’s
shareholders and investors to appraise the Company’s position
(the “Resumption Guidance 3").

On 14 June 2022, the Company received a letter from the Stock
Exchange setting out an additional resumption guidance that the
Company to conduct an independent internal control review and
demonstrate that the Company has in place adequate internal
controls and procedures to comply with the Listing Rules (the
“Resumption Guidance 4", together with the Initial Resumption
Guidance, the “Resumption Guidance”). Further details were set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 19 October 2021, 1
November 2021, 3 November 2021, 26 November 2021, 23 November
2021, 18 January 2022, 14 April 2022, 7 June 2022, 17 June 2022, 20
June 2022, 29 June 2022 and 30 June 2022.

The Company are in the progress to fulfill the Resumption Guidance.
Notwithstanding the suspension of trading in the shares, the
Company is carrying on its business operations as usual. The
Group will continue to closely monitor its financial position and
business operations and make further announcement(s) as and
when appropriate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Securities Investment Held by the Group

Details of the investment performance for the year ended 31 March
2022 in respect of equity securities listed in Hong Kong held by the
Group are as follows:

Movement during the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-2-cE-fct-ALEENSE

% of % of
interest interest
% to the of the % to the of the
total assets  respective total assets  respective
of the Group  investments Fair value of the Group  investments
Addition/ ~ Change on asat asat asat ended
1 Apri T April  (disposal), ~ fairvalue, 31 March  31March  31March 31 March
Notes 2021 2021 2021 net net 2022 2022 2022 2022
Ho%=-% gz
BA-B R-%=-% \Z8CZF RIBIZF WoBCE
{258  BA-A RH-3=-F AZEZZF ZASf-R ZASt-R ZB1-R
EEEEN (RERE DA-AK hE ME ZB=t-A (AREEE GEBRE LERAE
Name of investments B4R Ik Anlt EBRNEAL ATE  (KE)FE  29FE  HOTE MENASR BENEAM  REAE
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
TET T # Tin Fin

Loss on
disposal/
redemption

Fair valug for the year

as at as at asat
1 April

Equity securities listed in
Hong Kong
Infinity Logistics and Transport

AT

Infinity Logistics and Transport

Ventures Limited (1442) Ventures Limited (1442) 001% 001% B - - NARER  NAZRER ]
MOG Holdings Limited (1942)  MOG Holdings Limited (1942) (@) 0.04% 0.02% 19 30 10 109 0.03% 0.10% -
ALbing Smart Cly Senices Co -~ BEEBERMBRRGER

[t (3319) RE3319) 0.03% 0.01% 103 (103 - - NATEE  NATER 8
1u Teng Intemational Holdings Lt BRI R ER A 7333

(333%) 0] 022% 0.03% 794 ) (199) 3 0.10% 0.03% -
Kidztech Holdings Limited (918) 0.04% 001% 14 - - NATER  NATER )
Link Real Estate Investment Trust 48

(823 0.02% 0.01% n ] - - NATEE  NATER @
Hisense Home Appliances Group BEZEEERHERAT

Co, L. 021) ] 002% 0.01% 6 (65) - - NATEE  NATER 9
Baidu Inc (9885) AREERHER L8 00%% 001% 0 (107) - - NATEE  NATER 1
Archosaur Gamesn 099 BEEZEEAT999) 005% 001% 17 (173) - - NATER  NATER (12
Futires and options forgold. -~ EEHSRERfE NATER  NATER - - - - NATEE  NATEE (135)

15% 972 (183) 139 (1.287)
Investment funds REES
Swiss Financial Services SWiss Financial Services

(Singapore) Pte Ltd. (Singapore) Pte Lt
- ClassHof Investment Target A4 R EHE [B325ER
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Notes:

16

This investment represented 96,000 shares, which was approximately
0.09% of the total issued shares of MOG Holdings Limited (“MOG") as at
31 March 2022. MOG and its subsidiaries (“MOG Group”) is principally
engaged in the retail business of optical products in Malaysia.
The Group recorded an unrealised fair value gain of approximately
HK$10,000 in respect of its investment in MOG for the year ended 31
March 2022. According to MOG's annual report for the year ended
31 March 2021, MOG Group recorded revenue and net profit of
approximately Malaysian Ringgit (“MR$”) 99.2 million and MR$12.3
million respectively

This investment represented 252,000 shares, which was approximately
0.03% of the total issued shares of Ju Teng International Holdings
Limited (“JuTeng”) as at 31 March 2022. Ju Teng and its subsidiaries
(“Ju Teng Group”) is principally engaged in the business of manufacture
and sales of casings for notebook computer and handheld devices.
The Group recorded an unrealised fair value loss of approximately
HK$193,000 in respect of its investment in Ju Teng for the year ended
31 March 2022. According to Ju Teng's annual report for the year ended
31 December 2021, JuTeng Group recorded revenue and net profit of
approximately HK$11.0 billion and HK$58.0 million respectively.

The Management would also continue to monitor the performance and
share price of MOG and JuTeng.

The unlisted equity investment is issued by private entities with
operations in Cayman Islands. The investment is carried at cost less
impairment as management believes that the range of fair value
estimates is so wide that the fair value cannot be estimated reliably.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yuen Yu Sum (R#¥%), aged 34, was appointed as an
executive Director on 24 October 2019. He obtained a bachelor
degree in Social Sciences (Honours) in Administration and Public
Management from City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Yuen has
over five years' experience in event management and organizing
investment experience-sharing courses and training courses.

Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin (BR3Z &), aged 37, was appointed as an
executive Director on 3 August 2020. Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor
degree in Dental Surgery from University of Hong Kong and diploma
in Higher Education, School of Dentistry from University of Liverpool.
Mr. Chan has over 11 years of experience in corporate strategy,
business development and management where he was a founder
of a chain of dental clinics in Hong Kong with over 7 dentists and
6 clinics in 2014 (the "Dental Chain”). Mr. Chan was responsible
for formulating corporate strategies, business development plans
and major corporate decisions for the Dental Chain. In addition,
Mr. Chan has over 7 years of experience in financial quotient and
investment education business. He is an instructor of various
property investment courses and training courses with an average
of 300 attendees per month. In addition, he is an instructor and
course director for memory improvement courses and speed-reading
courses with an average of 60 attendees per course. Mr. Chan also
involves in the development of tutorial and training businesses in
relation to the financial quotient and investment education programs
for over 7 years.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Law Wing Chung (#&:kEg), aged 44, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 2 June 2021. Mr. Law obtained a master
degree of journalism and a bachelor degree of laws from the
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Law was an award winning journalist
who has served in the newsroom for over 12 years. Mr. Law has
substantial experience in the media industry. He has set up two
public affairs consulting companies which are principally engaged
in the provision of various consultancy services including public
affairs, public relations, social media, news media and stakeholder
engagement advices. Mr. Law was appointed by the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR") Government as the Political
Assistant to the Financial Secretary in 2012 and had also assisted
a candidate to run the Hong Kong Chief Executive election in 2017.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie (B 1#€), aged 50, FCCA, CPA (Practising),
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 6 June
2019 and is a chairman of the audit committee (“Audit Committee”)
of the Board. He holds a master degree in Professional Accounting
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Diploma in
Accounting from Kwai Chung Technical Institute. He has engaged
in the accounting industry since 1993 and has over 20 years of
extensive experience in accounting and auditing. He is the sole
proprietor of PASICO CPA & Co.

Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis (REZX) , aged 63, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director and a member of each of
the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee on 6 June 2019. Mr. Ng has extensive experience in
auditing, accounting, financial management and corporate affairs.
He is a chartered accountant of The Chartered Accountants Australia
and New Zealand as well as a fellow member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also a practising
certified public accountant.

Mr. Ng is now a company secretary of MEIGU Technology Holding
Group Limited (HKEXx Stock Code: 8349). He is an independent non-
executive director of Media Asia Group Holdings Limited (HKEx Stock
Code: 8075) and an independent non-executive director of China City
Infrastructure Group Limited (HKEx Stock Code: 2349). He was an
independent non-executive direction of Kirin Group Holdings Limited
(HKEX Stock Code: 8109) from April 2015 to December 2021.

Mr. Chung Chin Kwan ($2F&3#), aged 32, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 30 October 2020. He is also
a chairman of each of the nomination committee and remuneration
committee of the Board and a member of the Audit Committee.
He obtained a bachelor degree in Business Administration (major
in accounting) from Lingnan University. Mr. Chung has over 7
years of experience in accounting and taxation services. He also
has extensive experience in company secretarial matters. Mr.
Chung is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a chartered tax adviser of The Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong. Mr. Chung is the founder of CK Tax Company Limited, a
taxation company granted by the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong as
“Chartered Tax Adviser Accredited Employer”.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chung Kwok Pan ((2Ei¥R), aged 58, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2021. Mr. Chung
obtained a bachelor degree in Quantity Surveying from Robert
Gordon’s Institute of Technology, Scotland (currently known as
Robert Gordon University, Aberdeen) in July 1986 and a master
degree in Business Administration from the University of Stirling,
Scotland, United Kingdom in May 1988.

Mr. Chung has been responsible for the business management of
Chungweiming Knitting Factory Limited since early 1988. Mr. Chung
also has several social positions, including a member of the 5th and
6th Legislative Council of Hong Kong (Textile and Garment Sector),
Leader of Liberal Party, Honorary Life Chairman of Hong Kong Apparel
Society Limited, a member of Honorary General Committee, The
Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, an advisor of
New Territories General Chamber of Commerce, a director of Hong
Kong Design Centre, Chairman of Design Discipline Advisory Board
of Vocational Training Council, Chairman of Fashion Industry Training
Advisory Committee, Education Bureau of the HKSAR and a member
of the Advisory Group on Implementation of Fashion Initiatives, The
Commerce and Economic Development Bureau of the HKSAR. He
was also a member of the 9th Guangdong Provincial Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in 2005.

Mr. Chung is currently an independent non-executive director of
High Fashion International Limited (stock code: 608), Planetree
International Development Limited (stock code: 613) and Esprit
Holdings Limited (stock code: 330) respectively, their respective
shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEEERE

Mr. Leung Kai Cheong Kenneth (2#5), aged 59, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 7 December 2021. Mr.
Leung obtained a professional diploma in accountancy from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1984, a degree of bachelor of
science (economics) and a degree of master of laws in The London
School of Economics and Political Science in August 1987 and
November 1992 respectively. Mr. Leung was admitted as a solicitor
to the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
of the People’s Republic of China ("HKSAR") in November 1997 and
holds a current practising certificate with the Law Society of Hong
Kong. He was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of England
and Wales in May 2000.

Mr. Leung is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, a
member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales, and an associate of the Chartered Institute of Taxation in the
United Kingdom.

Mr. Leung has over 30 years of experience in finance, taxation and
law. He is currently a senior consultant of an international solicitors’
firm in Hong Kong and a managing director of a tax consulting firm.

Mr. Leung was a former member of the Legislative Council of HKSAR
(accountancy functional constituency) from 2012 to 2020. As a former
member of the Legislative Council, he held various positions including
acting as a chairman/deputy chairman of the Panel on Financial
Affairs, Public Accounts Committee and Committee on Rules of
Procedure. He also had several other appointments, including
acting as a chairman of HKSAR Government Appeal Tribunal Panel
(Buildings) and being a member of: (i) the Estate Agents Authority;
(ii) the Board of Review (Inland Revenue Ordinance); (iii) Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Advisory Committee; (iv) The Hong Kong
Housing Authority; (v) Independent Police Complaints Council, and
(vi) Trade and Industry Advisory Board.
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The Board is pleased to present their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group principally derives its revenue from six business arms: (i)
OEM Business, which entails product design and development, raw
materials sourcing and procurement, manufacturing and product
quality control management; (ii) Retail Business, which entails
designing, procuring, manufacturing, marketing and retailing of
pure cashmere apparel and other apparel products as well as
accessories through the retail network in Hong Kong under the
Group’s own brand and high-end fashion brand; (iii) Money Lending
Business, which provides financing to customers for interest income,
(iv) Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business, which
provides financial quotient and investment education courses for the
customers in return of tuition fees from them,; (v) Property Investment
Business; and (vi) Private Supplementary Education Business.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2022 are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at that date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 68 to 249.

On 13 August 2021, the Board of directors declared an interim
dividend of HK$0.0075 per share for the three months ended 30
June 2021. (2020 interim dividend: HK$0.0066 per share). The
interim dividend of HK$0.0075 per share has been paid in cash in
three instalments of HK$0.0024 per share, HK$0.0025 per share and
HK$0.0026 per share each on 25 October 2021, 26 November 2021
and 24 December 2021 respectively to shareholders whose names
appeared on the register of members of the Company at the close of
business on 19 October 2021, 22 November 2021 and 20 December
2021 respectively.
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The Directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2022. (2021: HK$0.0072 per share).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, there was no arrangement
under which any shareholder waived or agreed to waive any
dividend.

Further details of dividends are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the material
factors underlying its financial performance and financial position
can be found in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out
on pages 4 to 16.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group commits to the long term sustainability of the environment
and communities in which it operates. Acting in an environmentally
responsible manner, the Group endeavours to comply with laws
and regulations regarding environmental protection and adopt
effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy
saving and waste reduction. The Group also commits to the
principle and practice of recycling and reducing. To help conserve
the environment, it implements green office practices such as
redeployment of office furniture as far as possible, encourages use
of recycled paper for printing and copying, double-sided printing
and copying and reduces energy consumption by switching off idle
lightings, air conditioning and electrical appliances.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the year,
the Group has complied, to the best of our knowledge, with the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ"), the GEM Listing Rules,
the applicable employment ordinance both in the PRC and Hong
Kong, the local standards and regulations for our project works
as well as other relevant rules and regulations. Save as disclosed
elsewhere in this report, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS
AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and other stakeholders to
meet its immediate and long-term goals. Save as disclosed elsewhere
in this report, there were no material and significant dispute between
the Group and its suppliers, customers and/or other stakeholders
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association (“Articles of
Association”) of the Company, the applicable laws and regulations,
every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them
may incur or sustain in the execution of their duties in their offices.
Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout
the year. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers
of the Group.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (“"AGM")

The 2022 AGM will be held on Friday, 30 September 2022. A circular
containing the details of 2022 AGM and the notice of 2022 AGM and
form of proxy accompanying thereto will soon be despatched to
shareholders.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022 the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to approximately HK$152.7 million (2021: HK$129.3
million). The amount includes the Company’s share premium,
special reserve and accumulated profits which may be distributable
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in Note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

No interest was capitalised by the Group during the year ended 31
March 2022.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group, as extracted from the consolidated
financial statements, is set out on page 250 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the Company’s share capital and movements during the
year are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group's five largest customers accounted for
approximately 2.2% of the total sales for the year ended 31 March
2022 (2021: 27.9%) and sales to the largest customer included
therein accounted for approximately 0.8% of the total sales for
the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: 24.7%). Purchase from the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 33.2% of
the total purchase for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: 82.1%)
and purchase from the Group's largest supplier included therein
accounted for approximately 29.6% of the total purchase for the year
ended 31 March 2022 (2021: 74.9%).

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and
suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the
date of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yuen Yu Sum (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin

Mr. Lau Chun Kavan (resigned on 27 October 2021)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Law Wing Chung (appointed on 2 June 2021)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie

Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis

Mr. Chung Chin Kwan

Mr. Chung Kwok Pan (appointed on 2 June 2021)

Mr. Leung Kai Cheong Kenneth (appointed on 7 December 2021)

By virtue of Article 16.18 of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Yuen Yu Sum, Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin, Mr. Chan Kim
Fai Eddie and Mr. Chung Chin Kwan shall retire at the 2022 AGM
and, being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election at the said
meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 17 and 20 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract or an appointment letter (as the case may be) with
the Company for an initial term of one year.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, none of the Directors
being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five individuals with
highest emoluments are set out in Notes 11 to the consolidated
financial statements. For the year ended 31 March 2022, the
remuneration of the Directors and senior management whose details
are included in the “Biographical Details of The Directors and Senior
Management” section of this annual report fell within the following
bands:
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2022, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and administration contracts in respect of the whole
or any principal business of the Company.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

In order to attract and retain high quality staff and to enable
smooth operation within the Group, the Group offers competitive
remuneration packages (with reference to market conditions and
individual qualifications and experience) and various training courses.
The remuneration packages are subject to review on a regular basis.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management are
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Group's operating results, market competitiveness, individual
performance and achievement, and approved by the Board.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in
Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Details of the share option scheme of the Group are set out in Note
36 to the consolidated financial statement.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for share option scheme of the Group, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or
may result in the Company issues shares were entered into during
the year or subsisted at the end of the year.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

Saved as disclosed under the section “Connected Transactions”
below, no contract of significance to which the Company, or any
of its holding company or subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director or his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors and their respective associates had an interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2022 or as at 31 March 2022.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, the change in
information of the Directors for the year ended 31 March 2022 and
up to the date of this annual report is set out below:

i. Mr. Chung Kwok Pan was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 2 June 2021,

il. Mr. Law Wing Chung was appointed as a hon-executive Director
on 2 June 2021 and was appointed as a member of Nomination
Committee on 7 December 2021;

ii. ~ Mr. Lau Chun Kavan resigned from his office as an executive
Director, and a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee on 27 October 2021;
and

iv. Mr. Leung Kai Cheong Kenneth was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 7 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in this report, there is no
other information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1)
of the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2022 and up
to the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO™), which are required (i) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Division 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii)
pursuant to section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in Shares and underlying shares
of the Company:
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EERFETHRAERA QAR EARE
EENRG - MEROHESDHOES
599

RZZEZZF=A=+—0 FFFRFETH
AEBRARRREBEEE (EERFEH ARG
Bl ([FB5REEHG ) EXVED) BARD - 18REAR
MRERES  BEHOREEH LB EAEXV
EBEE7 R85y R /B A AN A B) B Bk AT BT A 4 ek ek
2 (BPIEREESRBAEEINEBIGSHE R
RRBEENERIOAR)  (MRIRES KIS G
EXVEBFE 30214 A 0 A T IR P it B R 60 1 2k Kok
B iR ETREMNG AN 8] RE R ATHY
B MARIT

RAERXTRGREBERDHHEFE

Percentage of
the Company’s

issue share
Number of Number of as at
Name of Directors Capacity Shares held Options held Total 31 March 2022
(%)
R-B-=F
=A=t+—H
ERAT S BT
EEng 51 FERAEE MisEREHE et REABEDE
(%)
Chan Lap Jin Kevin Beneficial owner 30,928,800 - 30,928,800 8.63
PR R EnBBA
Yuen Yu Sum Beneficial owner 6,276,800 - 6,276,300 175
RWR ERFEAA
Chung Chin Kwan Beneficial owner 1,032,000 - 1,032,000 0.29
ERER EnBBA
Interest of spouse 168,000 - 168,000 0.05
[iniist ey (Note 1)
(Krat1)
Law Wing Chung Beneficial owner 192,000 - 192,000 0.05
#oxIR EnEAA
Note: Btet -

(1) 168,000 shares are owned by Ms. Lam Ka Yee, who is the spouse of
Mr. Chung Chin Kwan.

(1) BRI A B BLB M SR & 2 455 168,000% ix

e
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Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
position in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) (i) as required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and/or short positions which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii)
as required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Sections 352 of the SFO, or (iii) as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers as referred
to in Rule 5.46 to Rule 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME", as at 31 March 2022, neither the company, holding
company nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements
to enable the directors and chief executive of the company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities,
including debentures, of the company or any other body corporate,
and none of the directors and chief executive of the company or their
spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe
for the securities of the company, or had exercised any such rights.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 March 2022, other than
the Directors or chief executives of the Company whose interests
or short positions are disclosed under the paragraph headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in the
Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures of the Company and Its
Associated Corporations” above, the following parties have interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which have to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, and who
were expected, directly or indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company are
listed as follows:

Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interests

510 EmiE

BRREE E8

Lau Lan Ying (Note)
BB (M)

Interest in controlled corporations
MR E e

wong Kwan Mo (Note)
"2ER (M)

Interest in controlled corporations
REEEERER

Strong Light Investments  Beneficial owner
Limited (Strong Light")

(Note)

(FE/LJ) (ﬁﬁ&)
Lui Yu Kin Beneficial owner
B F# EnEAA
Note:

38,521,040 shares are owned by Strong Light. Strong Light is a company
incorporated in Hong Kong. The entire issued share capital of Strong Light is
owned as to 50% by Lau Lan Ying and 50% by Wong Kwan Mo. Lau Lan Ying
is the spouse of Wong Kwan Mo.
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FERRREMALTREAQT R KA
R ER KRR

BRESAN RZEZ_ZF=A=+—H0 KH
R éEFLXf%%&IEﬁ&AEF$
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TERARA B E RIREES S R0 533615
EHERNAETTFEMNERMANERERESAR
BB ARG i ok B i B MY A R T R AR
TEARRRZBRRERRG HEENEMERIR AT
{B5%SIA RSN -

REXTRGRBBERGHNETR

Percentage of
the Company’s

issue share

capital as at

Number of 31 March
ordinary shares 2021
HR-B-—F

=B=+—H®W

AATEBITR

AESLE

43,045,200 12.01%
43,045,200 12.01%
38,521,040 10.75%
29,927,200 8.35%

38,521,040 B EiER - EA—RREBEMK
SNHRE  BEnMEBERTRAHIFAREERS
BEAES0% - 2 AEE RS -
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Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Directors
were not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or
chief executives as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’
and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares or Debentures of the Company and Its Associated
Corporations” above) who had, or deemed to have, interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company which has to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO,
or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year ended
31 March 2022.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save for the key management personnel compensation and as
disclosed elsewhere in the annual report, the Group did not have
other significant related party/connected party transactions entered
into during the year ended 31 March 2022.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the Directors
are not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has
taken place subsequent to 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report.
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CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms which are the same as the
required standard of dealings set out in Rule 5.48 to Rule 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The Company periodically issues notices to
its Directors reminding them of the general prohibition on dealing in
the Company’s listed securities during the blackout periods before
the publication of announcements of financial results. The Company
has confirmed, having made specific enquiry of the Directors, that
all the Directors have complied with the required standards of
dealings throughout the year. The Company was not aware of any
noncompliance during the year ended 31 March 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company maintained the
amount of public float as required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 September
2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on appointment or reappointment
and removal of external auditors; review financial statements of the
Company and judgments in respect of financial reporting; oversee
internal control procedures of the Company; and review risk
management and internal control system of the Group.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee consists of 3
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis and Mr. Chung Chin Kwan. Mr. Chan
Kim Fai Eddie is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Group's results for the year ended 31 March 2022 had been
reviewed by the Audit Committee before submission to the Board
for approval. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
March 2022 comply with applicable accounting standards, GEM
Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR

On 17 May 2022, MCM (HK) CPA Limited (“MCM (HK)") resigned as
auditor of the Group and Kenswick CPA Limited (“Kenswick CPA")
was appointed as auditor of the Group with effect from 18 May 2022
to fill such casual vacancy following the resignation of MCM (HK) as
auditor of the Group.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 have been
audited by Kenswick CPA, who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the reappointment
of Kenswick CPA as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
2022 AGM.

By order of the Board
Yuen Yu Sum
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board has adopted various policies to ensure compliance with
the code provisions of the CG Code under Appendix 15 of the
GEM Listing Rules. For the year ended 31 March 2022, save for
the deviations as further explained below, the Company has fully
complied with all applicable provisions of the CG Code. The Company
will continue to enhance its corporate governance appropriate to
the conduct and growth of its business and to review its corporate
governance from time to time to ensure they comply with the
statutory and the CG Code and align with the latest developments.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises eight members, of which two are
executive Directors namely Mr. Yuen Yu Sum and Mr. Chan Lap Jin
Kevin and one non-executive Director namely Mr. Law Wing Chung
and five are independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Chan
Kim Fai Eddie, Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis, Mr. Chung Chin Kwan, Mr.
Chung Kwok Pan and Mr. Leung Kai Cheong Kenneth.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, to the best knowledge of the
Board, there is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material relationship(s)) among the Board members.

Save for the resigned Directors, each of the Directors’ respective
biographical details are set out in the section headed "“Biographical
Details of the Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.
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In accordance with the Memorandum and Articles of Association
(the “Articles of Association”), at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or if their number is not
a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting
at least once every three years and any director appointed to fill a
causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only
until the next following general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. The procedures and
process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are
laid down in the Articles of Association. The Nomination Committee
is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, considering and
formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and appointment
of Directors and monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of Directors and assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
(“CEQ")

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the chairman
and the CEO should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Yuen Yu Sum was appointed as the chairman
of the Board on 14 April 2021. The Board is in the process of finding
an appropriate person to fill the vacancy of the CEO as soon as
practicable. Meanwhile, the Board considers that the existing Board
members are able to share the power and responsibilities of CEO
among themselves.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive Director of his/her independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31
March 2022.

Each of the independent non-executive Director has entered into
a service contract or an appointment letter (as the case may be)
with the Company for an initial term of one year and is subject to
termination provisions therein and retirement and re-election at the
annual general meetings of our Company in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company or any other applicable laws
from time to time whereby he/she shall vacate his office.

ROLE AND FUNCTION OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for overall management of the Group’s
business, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and
control of the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Group by directing and supervising its affairs.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decisions on all major matters of the
Group, including the approval and monitoring of major policy matters,
overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those may involve
conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of
the Group are delegated to the executive Directors and senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are reviewed
from time to time. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior
to any significant transactions entered into by the abovementioned
officers.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experiences and independent
judgement to the Board.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) and revised in 2018 setting out the approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience. The ultimate decision will be
based on the merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Company also adopted a nomination policy (The “Nomination
Policy”) on 20 December 2018. The purpose of the Nomination
Policy is to identify candidates who are suitable to become a
member of the Board and to make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of candidates nominated for directorships.
The Board shall be composed of members with balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to accomplish
the Group's business development, strategies, operation, challenges
and opportunities. The core criteria for selection include gender,
age, cultural and education background, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience, number
of directorship in other listed/public companies and in case of
independent non-executive Directors, the number of years they
have already served. According to the nomination procedure,
the Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying potential
new Directors and recommends to the Board for decision. The
appointment shall be subject to the approval by the Board in
accordance with the Articles of Association, the GEM Listing Rules
and the Nomination Policy.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE
DIRECTORS

All Directors have been given relevant guideline materials regarding
the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws
and regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of
interests and business of the Group and such induction materials
will also be provided to the newly appointed Directors before
their appointment as Directors. All Directors have been updated
on the latest developments regarding the GEM Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirement to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
There is a procedure agreed by the Board to ensure Directors, upon
request, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code
provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on Directors’ training. During the year
ended 31 March 2022, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending seminars/in-house briefing/
reading materials to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
and provided a record of training to the Company. These covered
a broad range of topics including Directors’ duties, corporate
governance and recent updates on the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD MEETINGS

Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all Directors for all
regular Board meetings and the Directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
Board papers in respect of regular Board meetings are sent out
in full to all Directors within reasonable time before the meeting.
Draft minutes of all Board meetings are circulated to Directors for
comment within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board committees meetings are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and
all Directors have access to Board papers and related materials, and
are provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE
RECORDS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, 27 Board meetings were held,
out of which 4 were regular Board meetings for reviewing and
approving the financial and operating performance, and considering
and approving the overall strategies and policies of the Group. The
attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings and
Board committees’ Meetings are set out in the table below:
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PREFHERMAEREFTEERRD4EA
BREBN MEEEAURERENEEMAAGRE
Wi TENEREFE AR ERERESS
XHAREZANAERHANRRZBESE /T
FEFESLINDICHER  EREERIN
BIEERA  HEEHRTEEEM -

EFxgeR BT RegENeRARE BE
HEESRLAZENWENAGFE - MERE
SHURHESE XX T RERYE - B2@EsE
BREER  NEREFSAUMAERENSEE
TR AIFIRTE -

ERRB R HFERRE

RAARRBEZZ-_—_F=-A=+—HILtFEH
BiT7rEFeeH HPAREERESFSS
F o ABEHRIEAEENI G REERE - A
REBRMAEREENEERERBK SES
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(N

Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
meeting meeting meeting meeting Meeting
EE00E ENZEeeE FHZEeeE R4ZEee: REAE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Lau Chun Kavan [ s 18/18 N/ATER 2/2 2/2 22
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum RIRLE 21127 N/ATNEF N/ATER N/ANER 3/3
Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin RURLE 2127 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATE R 33
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Law Wing Chung Bt 18/21 N/ATER 0/0 0/0 33
Independent non-executive Directors ~ B k@iTES
Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie RelELE 2127 A/ N/ATER N/ATEFR 33
Mr. Ng Chi Ho, Dennis REREE 21127 4/4 33 3/3 33
Mr. Chung Chin Kwan ERMEE 2127 4/ 3/3 33 313
Mr. Chung Kwok Pan EEREE 18/21 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER 313
Mr. Leung Kai Cheong Kenneth REERE 4/4 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER 0/0
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BOARD COMMITTEE

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 September
2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28
and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. The written terms of reference of
the Audit Committee was adopted in compliance with paragraph C3.3
of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.
On 31 December 2018, the Board adopted a set of the revised terms
of reference of the Audit Committee in line with the GEM Listing
Rules requirement. The revised terms of reference setting out the
Audit Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are available
on both the GEM website and the Company’s website. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee, among other things, are to assist the
Board in overseeing and reviewing (i) the effectiveness of the Group's
risk management and internal control systems and regulatory
compliance of the Group; (i) the integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and application of accounting standards and significant
judgements contained in the financial statements; and (iii) the
relationship with the external auditors by reference to the work
performed by the auditors, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors.

As at 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis and Mr. Chun Chin Kwan. Mr. Chan Kim
Fai Eddie was the chairman of the Audit Committee. During the year
ended 31 March 2022, 4 meetings of Audit Committee were held
for, inter alia, reviewing the Group’s quarterly, interim and annual
results, the financial reporting and compliance procedures, the risk
management and internal control systems, and considering the
appointment of auditors of the Company.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 25
September 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance
with paragraph B1.2 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules. On 31 December 2018, the Board adopted
a set of the revised terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee in line with the GEM Listing Rules requirement. The
terms of reference setting out the Remuneration Committee’s
authority, duties and responsibilities are available on both the
GEM website and the Company’'s website. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendation to the
Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating
to all Directors and senior management of the Group and ensure
none of the Directors determine their own remuneration, which is
paragraph B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee
has adopted the operation model where it performs an advisory
role to the Board, with the Board retaining the final authority to
approve the remuneration packages of individual Directors and
senior management.

As at 31 March 2022, the Remuneration Committee consists of two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis,
Mr. Chung Chin Kwan and one non-executive Director, Mr. Law WIng
Chung. Mr. Chung Chin Kwan was the chairman of the Remuneration
committee.

Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, 3 meetings of Remuneration
Committee were held for, inter alia, reviewing the remuneration policy
and structure and determining the annual remuneration packages
of the Directors and the senior management and determining the
annual remuneration packages of the newly appointed Directors and
senior management, if any.

On 27 October 2021, Mr. Lau Chun Kavan resigned as the member of
the Remuneration Committee, Mr. Law WIng Chung was appointed as
the member of the Remuneration Committee on 7 December 2021.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 25
September 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with
paragraph A5.2 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules. On 31 December 2018, the Board adopted a set
of the revised terms of reference of the Nomination Committee in
line with the GEM Listing Rules requirement. The revised terms of
reference setting out the Nomination Committee’s authority, duties
and responsibilities are available on both the GEM website and the
Company'’s website. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
are to make recommendations to the Board on nomination and
appointment of Directors and Board succession, with a view to
appoint to the Board individuals with suitable experience and
capabilities to maintain and improve the competitiveness of the
Company.

As at 31 March 2022, the Nomination Committee consists of two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis,
Mr. Chung Chin Kwan and one non-executive Director, Mr. Law WIng
Chung. Mr. Chung Chin Kwan was the chairman of the Nomination
committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, 3 meetings of Nomination
Ccommittee were held for, inter alia, considering the retirement and
re-election of the Directors and the appointment of the new Directors
and senior management, if any. The Nomination Committee has also
reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered that the Group achieved the effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy during the year.

On 27 October 2021, Mr. Lau Chun Kavan resigned as the member
of the Nomination Committee, Mr. Law WIng Chung was appointed
as the member of the Nomination Committee on 7 December 2021.

Compliance Committee

The Company established a compliance committee (the “Compliance
Committee”) with effect from 20 June 2022. The Compliance
Committee is responsible for overseeing the regulatory compliance
with all relevant rules and regulations applicable to the Company,
including but not limited to, the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”),
the Securities and Futures Ordinance, and the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (together, “Applicable Laws”).
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The members of the Compliance Committee consist of two
independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director.
The Board has appointed Mr. Chung Chin Kwan, Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, both being independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Yuen
Yu Sum, being the chairman of the Board and an executive Director,
as members of the Compliance Committee. Mr. Chung Chin Kwan
has been appointed as the chairman of the Compliance Committee.

The terms of reference of the Compliance Committee are available
on the Company'’s website at http://www.legendarygp.com and the
Stock Exchange’s website at http://www.hkexnews.hk.

With the aim to implement the Independent Consultant’s
recommendation and strengthen the regulatory compliance function
of the Group, the Company has engaged Kenneth Chong Law Office,
an independent Hong Kong legal adviser, to provide consultation on
Applicable Laws compliance to the Group for a period commencing
from 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is also delegated with corporate governance functions
under code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. The Board has reviewed
and discussed the corporate governance policy of the Group and is
satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group adopted the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions of the Company. Upon the
Company'’s specific enquiry, each Director had confirmed that, they
had fully complied with the required standard of dealings and there
was no event of non-compliance for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the fees paid/payable to the
auditor of the Company, and its affiliate companies in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by them to the Group were
as follows:

EEERRE

B &
BEZZ--_F=A=1+—HIEFE x2AK
HE S N Rt B AN M AR5 B IR eV X BURTS o
IERBRB MO, EAEEZERANT

Fees paid/payable HK$

Service rendered FriR AR IE B,/ ENERET
Audit services ZE RS 1,163,000
Total st 1,163,000

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable, but not absolute assurance against misstatement or
loss. Given the relatively simple corporate and operation structure,
the Group currently does not have an internal audit department.
The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group's strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
as well as overseeing the formation, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems. In addition, the
Group engages an independent professional advisor with the aim of
setting up and maintaining an effective internal audit function. The
independent professional advisor assists the Board and the Audit
Committee in conducting an annual review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control system in various material aspects,
including strategic, financial, operational and compliance controls at
entity and operational levels.
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The Group reviews the internal audit charter to define the scope,
duties and responsibilities and reporting protocol of the internal
audit function. The Group also conducts an annual risk assessment
to identify potential strategic risks, operational risks, financial
risks and compliance risks of its major business. The identified
risks are analysed, rated and prioritised based on the likelihood of
occurrence and their impacts on achieving corporate objectives.
Respective internal control measures are proposed to mitigate the
consequences of the potential risks to the Group. In last financial
year, a continuous three-year audit plan is devised upon the
results of the risk assessment and under a risk based approach.
According to the three-year internal audit plan devised in last
financial year, an annual internal control review project is executed
by the independent professional advisor with a view to assisting the
Board and the Audit Committee to evaluate the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems for the year
ended 31 March 2022. The risk assessment report, three-year audit
plan and internal control report are submitted and reviewed by the
Audit Committee at least once a year. Summary of findings and
recommendations are discussed at the Audit Committee meeting
with a view to improving the Group’s operations.

The Company has also formulated policies on handling and
dissemination of inside information that set out procedures in
handling inside information in a secure and proper manner and to
avoid mishandling of inside information of the Group.

The Board has received a confirmation from management on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board, through its Audit
Ccommittee, with result of the annual internal control review project
executed by the independent professional advisor, is satisfied that
the Group's risk management and internal control systems (i) are
effective and adequate to meet the needs of the Group in its current
business environment; and (ii) comply with the code provisions on
internal control as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group and ensure that
the consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the generally
accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong have been adopted,
appropriate accounting policies have been used and applied
consistently, and reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates
have been made. Having made appropriate enquiries, the Board
is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions which may cast significant doubt over the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Board has continued
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

The statement of external auditor of the Company, Kenswick CPA
Limited, about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent
Auditor’'s Report.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with
all shareholders. The Company encourages two-way communications
with both its institutional and private investors. A shareholder’s
communication policy was adopted by the Board on 25 September
2014 aiming at providing the shareholders and potential investors
with ready and timely access to balanced and understandable
information of the Company. Extensive information about the
Company’s activities is provided in its interim report, quarterly
reports and this annual report, which are sent to shareholders
of the Company. The AGM provides a valuable forum for direct
communication between the Board and the Company's shareholders.
The Board as well as Chairmen of the Board committees together
with the auditor will present to answer shareholders’ questions.
The circular of the AGM is distributed to all shareholders at least 21
clear days before the meeting. Separate resolutions are proposed
at general meetings on each separate issue and voting of which
are taken by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. Any results of
the poll are published on both the GEM website and the Company’s
website. All corporate communication with shareholders will be
posted on the Company’s website for shareholders’ information.
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The 2021 AGM was held on 30 July 2021 and two extraordinary
general meetings were held on 24 September 2021 and 29 November
2021 respectively. Save as the attendance of the Board disclosed
under the paragraph headed “Number of Meetings and Attendance
Records” above, the auditor also attended the 2021 AGM to answer
guestions of the shareholders. The Company keeps on promoting
investor relations and enhancing communication with the existing
shareholders and potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from
investors, stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the Board or the
Ccompany may be sent by post to the Company’s head office or by
email to contact@legendary.com.hk.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Subject to the approval of the shareholders and requirement of
the relevant law, the Company shall pay annual dividends to the
shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations environment is
stable and there is no significant investment or commitment made
by the Group. The Company does not have any pre-determined
dividend payout ratio and the Board has the sole direction as to the
declaration and payment of dividends. The dividend policy allows the
Company to declare special dividends from time to time in addition
to the annual dividends.

The Company'’s ability to pay dividends will depend upon, among
other things, the Group’s current and future operations, financial
position, development pipeline, prevailing economic environment,
contractual restrictions, capital and other reserve requirements,
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates,
as well as any other conditions or factors which the Board deems
relevant and having regard to the Directors’ fiduciary duties.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary (“Company Secretary”) of the Company, Ms.
Fung Yuk Yiu (“Ms. Fung"”), was appointed on 9 September 2021.
Ms. Fung is a member of Hong Kong Institute of certified Public
Accountants. The role of the Company Secretary is responsible for
facilitating the Board meeting process, as well as communications
among Board members, with shareholders and Management. During
the year ended 31 March 2022, Ms. Fung undertook not less than
15 hours of professional training to update his skills and knowledge.

MANAGEMENT OF INSIDE INFORMATION

In order to promote transparency, accountability and responsibility
in respect of the operation of a listed company, and for the
maintenance of good corporate governance, the Company, assisted
by legal advisers and financial advisers, would notify the Stock
Exchange and make relevant disclosure to the public as soon as
practicable of any inside information of the Company pursuant to
the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, extraordinary
general meetings shall be convened on the written requisition of
any two or more shareholders’ holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such
requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 3
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at a
General Meeting

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the head office of the Company at 5/F,
World Interests Building, 8 Tsun Yip Lane, Kwun Tong, Hong Kong,
specifying the shareholding information of the shareholder, his/her
contact details and the proposal he/she intends to put forward at
general meeting regarding any specified transaction/ business and
its supporting documents.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’
Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and concerns to
the Board in writing through the Company Secretary at the head office
of the Company at 5/F, World Interests Building, 8 Tsun Yip Lane,
Kwun Tong, Hong Kong or send email to contact@legendary.com.hk.
Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

Constitutional Documents
There are no significant changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF LEGENDARY GROUP LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS L & A INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Legendary
Group Limited (formerly known as L & A International Holdings
Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 60 to 249, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

REEFETEH
RREFFERRERMANERHE - RAYE
MG AR BREANEARAEENTH - %FF
HAEHRMEERAMEHRRERETENLVKE
ROBRTETRE  RATEZEEREHRE
BER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HEETEE

Impairment assessment of loan receivables

We identified the estimated provision of ECL for loan
receivables as a key audit matter due to the significant
balance of loan receivables in the consolidated statement
of financial position as a whole and the significant degree
of management judgement involved in recognising
impairment loss on loan receivables.

B ERERNTEREEERMATBEI AERENS
B RAREBREFNGEMBRARPHERBENRS
X THEEEERREWEFREEERTZIELERH
B o
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& W &SRB BB R

Our procedures in relation to evaluating the sufficiency
of the estimated impairment of loan receivables
included:
A BN ERERENT S Em S -
FrEE -

B EZRE

e Assessing the effectiveness of key controls over
the application of the impairment methodology,
the governance for the ECL models, inputs and
assumptions used by the Group in calculating the
ECL and the mathematical accuracy of the ECL
calculations;

o MEFEZEGIEREFENER  BEEEEEE
BAWES  EEEHEEHREEEEMANE A
BREZEFEHEEEEAENEEERENF N
{E

e Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL
models, including the model inputs, model design,
model performance and calculations;

e HEEEEEHEEFERLNSEN  BERA
AR - HARE  RARBRGE



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HAREEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHARE

BRESEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRANESTNTEERARETEE

Impairment assessment of loan receivables
(Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s
loan receivables, net of allowance of ECL amounted to
approximately HK$42,123,000.
RZZEZZF=RA=+—H BESEREKEFRNEAE
(MKRIFEHEEEERE) £9/542,123,00087T ©

As disclosed in notes 4 and 23 to the consolidated
financial statements, the measurement of expected
credit loss ("ECL") for loan receivables requires the
application of significant judgement which include the
identification of exposures with a significant deterioration
in credit quality, and assumptions used in the ECL
models, such as the probabilities of default, loss given
default, expected future cash flows and forward-looking
macroeconomic factors.

BANAR A BTSRRI A M3 R - BN E K TEHRE
gEE ((EREEEE] 2 ZkEREXRAE - &
BREHMNEEEEBEERCHRAR - URTEHEEFEEE
AR RRER - PIINE LB « BAYIBLEK « TEARR K
ReERELAEERZELBERE -

P &SRB BB RS (48)

e Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s
criteria for assessing if there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the loan receivables;

e HEEEEFEEWEFNEERRESDEEY
MEREN SR

e Challenging whether historical experience is
representative of current circumstances and of
the recent losses incurred in the portfolios and
assessing the reasonableness of the forward-
looking adjustments;

e HEREELKBREARKRBABANURKREHLEGHE
ERGETEAETE - WA AR ARG IE MY

e Reviewing the Group’s assumptions on the
expected future cash flows, including the value
of realisable collateral based on available market
information; and

s FEEEEYWHEHRKREREMMRE -
MR EERN A SRERAnERE &

BEER

e Assessing the financial statements disclosures
relating to the Group's exposure to credit risk.
o  FHEEREEERBRH OB M EwKIKE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HARELEE

BRETSEE (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRAMESTNAEERERETEE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
as a key audit matter due to its significance to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the
involvement of a significant degree of judgements and
estimates made by the management of the Group when
performing impairment testing.

B ERRET G RERETEE - REREHE
BIRAUBHRENEZN W R ESEBEEENETH
BRI ED B A HET R fhET

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s
goodwill amounted to approximately HK$171,070,000.
RZEZZF=-A=1T—0 E5EFENKREENA
171,070,000 7T °
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Our procedures in relation to evaluating the impairment
assessment of goodwill included:
MAAEBAREN AT E - RMNEREFEHE

e Reviewing and assessing the management’s
judgements used in the identification of cash-
generating units for annual impairment
assessment;

e BWERINMAEBEERFERENERNREGELSE
L Fr ek A B FIE

e Reviewing the assumptions adopted in the
impairment testing performed by the management
of the Group and the independent valuers;

e HEESEEERERBIGEMETRENGF
FKAMRE

e  Reviewing the underlying data and assumptions
used in the discounted cash flows model, including
changes in the growth rate of revenue, gross
margin and discount rate employed,;

s HEURREMSEEEABBEELRE
BRAERRZE)  EFRRAR X

(2



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HAREEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHARE

BRESEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRANESTNTEERARETEE

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)

As disclosed in notes 4 and 18 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’ assessment on
impairment of goodwill is a judgmental process which
requires estimates concerning the forecasted future
cash flows associated with the goodwill, the discount
rates and the growth rate of revenue and costs to be
applied in determining the value in use. The selection of
valuation model, adoption of key assumptions and input
data may be subject to management basis and changes
in these assumptions and input to valuation model may
result in significant financial impact.

BINAR A SRR ARSI T - ESEYHEREA
KRk TR ET B R B B TR AR SRR 2R E -~ B
MR RIWAERER REFESEREBEMMARKANHERIZ -
BEERHERN  FRAERERR R ASIEA e EREEE
EEEHETT MZEBRERGEEREANNE AR E B
BELESERUBZE -

BB ERE (')

e Evaluating the discount rates adopted in the
discounted cash flows model by reviewing its basis
of calculation and comparing the input data to
market sources; and

e FERBEFNEEERLIERE AZRETISKIE - 5T
HANRE S MERTEAMARE &

e  Reviewing the potential impact of reasonably
possible downside changes in these key data and
assumptions.

o BEZTHRIBREBRAEVETHNEYNEL
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2021, were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on
29 June 2021.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Fung Tze Wa.

Kenswick CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Fung Tze Wa

Practicing Certificate Number P01138

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEEsRkHEMEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

Continuing Operations

2022
—E-=
HK$'000

FHET

Revenue Uk % 5 115,088
Cost of sales and services SHE RARTS A AR (30,781)
Other income HAYA 6 1,745
Other gains and losses, net Htblezs MBS 7 (1,942)
Impairment losses under expected  FEAMZEEIE THIRIE

credit losses, net of reversal [E518 - HFREEE 681
Selling and distribution costs SEE R DA AR (5,025)
Administrative expenses TR (45,580)
Finance costs BARS R AN 8 (2,238)
Share of results of associates DMEBE R RIER =
Profit before taxation RRBE AR R
Income tax expenses FriSHif X< 9
Profit for the year from Continuing KEBELESEB 2 FR

Operations 5 ) 10
Discontinued Operation BARIFAEEE5% 12
Loss for the year from Discontinued R E B & IFKEERKE 2 ER

Operation [E518
Profit for the year FRRF
Other comprehensive income FREMEEWA -

for the year, net of income HRRFATEH

tax
Item that will not be reclassified to
profit or 0ss:

TEEH P BRERa A
EH -
HERAHEFARMEE

Gain on disposal of equity
instrument at fair value through WA Z R T Bz ek
other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income FREMEEWA -
for the year, net of income HRATEH
tax
Total comprehensive income FRAZEBALLE

for the year

26,087
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2021

—F—F
HK$'000

THET

(restated)
(% =E71)

96,468
(30,242)
440
616

5,265
(2,924)
(26,286)
(1,733)
5,077

46,681
(5,785)

40,896

471)

40,425

40,425




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Profit/(loss) for the year

TH AL REEFERER

mEEsRkHEMEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_T-_—F=A=+—HIEE

2021
—E -4
HK$'000

FET
(restated)
(#&=&E7)

27,180 40,566
(1,173) (141)

26,007 40,425

attributable to: (E518) -
- Owners of the Company — ARRNBHEFA
- Non-controlling interests — PR
Total comprehensive THATEEER

income/(expenses)
for the year attributable to:

ZEBA(FAX) 88

- Owners of the Company — AREEBA 27,260 40,566
- Non-controlling interests — FEHERRAERS (1,173) (141)
26,087 40,425
HK cent HK cent
AL AL
Earnings per share BREF 14
From continuing and KRERBREARILSEER
discontinued operations

- Basic — B 15.02

~ Diluted — 8 14.92

From Continuing Operations REFELCEER

- Basic — B 15.20

— Diluted — g 15.09
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RE M HBIRR R

At 31 March 2022
RZEZZF=HA=+—H

Notes
i3

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y -~ BB KRR 15
Investment property "EMZE 16
Intangible assets EmVEE 17
Goodwill S 18
Interests in associates PREE AN RIS 19
Equity instrument at fair value BRATESAEMEE

through other comprehensive WA T E

income 20
Rental deposits HEke 22
Current assets REBEE
Inventories & 21
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E M U ERIA 22
Loan receivables FEWE 23
Amounts due from directors JEWEEKIA 24
Amount due from an associate e & A B FRIA 25
Financial assets at fair value BATEFABENERHE

through profit or loss 3 26
Tax recoverable AT el I
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEED 27
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERFIA 28
Contract liabilities EHaE 29
Bank and other borrowings HRITREAMEER 30
Lease liabilities HEaE 31
Tax payable JERH IR
Provision for litigation B 32
Dividend payable FERT AR B
Net current assets REBEEFE
Total assets less current EEHAERRBEE

liabilities
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2022
—=-=

HK$'000

T T

34,649

4,900
171,070

2,776

213,395

3,055
41,575
42,123

6,230

1,993

21,018

115,994

9,798
24,994
5,000
9,494
14,869
1,735

65,890

50,104

263,499

2021
—E - —4F
HK$'000
FETT

13,419
20,000

135,071

80

168,570

25,074
73,095
5,662
6,230

1,594
9
72,944

184,608

45,294
29,808
11,200

2,352
13,626

1,735
10,137

114,152

70,456

239,026




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBRR K

At 31 March 2022
NRZE-_—_F#=A=+—H

Non-current liabilities ERBARE

Other payables H A e A 28 36,585 -
Lease liabilities HEBRE 31 14,783 7,445
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIBAE 33 14 122
Promissory note payables RS A 24 34 - 57,440
51,382 65,007
212,117 174,019

Capital and reserves BERRFEE
Share capital ¥ 35 179 154
Reserves B4 213,159 176,604

Equity attributable to owners  Z&RQF#ES AEGER
of the Company 213,338 176,758
Non-controlling interests IR (1,221) (2,739)

212,117 174,019

The consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 249 were  AiREMBHEREOBEZF24IEN T _F X
approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2022 and were signed A=+ REEZSESHfF REETIE -
on its behalf by:

Yuen Yu Sum Chan Lap Jin Kevin
RER BRI R

Director Director

-4 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mAEmBER

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

B
Fair valug Share option Accumulated Non-ontrolling
Share capital - Share premium reserve  Specil reserve reserves  Other reserve  profits/(losses) Sub-total interests
fA | i HiGE  ERERR Eftfife (E8) N RERER #
HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS§000
Tin Tin Thn A7 Tin Tin Thn A7 Tin Tin
A1 Aprl 2000 R5-FERR-H 5120 618133 194 BB = % (627,5%0) 257 (25%) 9971
Pt for e year Eigfl - - - - - 034 0% ] 045
Totl comprehensiv ncomeffepense) — ERAENE /(B)
fortte year gE - - - - - 05 0% (i) 04
Divdnd recogrised as disrouton frote 19 E2BARARE (F19) - (10130 - - - - (10137 - (10131
Capte rearganisaton ote 9 ThEd (i) (107 1813 - - - 69205 - - -
s O s ot 35 ikt (i) % 859 - - - B35 - B35
Fqutyseted shere cpton arangement. g EERiERH
(note 3¢) (%) - - - bIX) - 3 - 54
At 31 March 2001 an 1 Apr 2021 H-E-E=f=1-8
R-5--ERR-B 194 78152 094 B 543 3 818 176,758 07 1709
Proft o e year Ehgfl 7,0 7,80 (1473) 26007
Oter comprehersive ncome o frevesr— FREGZEAA 80 ] - ]
Tota compehensie ERRENE/ ()
Income/xoense or e Jear % 21,260 27,60 (1173) 26087
MmeMmMMmWWmHMHWW HERLTETAZNRE
throughotercompreiensie o WAHHRATA - 19 (21,924) - -
Diidend recogrised s disruton e 13 A EARE (H15) (26,248) - - (26,249) (26,248)
Disposalofa subsicary ot 0 all) — HERTE] W/f}zfﬂ&i//// - - - 273
Deemed diposelof potl gt~ B/EREMBATNES
subsiry ote 40 ) WWW . :

IS5 of hares (note 35
Evercise of Share options (notes 35 and %)

%/TW/J J/A ﬁl’jj/
ke (ks

At 31 Mareh 2022

e e
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Operating activities
Profit before taxation

- Continuing Operations

— Discontinued Operations

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
I _\élﬁﬁﬁii

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BE-_T-_—F=A=+—HIEE

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment

Depreciation of investment
property

Finance costs

Interest income

Loss/(gain) on disposal of a
subsidiary

Gain on disposal of property, plant
and equipment

Gain on disposal of investment
property

Dividend received on financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Fair value loss on financial assets
at fair value through profit or
loss

Loss on disposal of financial assets
at fair value through profit or
loss

Impairment losses under expected
credit losses, net of reversal

Share of results of associates

Inventory written off

Trade receivables written off

Deposit and other receivables
written off

Written back of long outstanding
trade and other payables

Loss on written off of property,
plant and equipment

Equity-settled share option
arrangement

Written off on loan receivables

Recovery of loan receivable
written off in previous years

Recovery of trade and other
receivable written off in previous
year

2022 2021
—E—_ =—%E
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kzt FiE T T T
BETE)
BR R AT A
i 46,681
— BRIHEEER @a71)
46,210
MU EE#EITRAR
Y - BERRETE
15 3,428
WEMEITE
13
B 7SR AN 8 1,733
FEWA 6 )
HEH B A R
Eia(Was) 40 (99)
HEME - BEKEE
pdl & )
HEREME 2 W
(87)
BN ERFABZES
SRE EATIRENE
f% 5 6 -
BATERTABER
SREEZ ANTFE
&8 7 261
HERAFET ABZ
e mEENEE
7 6,183
FEHEEEIE THRE
518 - BRI (5,265)
AN =L Al/NCIE (5,077)
WHEFE 570
MIEE B EK B 16
e M E A e Gk TE
58 7 253
BOREB®ASZNZ
5 R EAMFER RS 7 (610)
MIEWE - BB MKEE
2518 247
N it 4 SRR AR i o BE
5,437
s EUE 7 -
U B 7 i 1 E i eE 2
FEUN E R (2,560)
U Bl A @ F R 2
Z 5 I EoAth FE W R 0E
7 (4,319)
AREREBERAR 65
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REHRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022

HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

2022
:'%:3::
Notes HK$'000
Kt FHET
Operating cash flows before EEESEBAI2RE
movements in working capital BE&%ZE 42,613
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 778 (3&H0), w4 (3,055)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 kAR FE
other receivables (#hn),/ SFd (8,676)
Decrease/(increase) in loan R E R (3 n)
receivables 29,746
Increase in financial assets at fair  ZAFEFFAEBZH SR
value through profit or l0ss BRI (4,207)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and 5 K HAn e FRIE
other payables () 1,646
Increase in contract liabilities AHEEEM (8,482)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due fEUE =ZIE
from directors B (8an) 5,662

Increase in amount due from an JE YA B 25 N R FRIEAE AN
associate

Cash generated from operations &% 231 &

Income tax paid BRERH

Net cash generated from RETEREESTFE
operating activities

Investing activities REEE

Acquisition of subsidiaries Uk B B BB A /) 39

Disposal of subsidiaries HEREB AR 40

Bank interest received B UERTTHIE 6

Dividend received 2R E 6

Proceed from disposal of investment &R &Y ZE RTS8
property
Payment for purchase of property, BB - BKERZE

plant and equipment ANES
Net cash generated from RETEMEESTFE

investing activities

66 Legendary Group Limited
Annual Report 2022

2021
—E - —4F
HK$'000
FETT

46,331
370

21,407

(16,918)
(188)

(8,852)
(8,113)

(5,662)

(6,230)

22,145
(530)

21,615

6,079

2

338

(1,209)

5,210




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

I _\ é IE: ﬁ ﬁ E %
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_T-_—F=A=+—HIEE

2022 2021
—E—_ =—%E
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
KtaE F&T FETT
Financing activities REES
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHESE (5,212) (2,267)
Repayments of bank and other EEBRITRHEMEE
borrowings (11,200) (18,258)
Repayment of loans from a BERE—EBREZEXK
shareholder = (11,612)
Repayment of promissory note BEREMNAREE
payables (57,440) (23,560)
Interest paid BRFLE (1,574) (1,521)
Dividend paid BRI E (36,385) -
New loans from a shareholder raised 3%k 8 — & REHI & = 1,892
New lease entered BRI HEE 2,135 -
New bank and other borrowings R ITREMER
raised = 11,000
Exercise of share options TP REA 2,270 -
Proceeds from issue of shares BT B PTSF0E = 88,315
Net cash (used in)/generated BESEE (), s
from financing activities REFHE (107,406) 43,989
Net (decrease)/increase in cash BHERREZEY
and cash equivalents CR2) /& (51,926) 70,814
Cash and cash equivalents at FHRERRELZEY
beginning of the year 72,944 2,130
Cash and cash equivalents at FRRERRELZEY
end of the year 27 21,018 72,944
Analysis of balances of cash ReRBESZEYES
and cash equivalents i
Cash and cash equivalents as stated 4:&IRERERTP IR
in the consolidated statement of HiIRe KIAeEFEY
cash flows, represented by cash B3R & MRTTAE#R
and bank balances 27 21,018 72,944

AIREEEEERAE 67
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

68

GENERAL

Legendary Group Limited (formerly known as “L & A International
Holdings Limited”, the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
on 5 June 2014 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands and
its shares were listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 10 October 2014.

The addresses of the registered office and the principal place
of business of the Company are P.0O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and Unit No. D, 5th
Floor, Wing Hong Centre, No. 18 Wing Hong Street, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, respectively.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 45 to the financial statements.

Pursuant to the special resolution of the shareholders of the
Company on 20 July 2021, the name of the Company has
been changed from “L & A International Holdings Limited”
to “Legendary Group Limited” and the dual foreign name in
Chinese of the Company had been changed from "% 25 B g%
IRER AR to "BIREAEEGRAA".

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in
the Group are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). These consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$") which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency, and all
value are rounded to the nearest thousand HK$ except where
otherwise indicated

Legendary Group Limited
Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on
or after 1 April 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-related rent
concessions
Amendments to HKFRS Interest Rate Benchmark
9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Reform - Phase 2
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The directors of the Company consider that the application of
the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.

2,

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

FEREEMBREER ([FEMK
WEERA ) ZBFTAE

REAFERFERNEBRBRSE
BRI ZAERT A

RAEE - AEEEERERBEEGE
Ag ((BRAEFMAE])) BHAER-F
A AR Z &R 2 5 B SR G
ERZ AT BB RELZERTA - A
RS AMTEERE

BRMBREENE 1R COVID-19#948R8

EHES HER%
BRNBREEFIS - MEE e
BEGRERIFEN - - FRB

BRMBREENFTS &
BUBREENBRREE
MBREEF1R BRI

ARAREERR  NERERBEVHRE
R BT AR RNEBAFEBEFEZ
FHEMRRRR R, RZEFA P BHRE
NPAEINE AR EEARE -

BIXREREERRATR 69
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_F=A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2,

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related

Amendments?

FEREBMHHRELER (FEBUK
WEREA ) ZBFTA& ()

CHEMERERER 2T ERBYH
SRV ATHES

ARSI A TR R4 2

HATATE AT S AR BT

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Reference to Conceptual
Framework!

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
the related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

Amendments to HKAS 1

(2020)?
Amendments to HKAS Disclosure of Accounting
1 and HKFRS Practice Policies?

Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction?

Property, plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended
Use’

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract’

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018 — 2020 cycle!

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendment to HKFRSS

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all these new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

7 O Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments which are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories
or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

REMBRRNEREERTES
SRR

3.1 GEMBRRNEREE

AFa M BRRERBEREGTHA
SR BBUMHREERNRE - 5t
REURAMBREAMBNME - E7
EEENZEFENEYETRERE
HYRE  ZEERERBEREK
AN - NERA M HRKR BRERIERE
AT ZMERAREBESFGEM LETR
A ([GEMET AR A MEE 2 7 &
ISR Z MK -

AR A MM TIRIRE st AN E AR
2 ERZHREMRETERT AR
N HERTERIERIN (BT &Rt
BERFTELEA)

FESE A —fRIZ R E @ MR E
REHEKENHQFERE

RNHETREFTERAMS2EEET
BERFRZEHEEEMPISEZRR
BEmMXAER - M wEREER
HEBEINAEMEETDE{EES
o REFFEES A BN A FER -
WHs2EERFEANAREESLA
EEEREEEEXAENFE A
AEBTEEEZERHE - ZFEHE
BB mEkTARGTER,SREL
NHETRGERETE - EBMB
WG ER B2 AR B EREA T
HEEIN AR SERONRZ S
REBFBVHREERNE16HHEA
EOHERS  UARBEATEAGH
Mz BEWIERFE (INEEFTE
AR R A R FEXEL
BRI R SE365% & Z 6l A Pt R B
18) WRRERTZ RIRRSN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEUBBRNBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies 3.2 FESTHEX

72

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

] has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed
above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group's accounting policies.

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-ZT_—_F=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation

Changes in the Group's interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group's relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group's and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

REEE (#)
FIEREEKENR AR ZEMN
BEREE  f#m - WA FAXER
ERENA RS -

A R R RO F R S AR E R

BERRERESMEY - BT ES

AR BB IR L 1 3 AR R F
NEIBEFENRGAEER °

AEBRRENBELARNERS
B
ARERHBARMESEHNTE
BAEERENZSE QR EEES
- RIARRIIFRERR 5 - RNEER
fan B3P X M 25 AR R AR P AF 0 1O R
HZRSEHE  URRZFEAR
MiEARMRE S EE  BRRA
KB NOEER R 2 IR AR E R IF

2R RS L () B R ER B AR R
e

IR ESNFAESBEEENRER
ﬁE@?TEW%ZFEJE’JEﬂ%%E 5
BEERERERLRERARRESR
A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BE

74

T —HE=A=+—HItEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or 10ss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations (Continued)
Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in October
2010.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits, respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Inventories at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16 Leases) as if the acquired
leases were new leases at the acquisition date.
Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market
terms.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEUBBRNBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interest that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event
of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value
or at the noncontrolling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period”
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

Legendary Group Limited
Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured
to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised,
to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that,
if known, would have affected the amounts recognised
at that date.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEUBBRNBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger that an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Legendary Group Limited
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 EEGFHEE #®)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting, except when
the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held
for sale, in which case it is or the portion so classified is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Any
retained portion of an investment in an associate that
has not been classified as held for sale continues to be
accounted for using the equity method. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Appropriate adjustments have
been made to conform the associate’s a accounting
policies to those of the Group. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group's net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

REERENRE
BEARRAEEHHEERRE
BHZERE- K?&ﬁ“ﬁ?é%ﬁi&ﬁ
BV QS RRESN - BXIF
sk K RHEBIZ TR RAOES -

ENRICEBEREERE EIZER
BIDER ARSREVIBRE  KE
BRELER D D EAFRELHER - A
RIE BB YRS R ESS 7 E L
EHTEEERCKRIEEEFAN
IR o WIENFARFELENNEE R
Al B RER B S H B (5 A b
FAEANE - BE QAR AR ES SRR
BB RRREAEENEUER
BREEXDREHMEREE—B2E
STBORRE - BYELEE FEELAER
BN AR ETBUR AR A S ET IR
BB REERE  R—EBERQ
Bl Z R E PR AN R A B TS HRR
TRAETR + R EL 18 9t A 55 [ A e B
ERElz Bm kEMEERAELR
EoHENARFEAE (BakAME
HWABRSIN) 2 EBRIFETREE
A RERERER  TRITTA
BF - BEAKEEL—RHBEARZE
BREEAEERZBE AR 2R
(BEEE FERASEERZEE A
AREFE— Mo 2 EMREER)
B AEEGRIEEREEL 2 E—
HEE - ERAEEEERTRER
EESIREZBERRANRE - Hg
REEIMEAE ©

AXEAREERAR 79
2022 £k



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BE

80

T —HE=A=+—HItEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEUBBRNBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

Legendary Group Limited
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the
Group retains an interest in the former associate and
the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope
of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate and the fair value
of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of the relevant interest in the associate is included in
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that associate on the same basis as would
be required if that associate had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate would be reclassified to profit or 10ss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate.

The Group continues to use the equity method when
an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture
becomes an investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEUBBRNBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation
is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

Legendary Group Limited
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEUBBRNEREERITIES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTEGR (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)
Revenue from contracts with customers BEFEEHWE ()
(Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a
net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price).

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to
each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the services underlying
each performance obligation is determined at contract
inception. It represents the price at which the Group
would sell a promised services separately to a customer.
If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable,
the Group estimates it using appropriate technigues
such that the transaction price ultimately allocated
to any performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring the promised services to
the customer.

BREERARBEREDAEED R
ErEENERRRE MBI ER
TR (AP EGI) - BIRIBEES
B TS ¥R 5 HE R S OR AT R E AT AH o
MR ERFIEEAREBEWERKED
EARITER - BB BN RAER
RrfIHER o

BHBEEEARERE 8 &/ IR
B (EERERER)  MAEEER
RGBT EFZEE -

HARSHNBEBNANEERANEA
BRFREEARNZS -

AZHBHRNERZEH (BED
EX 5 EE)

REEEZR-RENEEZEHM
B AEERBREB L EEELER
RHBROEEZRNEE -

ERSBROEEZRB 2 BLEER
BRFBBETE - 2BREAKER
B NEP LEREREZB% o i
BUEETAEEES  ARERE
B E BATETAE  AERE DR
EEMNENREEZRZERA KRR
SEREFERAHERGANARE
BzRETHE-

BIXREREERRATR 83
2022 F3f



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

84

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price). (Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to
provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to
a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified good or
service by another party. In this case, the Group does not
control the specified good or service provided by another
party before that good or service is transferred to the
customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises
revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which
it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for
the specified goods or services to be provided by the
other party.

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price). (Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)
Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

()

(i)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products. If the
products are a partial fulfilment of a contract
covering other goods, then the amount of revenue
recognised is an appropriate proportion of the total
transaction price under the contract, allocated
between all the goods promised under the contract
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

Provision of training courses

For the training courses, the Group provides training
courses through on-site and online platforms for a
fixed fee. The training courses are paid in advance
and in full during the registration process, which
must occur prior to the attending the first training
course.

The Group recognises revenue at a point in time
when the services have been delivered to the
customer. A contract liability is recognised for
fees in respect of which revenue has yet been
recognised.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price). (Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

(ii)

Provision of training courses (Continued)
Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price).

For contracts that contain more than one
performance obligations, the Group allocates the
transaction price to each performance obligation
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the services
underlying each performance obligation is
determined at contract inception. It represents the
price at which the Group would sell a promised
services separately to a customer. If a stand-alone
selling price is not directly observable, the Group
estimates it using appropriate techniques such
that the transaction price ultimately allocated to
any performance obligation reflects the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring the promised
services to the customer.

Revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation. The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation in training
courses are measured based on output method,
which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price). (Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Rental income from leasing of properties

Rental income receivable from leasing of properties
is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use
of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are earned.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under
the effective interest method using the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e.
gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of
the asset.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established. Dividend income from
listed investments is recognised when the share
price of the investment goes ex-dividend.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

88

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price). (Continued)
Principal versus agent (Continued)
(vi)  Income from financial guarantees issued
Income from financial guarantees issued is
recognised over the term of the guarantees.

(vii)  Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
consolidated statements of financial position
initially when there is reasonable assurance that
they will be received and that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as income in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 Leases at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
prices.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of property, plant and equipment
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short- term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEUBBRNBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant
and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if
they were owned.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of- use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,

o variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
iS reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option
to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

92

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date
at amounts equal to net investments in the leases,
measured using the interest rate implicit in the respective
leases. Interest income is allocated to accounting periods
S0 as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the
Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the
leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or l0ss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the
Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers (“"HKFRS 15”) to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-
alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
entities are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation), all
of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of
the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

On disposal of a group entity that is not a foreign
operation, the exchange differences accumulated in
equity relating to translation of assets and liabilities of
that group entity into presentation currency of the Group
are transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the year in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
PRC state-managed retirement benefits schemes are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Share options granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair
value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest,
with a corresponding increase in equity.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date
of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share options
reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group'’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEUBBRNBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods, or
for administrative purposes (other than construction
in progress as described below) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Construction in progress including property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to
the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment (other than
construction in progress) less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

The items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following
rates per annum:

Furniture and 20% per annum
equipment
Office equipment 20% - 33% per annum
Leasehold Over the remaining term of the
improvements lease or 5 years, whichever is
shorter
Motor vehicles 20% - 33% per annum

Leasehold properties Over the unexpired term of the
leased for own use leases

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty
that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease
term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEUBBRNBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives of
50 years and after taking into account of their estimated
residual value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses,
being their fair value at the date of the revaluation
less subsequent accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of five years. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less
any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEUBBRNBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and
intangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets and intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and
intangible assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEUBBRNBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
(where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the
Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

SRIA &)
ERMEENERABNIEAFER
B ERBEEBV I MEERE155
MTAENEFANELENEZEK
ARSI  WERBETEREERS
BAE (EATEF AR ([RAF
Bt ABRE]) 2eREEXSREE
RSN BEBIEZRBUATIR
BRABNAZHEELSRABZA
FEXECHEEXTRMBEZIAF
ERME (Em) - WA FER
ARG EREENERBEERE
EE R BRI PME R TERR

ERNEZEZDAESREERNERE
BZBERARIZ A BERED TR
WARFBRSZT% °

BERFNENReREENERBBEN
FETFHSERNEEE - EHREIR
EEFRRB WA RN R (BIEEX
BEBRFENAI BRSO NG E N K
BERER R - XHRANEA S
B VT ERRNREFE
R

REREEHEEBBIZNFE B
BURA 2P B -

AXEAREERAR
2022 £k 105



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEUBBRNBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

106

Financial instruments (Continued) SRITHE (&)
Financial assets THEE
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial TREEMSHERAEE

assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;

e O ere0 B 2 ALk P 0
P -

o NUBANRTRERENZ
EBRATHEZEREE

and 54

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates o AHERNIETABELEZE
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal EREARASINAE RAKE
and interest on the principal amount outstanding. BAREZHE

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and

HAERTRENEREERRIZDF
BEFFAREMEERA (HRAFEFA
H2EBAL FHE

o NHERKBANRERER
BRZEBEATHAEZER

collecting contractual cash flows; and BE &

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates e AHKHRETAMELZE
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal EREARASINAE RAKRE
and interest on the principal amount outstanding. BAREZHE -

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), except that
at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEUBBRNEREERITIES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRIA &)
Financial assets (Continued) 2HEE (&)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial TREEMSEREEE (B)
assets (Continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if: ETIERT  SRMEERFBIEE
=
. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of e BAZFEEMANEHAL
selling in the near term; or =
e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of o RYUITHERE HRAKEHK
identified financial instruments that the Group EERzE#HNemTAAS
manages together and has a recent actual pattern Z—89n  WEBRIERE
of short-term profit-taking; or HERER 3k
. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective e BRIWEEMN - AMEHI
as a hedging instrument. HEMPT4ATA -
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a AN - AREE AN AIEE M E — IR
financial asset that are required to be measured at the BIREHAA SR A FEFAELME
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing AR EMNEREERATEEA
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting Bt - AR ABBIETRERK
mismatch. KIEm et o
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

0]

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured
at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired. For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the other reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to accumulated profits/losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i)~ Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes/excludes any dividend or interest earned
on the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, deposits and bank
balances, which are subject to impairment under HKFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables and measures the lifetime ECL on each
debtor individually based on the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group under the contract and the cashflows
that the Group expects to receive, with the consideration
of forward-looking information.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEUBBRNBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

o information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals held
by the Group).

Also, the Group considers that default has occurred when
the instrument is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets have been
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

o Significant financial difficulty of the issuer of the
borrower; or

o A breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event; or

o The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower'’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

o It is becoming probably that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been
placed under liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
when appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised
in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.
The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount with the exception of trade receivables
where the correspondence adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognised a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets
expire or, when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments that are issued are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangement
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
iSsue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group's financial liabilities including trade and
other payables and bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Related parties

(i A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(1) has control or joint control over the Group;

(2)  has significant influence over the Group;

(3) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

SRIA &)

ETHEERER (&)

HBEERER
MBERAOTIMEELARTEA
SRR SR - AMERBEABRNE
ERBEARERBES TRGKNE
HRMRMRZOEX - PBERE
HEBVSRENTERNE - HiZE
ATB=EE -

o  REFBVBMEERNFEINE
EREREEEE &

o  UIXHERETR (WEMA) RE
REAATER ) RETHESH o

)y

() EASZMEAZT IR EEAK
BERTHERERAEAEES
B

(1) RS REIALE
2 HAEERERTE

@ ARAKEZAEEZHR
ATEEEBABZX

= o

AXEAREERAR 117
2022 £k
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HGREHMBHBREINEREERTIES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)
Related parties (Continued) BES (&)
(i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the (il BARATEABAERESER

following conditions applies: B 5 [ A

(1) The entity and the group are members of the (1) ZERBEREEER—
same group (which means that each parent, B8 (AIZERAA
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to by NS DS ER =N
the others). EEFA )

(2) One entity is an associate or joint venture 2 E-EBRS>EBHNH
of the other entity (or an associate or joint ERAHEERE (HA
venture of a member of a group of which the S—ERBBREATNE
other entity is a member). El)i =N A= WS D) kN

Al A ERE) -

(3)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same Q) MEERBHARFR—2=H
third party. ZEEREE .

(4)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity @4 HE-EBRE=SEEN
and the other entity is an associate of the aRtE mME—EER
third entity. ZE—TBEBZEER

E—J °

(5)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan (5) HERAASENEASE
for the benefit of employees of either the EE#EEERMEEN
Group or an entity related to the Group. % 2R N 2 BB 12 AE A BT

£

(6)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by ) ZEBX Lz A
a person identified in (i) above. AR 2 HRIE R o

(7) A person identified in (i)(1) above has 7) Rz AT
significant influence over the entity or is a REREEAZENSE
member of the key management personnel ZER (NZEEBNER
of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). B) FEEEEKE -

(8) The entity, or any member of a Group of @) “ERNZERLSHS—
which it is a part, provides key management B2 SBAEAKE R A
personnel services to the group or to the AREBENAEELT QT
Group's parent. REFEERABRY -
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.2 XEEHEE ®)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Company’s executive directors (the chief operating
decision maker of the Group) for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group's various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group'’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)
The Group engages in retailing and wholesaling of garment
products and wholesaling of seafood. The Group concluded
that the Group acts as the principal for such transactions
as it controls the specified good before it is transferred
to the customer after taking into consideration indicators
such as the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the
promise to provide the goods. The Group has inventory risk.
When the Group satisfies the performance obligation, the
Group recognises trading revenue in the gross amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled as
specified in the contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised
revenue relating to retailing and wholesaling of garment
products and wholesaling of seafood amounted to HK$400,000
and HKS$Nil respectively. The Company did not recognise
any revenue relating to retailing and wholesaling of garment
products and wholesaling of seafood during the year ended
31 March 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumption concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
units (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or
fair value less costs of disposal of each of the cash-generating
units.

The value in use calculations require the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit (or a group of cash-generating units) and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change
in facts and circumstances which results in downward revision
of future cash flows or upward revision of discount rate, a
material impairment loss or further impairment loss may arise.
Furthermore, the estimated cash flows and discount rate are
subject to higher degree of estimation uncertainties.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of goodwill was
approximately HK$171,070,000 (2021: HK$135,071,000).

Based on the impairment assessment of the Company, no
impairment loss was recognised during the years ended 31
March 2021 and 2022.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment allowances of ECL on loan
receivables

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9
across all categories of financial assets requires judgement, in
particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future
cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment
losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors,
changes in which can result in different levels of allowances.

The Group’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex models
with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice
of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the
ECL models that are considered accounting judgements and
estimates include:

° The Group's internal credit grading model, which assigns
probabilities of default to the individual grades;

. The Group's criteria for assessing if there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for
financial assets should be measured on a lifetime ECL
basis and the qualitative assessment;

° The segmentation of financial assets based on risk
characteristics of the customers and by product types
when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis;

o Development of ECL models, including the various
formulas and the choice of inputs over determination of
the period over which the entity is exposed to credit risk
based on the behavioural life of the credit exposures,
loss given default and collateral recovery of the credit
exposures;

o Determination of associations between macroeconomic
scenarios and, economic inputs, and the effect on
probabilities of default, exposures at default and losses
given default; and

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(Continued)

Impairment allowances of ECL on loan

receivables (Continued)

° Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios
and their probability weightings, to derive the economic
inputs into the ECL models.

It has been the Group’s policy to regularly review its models
in the context of actual loss experience and adjust when
necessary.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's loan receivables are
disclosed in note 42(B)(b)(i) and note 23, respectively.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of loan receivables,
net of allowance of ECL was HK$42,123,000 (2021:
HK$73,095,000).

Impairment allowances of ECL for trade
receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the Group uses
provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade receivables
which are individually insignificant. The provision matrix is
based on the Group’s historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables
are disclosed in note 42 (B)(b)(iii) and note 22, respectively.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of trade receivables,
net of allowance of ECL was HK$2,019,000 (2021: HK$1,403,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment and investment properties

Property, plant and equipment and investment properties are
stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment,
if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group
has to exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value
of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in
the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash
flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the assets belong. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used
in the impairment test.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment, and investment properties were HK$34,649,000
and HKS$Nil (2021: HK$13,419,000 and HK$20,000,000),
respectively.

Based on the impairment assessment of the Company, no
impairment loss was recognised during the years ended 31
March 2021 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated useful lives and estimated residual
values of property, plant and equipment and
investment properties

In determining the estimated useful lives and estimated
residual values of items of property, plant and equipment
and investment properties, the Group has to consider various
factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence arising
from changes or improvements in production, or from a change
in the market demand for the product or service output of
the asset, expected usage of the asset, expected physical
wear and tear, the care and maintenance of the asset, and
legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. The estimation
of the useful life of the asset is based on the experience of
the Group with similar assets that are used in a similar way.
Additional depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives
and/or the residual values of items of property, plant and
equipment and investment properties are different from the
previous estimation. Useful lives and residual values are
reviewed at the end of the reporting period based on changes
in circumstances.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEkoIHER

Revenue from contracts with customers represents the BREHW IR B RE M HERRERE
fair value of amounts received and receivable from the RREEE M BB E - REHE - MEAHBERRE
manufacturing and sales of OEM garment products and KA HBh# B SR IE 2 B R B WGRIE DA K
seafood, provision of financial quotient and investment RN EHRFEWMAZ AFE -

education courses and private supplementary education
courses and interest income from loan receivables.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by RAEFELEEL (ERRTX) REEE
major products or service lines from Continuing Operations (as MmERIEZRE D HEFEOREDITFET ¢

defined below) is as follows:

2021

HK$'000

FETT
(restated)
(&=751))

Revenue from contracts with customers & &I RS HER|E 15508

within the scope of HKFRS 15: BENEFA K
— Provision of financial quotient and — REVEREERERE
investment education courses 68,110
— Provision of private supplementary — REAEHEH A RE
education courses -
- Retailing and wholesaling of garment — AEBEB A REESERE
products under the Group's own SRR R EE E T E Rt E
brand and high-end fashion brand 400
- Manufacturing and sales of OEM — BLE NI E RRERERE
garment products Em
111,860
Revenue from other sources: REHARR W
- Interest income from loan receivables — — fEIRE = > Fl B Uk A 2,895
- Rental income from leasing of —HEMEZHSRA
properties 333
115,088
Legendary Group Limited

Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period from Continuing Operations that
were included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:

Revenue recognised that was included in
contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period:

— Provision of financial quotient and
investment education courses
(note 29)

RN -

(H1a£29)

RBEMVFIAGHEREZCHE

— R RRERERE

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

Wk o EBER ()

TRATRBREBEMIF AGOREALNAK
HEHRERR A RS E R 2 BMAS
L

2021
T —F
HK$'000

FTT
(restated)
(&e&E7)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its
major products and services from Continuing Operations:

Revenue from its major products and

services:

— Tuition fee from financial quotient and — KB RIEEHE REYN
investment education courses =8

- Tuition fee from private supplementary — — R & fL 7 #BhZA 5 SRIZH
education courses =25

- Garment products — REEM

- Interest income from loan receivables — BREFHF 2 A

- Rental income —HEWA

AT EERNRBEUE -

TREIKEFELEEF 2T RER MR
TSR RSB W am DA -

2021

~ HK$'000
TETT
(restated)
(#&=&E7)

97,567

13,983
310
2,895
333

115,088

All sales contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS
15 are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under
HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these contracts
for the remaining unsatisfied performance obligations is not
disclosed.
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TR E LR E1SRATER - SR T RIETT
ZBRHNBEEMDREZSEHZRHERK
FIABEE -

AXEAREERAR
2022 £k 127



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

128

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, total amounts of interest
income on financial assets measured at amortised cost from
Continuing Operations are as follows:

Interest income from:
- Loan receivables
— Others

FMBWAKE :
— EWER
— Hfh

Wss & o EBE R ()

BHE-_T-—F=A=+—HItEE kA
B E E B RE N AT ENeREED
FBUABEENT ¢

(restated)
(&&=751))

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines (products and services). The
operating segments of the Group are identified in a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Company’s executive directors (the chief
operating decision maker) for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

As explained in note 12, during the year ended 31 March
2022, the Company disposed of its entire equity interest in
Hung Lee Asia Trading Limited (“"Hung Lee"), which was mainly
engaged in the wholesaling of seafood. Subsequent to the
disposal of Hung Lee, the Group has ceased and terminated
its “Wholesaling Business: wholesaling of seafood” business,
which was a separate operating and reportable segment of
the Group and thus this business segment was classified as
discontinued operation (the “Discontinued Operation”) and
their net results for the year and the comparatives financial
information are excluded from the Continuing Operations and
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as a separate one-line item
below “profit for the year from Continuing Operations”. Further
details of financial information of the Discontinued Operation
are set out in note 12.

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

As explained in note 40(a)(ii), the Group commenced into a new
business line relating to the Private Supplementary Education
Business regarding the provision of private supplementary
education courses which has been identified as a new
operating and reportable segment of the Group in the current
year.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has presented
the following six reportable and operating segments (the
“Continuing Operations”) under HKFRS 8:

() OEM Business: Manufacturing and sales of OEM garment
products;

(i) Retail Business: Retailing and wholesaling of garment
products under the Group’s own brand and high-end
fashion brand,

(i)~ Money Lending Business: Provision of loan services to
generate interest income,

(iv)  Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business:
Provision of financial quotient and investment education
courses;

(v)  Property Investment Business: Investing in properties in
Asia Pacific region to generate rental income and to gain
from the appreciation in the properties’ values in the long
term; and

(vi)  Private supplementary education business: Provision of
private supplementary education courses.

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the
reportable segments.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Company’s
executive directors monitor the results attributable to each
reportable segment on the following basis:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments.

5.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment results represents pre-tax profit earned/loss incurred
from each segment without allocation of other income, other
gains and losses, certain corporate administrative expenses,
share of profit/loss of associates, certain impairment and
central finance costs. This is the measure reported to the
chief operating decision maker of the Group for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

Segments assets include all tangible and intangible assets and
current assets with the exception of goodwill, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and other corporate assets.
Segment liabilities include provisions, lease liabilities and trade
and other payables attributable to the activities of the individual
segments and borrowings managed directly by the segments.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
segment profit/(loss), the Company’s executive directors
are provided with segment information concerning revenue,
interest income and expenses from cash balances and
borrowings managed directly by the segments, depreciation
and amortisation, impairment losses, and additions to non-
current segment assets (other than financial instruments and
deferred tax assets) used by the segments in their operations.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies.

Legendary Group Limited
Annual Report 2022

5.

Wss & o EBE R ()

DERIBIESE 9 BOFTE £ 2 B RER T AR

M EE BUWARSEEMBA - HAbk
mREE  BETRETBAY - SEHER
Ala A EE - BT RE N KR R
oo b AAKEFBEEAKEZRAS
Bl &R AT RIBRIRTE 0%

DEHEEREMEANNENEENRREE
E - TERRE RAVEFAEGZZD
BMEENEMEREE - DEHABEEMER
DEBRAENMERER L EERBEIGE
# HERBEANE S NEMENFIE -

BRI BB BEN,(BE) 2o 8BER
Sh ARBMITERERFEERRE - A
BRARBED A EEER 2 RS HER N E
RZFX -~ EREE  BEBR - RE
DENRELERRERZIERSD D EE
(BFEMTARELERBEEIN) 20 EE
o

LENBIETBRENEEZE

o

SHHURAR

I

ol



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
within the scope of HKFRS 15 by the timing of revenue
recognition, as well as information regarding the Group's
reportable segments as provided to the Group's executive
directors for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31

March 2021 and 2022 is set out below:

Year ended 31 March 2022 Pt 3
ZAZ1-ALEE
From Continuing Operations; PER N
Reportable segment revenue: TERAPNE:
Disaggregated by fiming of evenue AU EEHNE
fecognition
~Point in fime -RE-RE
Revenue from other sources ERRRE
Revenu from external customers REPURPIIE
Reportable segment profit/floss)  T2HAHER / (58)
Other income EflA
Othr gains and losses, net EbhaREReE
Impairment losses under expected credit  BBEEEATHAESE
losses, net of reversal il
Consolidated profitbefore tavation ~ SRABREER
As at 31 March 2022 HoE=ZEZf=1-4
Assets &g

Reportable segment assets (inclucing
Interests in associate)

Goodwil

Intanglle assets

Financial assets at air value through
profitor loss

Consolidated total assets

RRREER

Money
Retail Lending
Business Business

2ERE  BERR
HKS'000 HK$'000
Tin T

46,823

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHE_Z-__F=RA=+—HILFE

5. KEKRDBER (@)

HEe— - —FR-_FT--"F=ZA=+—H

IFFE - R mREEE D
BRELERFESFRBENEFE
i AEBER

SHHFA BB
ey
R BHE D BER AL

B TERRHEBEAEET2HOHNE
F#5IanT

Financial
Quotient and
Investment
Education
Business
HERRE
RS
HK$'000
T

97,567

39,384

40,519

Private

Property  Supplementary
Investment Education
Business Business
S FVE:]

REXH YRR IR 3t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TR TR TEn Thn

Unallocated Total

13,983 111,860
33 = 328

33 13,983 115,088

(930) (4,200) | 31,464

1,745
(1,942)

681

188 42,182 15,784 151426

171,070
4900

1993

329,389

AIREEEEERAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. RBERDEER (&)
(Continued)

Financial
Quotient and Private
Money Investment  Property  Supplementary
OEM Retail Lending  Education  Investment Education

Business Business Business Business Business Business  Unallocated Total
i HERRE VS NI

R ZERE HEEE HEEE REZE YLK #7E 3t

HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn T Thn

Liabilities

]
Reportable segment liabites BEEEEH 356 44,549 091 14,731 80,687

Other payable for acquistion of WERBATLNERE
subsidiary 36,585

Consoldated tofal iabiles GREREE 117,212

Asat and year ended 31 March ~ H=F--£=F=7-4
2022 RAZZEILEE

Other segment information EfyadEs

Additons to non-current segment ERpESTEA

during the year

Depreciation for the year EpfE

Amortisation for the year Epas

Finance costs Bl

Loan recelvables writien of HERNES

Deposits and ofhier receivables witien 4 RE MBI B
of

Interest income from banks BiHSsA

Impaiment losses Under expected credlt EEEEEETMHEER
losses, net of reversal i3

Recovery of rade and otfer receivables  GEE5RERENEE
Writien back long outstanding trade and - #EREAEEZER
other payables AHERTE

* less than HK$1,000 * 1,000 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE—_Z_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. RERIBER &)
(Continued)

Financia
Quotient and
Money Investment Property

OEM Retal Lending Education Investment
Business Business Business Business Business Unallocated
I
HKS000
BT
Year ended 31 March 2021 gEsE--£
ZRET-ALEE
From Continuing Operations; PEL RS
Reportahle segment revenug; TERAPNE !
Disaggregated by timing of revenue recognifion  REZUERRE
-Point intime -RE-BEY B8 400 - 68,110 - - 9234
Revenue from offier Sources ELEYT 0N - - 412 - - - 412
Revenug from external customers REMIRRIITA B8 100 1% 68,110 - - 96,168
Reportable segment profit/(loss) TERABER / (B8) 80 A 290 574 - (20,209 3283
Share of resLs of associates 5017
Other income 4
Otfer gains and losses, net 616
Impairment l0sses under expected credt osses,
flet of reversal 5,266
Consolidated profit before taxation fakaat 1h 881
As at 31 March 2021 \-E--£Zf=1-f
Assets B
Reportable segment assets (ncluding interestin- T2 HHIEE (afEBe
3s500iate) N ) 210 % 119,084 59,550 15,584 2109 216,513
Goodwil 5E 135071
Financial assets at fair value through profitor ~— BATER ABRHAREE
loss 15%
Consolidated! tofal assets GREELE 3178

AXEAREERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BE_Z_-_—_F#=ZA=1+—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEkoEER &)
(Continued)
Financia
Quotient and
Mongy ~ Investment Property
OEM Retall Lending Education Investment
BUSIness Busingss Busingss BUSIness Business  Unallocated Tota
e
Aol aif
| HKS'000
S
Liabilities af
Reportable segment liabiles TERABEE 1 1 586 0% 129 26205 88469
Promissory notes payables [ 51440
Other payable for acquisttion of asubsidiary — BHBARERERZE B0
Consolidated total lblites ] 179,159
As at and year ended 31 March 2021 HoE=-£2f=1-AF
iz zﬁﬁﬁﬁ
Other segment information
Additions to non-current assets during the year - - - 2019 20,000 6,501 28560
Depreciation for the year b 1 i pill - 317 3408
Finance costs 1 - 686 3 - 1009 1733
Inventories written off - 570 - - - - 50
Deposits and other receivables written off - - - - 5 5
Intgrest income from ks - (1 - (1) Q
Reversal of expected credit osses - (5,269 - - - (5,269)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment - - - - (67 (67)
Share of results of associates - - (01 - - 607
Recovery of trade and otfer receivables (6319 - - - - - (39
Recovery of oan receivables written off - (2560) - - - (2,560)
Written back long outstanding trade and other
ayables Eff5E iy - (183 - - - (610)
Geographical information wEER
The Group principally operates in Hong Kong, also the place of $ SEFERES (MRMEH) KL
domicile. During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, all CHEZE__FR-ZZE-_—F=A
revenue from Continuing Operations was derived from Hong :+*E!JJ:¢F CIRBE S KA ARTE R
Kong based on the location of the customers and services e FELEEBNMBREEIRER
delivered and the Group’s non-current assets are all mainly B MALENERBEEAFEMRNE
located in Hong Kong. o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WaRkoHER (&)
(Continued)

Information about major customers from
Continuing Operations

FRARERBECEEBNEIERF
ZER

OEM Business [RGB TS

— Customer A (note below) — BPA (KaanF)
Note: The Group did not generate any revenue from Customer A during Biet BE_T__F=ZA=+—HIEFE &
the year ended 31 March 2022. SEN BB R PAEEEMAPA -
OTHER INCOME 6. HWA

Other income from Continuing Operations is as follows: REFBLEEBHEMBBALT
2021
T —F
HK$'000
FHET
(restated)
(78 &31))

Rental Income from course center FREFROES A

Interest income from amounts due from  FEYESEZIEH R 2 YA
directors

Bank interest income RITREHA

Dividend income from financial assets at AT EFABEZN SR EERD
FVTPL % BUg A

Government subsidy (note below) BRATHED (M a2 )

Management fee income from related KEEHTNEEBIA
party

Sundry income HMIERA

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2022, government subsidy has Wit REBE=ZT=-=F=A=1+—HALLFE "

been received from Hong Kong Reimbursement of Maternity
Leave Pay Scheme to reimburse the maternity leave pay of the
11th to 14th weeks' maternity leave that has been paid to the
employee under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. As at 31
March 2022, there are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies
relating to this subsidy.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, government subsidy
has been received from Hong Kong Employee Support Scheme
under the Anti-epidemic Fund to support the eligible employers
for paying wages of employees from June to November 2020.
Employers are required to undertake and warrant that they
will not implement redundancies during the subsidy period
and spend all the wage subsidies on paying wages to their
employees. As at 31 March 2021, there were no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to this subsidy.

BRITHAE R BB ERRETEIRES
L#EREESERKNE N FEEN
ENEVREBRNEREH R=_2T==
FZA=+—A REMHITERERZ
B AR E M -

HE-_ZT-_—ZA=Z+—HBLEE K
BHBERHENEES THESREESX
BT EIRES  UEHAEREEIN=
ZoTFAAERT—ANEEBIE - EE
BRETRBAFDHEBE TS T
B UHMBEIEMUARINELY
S RZTE-_—EFE=-A=1+—H =2EH
B A8 ARE AR 2 R SRS -

AXEAREERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 7.
Other gains and losses, net from Continuing Operations is as
follows:

Changes in fair value of financial assets
at FVTPL

Losses on disposal of financial assets at
FVTPL

Loan receivables written off

Deposit and other receivables written off

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Written back long outstanding trade and
other payables

Recovery of trade and other receivable
written off in previous year

Recovery of loan receivable written off in
previous year

Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Gain on disposal of investment properties

Inventory written-off

Net exchange gain

Hitlhz5 RGEFE
PR S B AS e TS ) B A W S 1R
T

(restated)
(&E5)

BAFEFABRENEREE

ZNFEEE) (2,521)

BEZER (1,287)
MIH U E R (1,976)
1 o ELAh 8 WO IR M 35 (661)
HE M E A R U -
MERIIRERE S N EME

(E S 4,387

WEINBEFEMEZE S M
HoAth FEUFRIA
Y Bl B 1 F FE i H < RS

A
HEDE - BEREZE WS

8. FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs from Continuing Operations is as follows:

Interest on bank and other borrowings
(note 43)

Interest on promissory note payables
(note 43)

Imputed interest on other financial
liabilities

Interest on lease liabilities (note 43)

Interest on loans from a shareholder

hERE MR 2 Wt
WIHFE
EE 4 o 2 5 B
8. MEAA

KEFBELEXBOMBERALT -

2021
T4
HK$'000
THBTT

RITREMBEFRE (H7243)
FER AR RERE (AfiF43)
Hib SR B EHEERN S

BEEEME (FiE43)
KB —BERERZHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSES
Income tax expenses from Continuing Operations represents:

Hong Kong Profits Tax BEENEH

- Current year —BRIFE
— Under-provision in prior years —BEFERETR

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

8B

KREFELEEBZASHANE

2021
T
HK$'000

FET
(restated)
(&%)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity are taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million
are taxed at 16.5%. The profits of Group entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax
of the qualifying Group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first
HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI, respectively.

E AR ESRIZZMEFE (T ERBOEF
16.5%z1& -

REEENERBEEREY - 6 EREEE
B £9 552,000,000/% 7T 3 F1/3%28.25% ) 7 2= 14
i - T8 82,000,00078 7T 2 i 12 16.5%HY
PEREB - TRHEFEHH EMRHIAE
B B 1Y) FI) 4 B 42 [ 8 TR 2R 16.5% =T -
Hit - GEREEEROBBFEBIE
52,000,000/ 7T 2 i 51 FE SRk A1 #98.25%
K 8 352,000,000 7T 2 1 &1 FE SR 71 bas 7| &9
16.5%HE ©

REFASHERRBRELES ([REBREK
B 2RRARSRH - REBEZAD BN
M= S MR R SRMETAAEN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 9. FiSHMxX #®)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before FARES H T8RS EE REMEEE
taxation from Continuing Operations per the consolidated KRB ELEEB 2 BRBANE AR
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income N
as follows:

(restated)
(&&=751))

Profit before taxation from Continuing REFELEEBHRE AR
Operations 31,948

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of R TSR 16.5%TH 2

16.5% A
Tax effect of: T EBEZBEHE
- Share of results of associate — EREREEHEARES
recognised
- Income not taxable for tax purpose — BARBRILA
- Expenses not deductible for tax — NI
purpose
— Effects of other deductible temporary — REERH A rT R A =58
differences not recognised -7 -
— Utilisation of tax losses - BEARERE
- Tax losses not recognised — RERHIEEE
Statutory tax concession EEMIBEE
(Over provision)/under provision in prior @A FE (BEEE),/ BETE
years
Others EAth
Income tax expenses PSR

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING

OPERATIONS

Profit for the year from Continuing Operations has been arrived

at after charging/(crediting):

Staff costs (including directors’
emoluments, see note 11)
— Salaries, wages and other benefits
- Performance bonus
— Equity-settled share option expense
— Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_T-_—F=A=+—HIEE

10. REFESLEK 2 FRRF

AT 5 2 PO RN (5T
A) AT EREH BB

2021

HK$'000

AT
(restated)
(#&=&E7)

BIRA (BEESHMH -
BHIEE11)
— %4 ITEAREMGEH 25,960
— RIFFEL 4,971
— RIS E B =
— ERAEFURARGT IR

Auditor’'s remuneration
— Audit service
— Other services

Cost of sales and services comprises:

— Cost of goods sold relating to sales of
garment products

— Cost of services relating to provision
of financial quotient, investment
education courses and private
supplementary education courses,
comprises:
— Staff costs
— Other operating costs

488
31,419
T EREm % B
— FEF RS 1,163
— HE iR =
1,163
HERRERABIE
-~ BRAHEREEMZEESR
LLIDEN

— ARRMHYE REHER
BRILBHHERIEL

ARIEAA » BIF -
— BIEAK 18,999
— HAb BRI 11,577

30,781

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (included in administrative
expenses)

Depreciation of investment properties
(included in administrative expenses)
Amortisation of intangible assets (include

in administrative expenses)

Impairment losses under expected credit
losses, net of reversal

WX - BB MERETE GTATT
BF%)

BEMEETE GtATTHH
)
B EE#H FTATHRMAX)

BEHEEER THRERR -
NEREEE

RIREEREBERAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 1. EERFETHAEMEREERR

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID =SEMES

EMPLOYEES

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’'s (a) EERTHAZME
Emoluments
Directors’ and Chief Executive’'s remuneration for the R EFAGEM £ iR Bl R & B 2 Bl &
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022, disclosed pursuant PIEE s HE— T —F R T
to the applicable GEM Listing Rules and the Hong Kong FZA=T—HLEFEEERITHE
Companies Ordinance, is as follows: HMemT

Equity- Contributions
Salaries, settled  to defined
wages share  contribution
and other  Performance option retirement
Fees benefits bonus expense plans Total
§¢ 1% NRESEE TBRMFKEK

#e  REMER RERA HERERS FHEIMR &t
Notes  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR S AR S TR

(Note below)

(W)

Year ended 31 March 2022 #Zz-%--#

ZA=t-F
LFE
Executive directors iEs
Mr. Lau Chun Kavan St ()
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum RIREE
Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin BIBRE (i)
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Law Wing Chung BBsE (i)
Independent non-executive BikHTES
directors
Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie RalEr A
Mr. Ng Chi Ho, Dennis REFHE
Mr. Chung Chin Kwan EREEE (i)
Mr. Chung Kwok Pan SR v)
Mr. Leung Kai Cheong Kenneth 24 E% 4 (v
Note: Mr. Yuen Yu Sum and Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin are tutors of Wit - RMAREERRIREERBTER
training courses of the Financial Quotient and Investment REHBEEBEYZRENEM - 8
Education Business, the related tutor fee has been BEMEAEAFTAHSER -

included in the salary fees during the year.

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE_T-_—_F#=ZA=1+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 1. EERFETHRAEMERERR
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID SHMES ©)
EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive's (@) EBRITHERME &)

Emoluments (Continued)

Equity- Contributions

Salaries, settled to defined

wages share  contribution

and other  Performance option retirement

Fees benefits honus expense plans

He 1% WRESE  RBMSER

e  RHEMET RARA WERERX HEE

Notes  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR AR AR TER AR

Year ended 31 March 2021 HZ-Z--#

ZA=1-A
IHEE
Executive directors BTES
Mr. Lau Chun Kavan sk
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum RIBREE
Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin RIRGE (i)
Ms. Wang Tsz Yue TERRT (vi
Independent non-executive BIkHTEES
directors
Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie BReBLE
Mr. Ng Chi Ho, Dennis REREE
Mr. Chung Chin Kwan BRALE (i)
Mr. Chan Pak Qiu RinEEE (vi)

AIREEEEERAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022

11. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 1. EERFETBHAEMERREERR
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID aSHMES »)
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’'s (a) EBRTHEAZME &)

Emoluments (Continued)

Notes: MiaT -

(i) Resigned as an executive director on 27 October 2021 () RZBZ—F+AZTLHEHER
TES

(i) Appointed as an executive director on 3 August 2020 (i) RZZE_ZENA=BHEZELEH
ﬁ§$

(i) Appointed as non-executive director on 2 June 2021 (il MZZEZ—FAZBEZTARHK
WITES

vy, R-ZZ-_ZHE+A=+HEZTA
ﬁiiE%ﬂﬁ%

(iv)  Appointed as independent non-executive director on 30
October 2020

(v)  Appointed as an independent non-executive director on V) RIZZEZ—FAZHBEZTARSE

2 June 2021 SIERITESR
(vi)  Appointed as an independent non-executive director on vy RZEZ—F+-AtHEZEA
7 December 2021 BAUERITEE
(vil)  Resigned as an executive director on 30 November 2020 (i) RZZEZZE+—-A=+HBEH
TES
(viiiy Resigned as an independent non-executive director on 30 Vi) RZZEZEF+A=THBEET
October 2020 FEMITES

EXRREBTBRABRATESRZHE
TRt R EEE AR A REWB AR (WE
) BB RGN o

The Chief Executive's and executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries,
if applicable.

The non-executive directors’” and independent non-executive EXFRIERITEEREIIERITEEN

142

directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, certain directors were
granted share options in respect of their services to the Group
under the share option scheme of the Company. Details of the
share option scheme are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included two (2021: one) director(s), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 11 (a) above. Details
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three
(2021: four) highest paid employees who are neither
a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

Salaries, wages and other benefits

Performance bonus

Equity-settled share option expense

Retirement benefit scheme
contributions

RIIEAL

11.

e TENEMER

P BB AR
RIRREFEH B

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

EERTIETRAEMERAEER
EEFMES (@)

(b) EBRESHFMAL
R ARELERSHEREERRE
ME(CE-_—F: —R)&EF H
M2 FHIRER _ EXHIEE11(a) « FARR
T=R2(Z2=—%F:0R) K=o
MES (LHFRRREFARZSTH
AB) HFBFFHISEIT

2021
T —F

HK$'000
TAT

1,157

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

HKS$Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$2,000,000 to HK$2,500,000
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000

T8 71.21,000,0007% 7T
1,000,001 7T % 1,500,000/ 7T
2,000,000/ 7T 22,500,000/ 7T
5,500,001/ 7T £6,000,00078 7T

WHARBDERBHIMN FATEHE
HEREEHMEES ABRNT

2022 2021
—E_— —_EF_—
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

A

A

AXEAREERAR
2022 £k

143



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

11.

12.

144

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees (continued)
During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Company or the chief executive of
the Group or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

None of the directors waived any emoluments during the
year. There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the years ended 31 March 2021
and 2022.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company disposed
of its entire equity interest in Hung Lee, which was mainly
engaged in the wholesaling of seafood, to an independent
third party for a consideration of HK$35,000. Subsequent to
the disposal of Hung Lee, the Group ceased and terminated
its “Wholesaling Business: wholesaling of seafood” business
segment and thus this business segment was classified as
Discontinued Operation.

Hung Lee remained dormant during the period from 1 April
2021 to 30 August 2021, the date of its disposal, and the
profit or loss for the year attributable to the Discontinued
Operation in respect of the “Wholesaling Business: wholesaling
of seafood” business segment was set out as below. The
comparative figures in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income have been reclassified
to conform with the current year presentation in accordance
with IFRS 5 “Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations”:

Loss for the year from Discontinued
Operation

11.

12.

KEERIEZENFARER

EERFIETRAEMERAEER
BEFMES (@)

AEESHFMAL (&)

BE_ - R _FT__F=A#
=+—BHIEFE  RNEEWES N
T ERANGEESIAEEREET
BABSREERGERFTMATIERINA
REERFS AL 2 52E) - SERBE
BASE o

(b)

FA - BREEEHETAME - HE
TR FRITZF=RA=+—
HIEFE  BEEFIESTHAR
FREE SR B R E A E BN A 2 5k

R IEREER
HE-Z-—"#=-A=+—HILEE &Q
AR — &/ E=FHEERNBH (F20
SR M2 IR - KRB R35,0008
T o RIBERHE - AEED EILERKIER
[HLEE TS HLBBE] 25930 - Btz
EB DD I AT RILCEER -

NR_E-_—FOA—BEZT=_—F\H
=+RB (HEERE) 8 - BRDEEE
o B REER - HEEE] ¥%9H
2 BRI S E IS G AR F Em R S
GRS o AR 5 B B B S S ME RSB 55K [ 4%
EHEZIERBEERERIEEFER]
GeEmkAEMEERERALRETEE
o UMReARFEZ257
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)
The results of the Discontinued Operation for the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2022, which have been included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, were as follows:

12.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

CRIEEERK (@)
ERIEEEEBRBE-S -~ =T
A=+ RLEFEZEE (BHA
A EERE MR ERER) T

Revenue &
Cost of sales SHERAR
Other income EaugA

Other gains and losses, net

H ity s &2 B85 2R

Administrative expenses TE R

Loss before taxation BRI AT ES 18

Income tax expenses Frisfif s

Loss for the year FAMEE

Loss on disposal of Discontinued HE BRI 575 2 B5 18
Operation (note 40 (a)(i)) (KtzE40@)0))

Loss for the year from Discontinued
Operation

RECRIEEEBNFENER

Loss for the year from Discontinued Operation include the
follows:

Staff costs

Auditor’s remuneration

Trade receivable written off

Deposit and other receivable written off

Loss on written of property, plant and
equipment

BT
2 EREm B
W 3HE 5 e WA

1R N EL A W R TR i
MM - BB R RE2EE

ERIEEEBZFABEERATREA

2021
T
HK$'000
FET

AXEAREERAR
2022 £k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 12.
The cash flow of the Discontinued Operation for the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2022, which have been included
in the consolidated statement of cash flow, were as follows:

activities

Net cash inflows from investing activities
Net cash inflows from financing activities

Net cash outflows inflows from operating

CRIEEERRE (@)
BERIEEEEBRBE-S -~ -F
——HFZA=t+-ALFENRLRE (B
SAARERER) WT

LERBRERMEFE

Net cash inflows

13. DIVIDENDS

Dividends recognised as distributed
during the year:

Interim dividend — HK$0.0075 per share
(2021: HK$0.0066 per share)

Final dividend — HK$0.0072 per share
(2021: HK$NIl)

471)

BREBBHZRBRMAFE -

BERB 2 RDRMAFR -

BEMAFER (471)
13. RE

FABRDIR S

FRHARR B — & A%0.0075/8 7T
(ZZ=—%F : F%0.006677T)

RERRR 8 — &[%0.00727 7T
(ZF=——%F : T&T)

13,367

12,881

Net cash outflows

EN A an k] 26,248

The Board of directors declared a final dividend of HK$0.0072
per share for the year ended 31 March 2021 which has been
approved by the Company’s shareholders at the annual general

meeting dated 30 July 2021.

The Board of directors do not recommend a final dividend for

the year ended 31 March 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE
From continuing and discontinued
operation
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share from
continuing and discontinued operations attributable to owners
of the Company is based on the following data:

Earnings figures are calculated as follows:

Earnings per share from continuing
and discontinued operations BREF

Profit for the year from continuing and
discontinued operations attributable
to the owners of the Company for the
purpose of basic and diluted loss per
share

REFARCRILREERN

AHHERERREEERAAZ
ZANSIE 2PN P N=EST 5
B HEEXBHF R T

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

14. BREF
REFENCRIEEEEK

AREHBEAREREFENCRILEE
RS BER R EE RN TR A T B8R

s

b

BNBURHETET

2021
T

HK$'000
FBT

Number of shares are calculated as follows:

Number of shares BRHOEAR

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue for the purpose of basic
earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary
shares:
— Share options

-

— R

AESRERRNAAZ
ST E BT E

BEENE I BEEER
=472

BASBE S EIT -

2021

T —F
HK$'000
FET
(restated)
(&&=&=751)

357,705,374 270,026,521

Bz

N/ATRE A 1,850,932

AHEEREERNZ
BN

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of diluted
earnings per share

357,705,374 271,877,453

The number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic
earnings per share for the years ended 31 March 2021
and 2022 have been retrospectively adjusted for the Share
Consolidation and details of which are set out in note 35(B)(C).

HE-T - —FR-F-"F=A=+—H
IFFE - ARETE BREABTIR TR
BEMBROEHHELENARE  AHEFER
FHIEE35(B)(C) °

AXEAREERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)
The computation of diluted earnings per share from continuing
and discontinued operations for the year ended 31 March 2022
does not assume the exercise of the Company’s share options
because the exercise price of the those options was higher
than the average market price of the shares for the year ended
31 March 2022.

From Continuing Operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share from
Continuing Operations attributable to owners of the Company
is based on the following data:

Earnings figures are calculated as follows:

Earnings per share from Continuing REZFELSLEKERER
Operations
Profit for the year attributable to the AESREAREEBEMAZ

owners of the Company for the
purpose of basic and diluted loss per

share
Less: loss for the year from Discontinued & : RE BRI EL %72
Operation FRNEE

14.

AREHE ARIEFREF

BRERN &)
HEEE—T_—F=-A=+—HILFER
BRERDRIEEEB 2 BRESET
WERBRTEAR R ZBRE - REAZS
BREZTEEEREE-E=-_F=1
=t+t—BIEFEZRGFHEWE -

REFELERE
AR EBEE AR R A RS 2 RIS B
EARBERN A T RIS -

BNMBEOFTELT

2021
—EFE——%F

HK$'000
THAT

Profit for the year from Continuing
Operations attributable to the owners
of the Company for the purpose of
basic and diluted loss per share

AESREARREERERAZ
ARREE NEIEREIFERL
EEBFER G

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above
for both basic and diluted loss per share.

The computation of diluted earnings per share from Continuing
Operations for the year ended 31 March 2022 does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s share options because the
exercise price of those options was higher than the average
market price of the shares for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Legendary Group Limited
1 48 Annual Report 2022

SRR RSB AT 2 5 18R
(WSS -

HERE-E-—F=A=+—BIFEEKX
BIF B E ¥ 2 BIRESE BT BRERIT
EARRE 2 EIRE - REAZEBRE 21T
FESHERE—ZE-—&#=—A=+—Q &
Ez B FEmE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

From Discontinued Operation

Basic loss per share for the Discontinued Operations is HK0.55
cents per share (2021: HKO0.17 cents per share), based on the
loss for the year from Discounted Operation of approximately
HK$1,970,000 (2021: HK$471,000) and the denominators used
are the same as those detailed above for basic earnings per
share.

Diluted loss per share for the Discontinued Operations for the
year ended 31 March 2022 is HK0.55 cents per share (2021:
HKO0.17 cents per share) based on the loss for the year from
Discontinued Operation of approximately HK$1,970,000 (2021:
HK$471,000) and the denominators used are the same as those
detailed above for diluted earnings per share from continuing
and discontinued operations.

The computation of diluted loss per share from Discontinued
Operation for the year ended 31 March 2022 does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s share options because the
exercise price of those options was higher than the average
market price of the shares for the year ended 31 March 2022.

14.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-__F=A=+—HILFE

BREF (&)

RECKR ISR

BRI S B BIRE AR B A EAR0.55
B (ZZTZ—5F : GROA7EW) - ERE
2R AS TSR N R 1B /5 491,970,000
B (ZZT = —F : 471,000 7T) MFTH S
X EREA BT EER

HEZT-_F=-A=+—HIFE B&
IHEE 3T 2 BREEE 18 A EAR0.557 1l
(Z2=—F : §ROA7TH) - HIREBEK
IHEE R E T 2 F N E1E491,970,000% 7T (=
T —4F 4710008 7T) ;T8 A&
HFYBREHERCRIEEEB TR

S RAFTLE AR -

HEEE—ZE-_F-A=1t—HILFEX
BORIEREEE 2 BREEERT B RER
TEARBZBEE  RARZEREEZ

TEEEREE_T - —F=-A=1+—H1t
FEZBDFEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BE_Z__F=-A=1+—HLFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y% - BERRE

Furniture and office Leasehold Right-of-use
equipment equipment  improvements  Motor vehicles assets Total
GRER M WARe  EENREE hE fEREEE &3t
HKS’OOH HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin Thr Thr Thr
Cost m&
At 1 April 2020 R-EFERA-A 230 2011 2,652 1478 5153 1252
Adaitions A - 3 918 - 731 8560
Disposals i - - - - (855) (855)
Written-off i (1,230 (10 - (289 - (152)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WENELA 20 0 - - i 663
At 31 March 2021 and EC 5--EZRZt-BR
1 April 2021 “Z--FRA-A 204 2274 3630 1,19 12,066 19,369
Additions RE 23 431 8479 304 17916 27,33
Disposals tE - ) - - - (]
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHEBLA - 187 - - 1,389 1576
At 31 March 2022 HZEZZF=A=1-H vl 281 12,109 1499 31,301 18,257
Accumulated depreciation and ZERAE
impairment
A1 April 2020 WZT-TERA-A 1230 1431 9 703 83 4316
Charge for the year ERER - 154 11 119 2044 348
Eliminated on dlsposals HERLH - - - - (518) (518)
Eiiminated on written-off iR (1,230) @ - @) - (1,276)
At 31 March 2021 and R-E--%=A=+-BR
1 April 2021 ZEC-ERA-A
Charge for the year ERRR
Eliminated on disposals HERLH
At 31 March 2022 WZF-ZE=R=1-R
Carrying amounts BEE
At 31 March 2022 RZE--F=A=1-A
At 31 March 2021 RZFZ-F=A=1-A 204 692 2420 416 9,687 13419

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Right-of-use assets - properties and motor
vehicles leased for own use

For both years, the Group leases certain motor vehicles and
properties for tis operations. The leases typically run for an
initial period of 2 to 5 years. Lease terms are negotiated on
individual basis and contain different terms and conditions.

The analysis of right-of-use assets and the related expense
items and cash flow in relation to leases recognised in profit
or loss is as follows:

Right-of-use assets comprises: HHEAEDE

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

15. Y% - BMEKRRE &)

ERAEEE - HEEAANEEY
ERARE

RWEFE - AEERRSEREE TS
B - O—RAS BEESE « FAEIE
B E BRI R - WA TR
o

BB s NER I E B R (A E KA
MR HE RREREDFTNT

2022 2021
—E-— 2

HK$'000 HK$'000
F T

21,142
2,135

- Leased properties —HEWE
- Leased motor vehicles —HEA
Depreciation for the year: FRTE -
— Leased properties —HEw=E
- Leased motor vehicles —HERE

23,277

5,455
260

Interest on lease liabilities HEaERE

Expense relating to short-term leases EAHEMRX
Total cash outflow for leases HERESRHRE
Addition to new lease liabilities FigHEas

5,715
619
2,549
3,077
17,916

The Group's right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis at the following rates per annum.

Motor vehicles 20% — 30% per annum or over
the term of the leases, which
ever is lower

Leasehold properties Over the unexpired term of the

leased for own use leases

REEH fEAREEENBEREIRIA T FR
o

B B EE20% % 30% IR HA
(ABREE BAE)

HEFERNE AR HESR
Emx

AIREEEEERAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 16. REWHE
HK$'000
FAT
Cost e
At 1 April 2020 N-—ZE-ZFIYA—H 844
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 39 (b)(iii)) UR B BT B A B (K EE39(D)(iii)) 20,000
Disposal k= (844)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZE-—F=A=+—HK
—E-—FA—H 20,000
Disposal & (20,000)
At 31 March 2021 ANZE——F=A=+—8H -
Accumulated depreciation 25 E
At 1 April 2020 RZZTZTFMA—H 6
Charge for the year FERFEX 13
Disposal e (19)
At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and NZE_—F=A=+—H -ZF=—F

31 March 2022

WA—BR-ZZE-_F=A=+—H -

At 31 March 2021

RZZE-_—F=A=+—H

Carrying amounts
At 31 March 2022

BREE
RZZE-_—_F=A=+—H

At 31 March 2021

—%$=A=+—H

20,000

\—7—

The Group’s investment property was a leasehold residential
property situated in Hong Kong. The investment property was
located at No. 98, Siu Hang Hau, Clear Water Bay, Sai Kung,

RNEBEMIREME AN EENHEETEY
¥ - WEMEMRI R EBKE/ )\ O
985 (7ED.D.230HI b ER 33955 2 BER ) o

New Territories (Section B of Lot No. 339 in D.D. 230).

The Group had no unprovided contractual obligations for future
repairs and maintenance as at 31 March 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company REZE
disposed of its entire investment property for a consideration
of HK$20,000,000 and details of which are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 7 and 24 May 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties as at
31 March 2021

The following presents the fair value of the Group's investment
property and information about the fair value hierarchy at
the end of the reporting period, categorized into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technigues
as follows:

° Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

° Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs, i.e, observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data
are not available

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

At 31 March 2021, the fair value of the Group's investment
property was approximately HK$20,000,000 based on the
valuations performed by Ravia Global Appraisals Advising
Limited, independent professionally qualified surveyors with
recent experience in the location and category of property
being valued. The fair value of investment property disclosed
at the end of the reporting period was categorised as level 2
fair value measurement which was determined by the surveyor
at the end of the reporting period using market approach by
reference to recent sales price of comparable properties on
a price per square meter basis using market data which is
publicly available. The directors of the Company had discussion
with the surveyor on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation was performed at the annual
reporting date.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level
3. The Group's policy is to recognise transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in
which they occur.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

16. REWE (&)

R-B-—F=ZA=t—-HAZYX
DVERE

T2 AEERRERRZRENERD
TESREMARNRTE  WIREEEM
BRELAFIBRATETERNMRTND
TESEEABZERR - ATEIBFLE
(EERIMTAEAOHAREOTERIERE
EHUDRTRER  FEWT :

o EMIGME: EERE RS ALR
(BN4E3H 8 B ABIEA & o B 0%
A5 L AEARNRIE) HEHA
T

o F_AMME: ERE_SBmARE
ENAFE  BEATHEE AR
ENAERBARE  EYEERS
AT ERBARE - THERBHA
BIES T AIBS TS BN E A BIE

o  F=FfHE: EAEXRTITHEEA
BB ENAFE

KRB —F=A=1+—0 T&EEKREY
¥ N FER 720,000,000 7T - ETHEREA
BT EY A SRR 2 AR I By
HB HE A BRI BN SRR E R
BRARMEGE - RBREHREENRE
MEHRFERBER/E MR TENE
HTymRIEMNBRERRIZTSE - 2EK
RAFAETSEIENEFTRERREE
ZALEYEAREBMETE - REERE
HEETTHER - ARRERCHRAER
wERERGEESR -

BE T —F=A=1+—HUIFE F—
BEFE M AW EER - JAF=RAUES
ASEH - AREZBRA/NAFHEERZ
RELEEBHRENREREHER -

AXEAREERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_F=A=+—HILFE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021

17. EFEE

Customer
relationship
BPRR

HK$'000
TR

2%
R-ZE-_TFWA—H - —T=-—F=A
—t+—BE-_ZT-_—FMA—H

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 39(a)(i)(ii) WEEMT B AR (MTEE39(2)()(11)) 4,975
At 31 March 2022 R-E-_—_F#=A=+—H 4,975
Accumulated amortisation Bt

1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021

F—?—?fﬁﬂlﬂ = —7—_£EE)E]
f‘?' BR—Z-—FMA—H -

Change for the year GEaNp = 75
As at 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=A=+—H 75
Carrying amounts BREE

At 31 March 2022 RZZE-=—_F=A=+—H 4,900

At 31 March 2021

RZE-_—F=HA=+—H -

The customer relationships, which have finite useful lives, were

acquired in business combinations.

18. GOODWILL

Cost

B AR
Less: Impairment R

BEAERERFH 2B BREDNEBA K

18. BE

2021
—E -

HK$'000
THAT

171,070 135,071

171,070 135,071

Carrying amount of goodwill PEREVERREHBEELN

allocated to Financial Quotient and HEREERERN
Investment Education Business
attributable to:
— Bewisekid Holdings Limited — Bewisekid Holdings Limited 31,752
- Zone Galaxy Limited — Zone Galaxy Limited 32,989
- Prestige Concord Limited — Prestige Concord Limited 70,330
— KC Training Company Limited — KC Training Company

Limited 6,875
— Brilliant Ever Global Limited — FKIRBKBR A A 29,124

171,070 135,071
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated
to the cash-generating units in the financial quotient and
investment education business of the Group for impairment
testing purposes.

The recoverable amounts of the financial quotient and
investment education business cash-generating units have
been determined based on value in use calculations using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by senior management of the Group.

The following table sets out the key assumptions for the value-
in-use calculation of the cash-generating units for goodwill
impairment assessments:

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

18. BHE ()

B R E R
BBEBACEGORBEHRFHERAE
BHRE S B EI RSB ERARAE R

G

R RIREHE EBREEEELNAIE
SRDREBERAEESREREBIEZRE
hFEHMBRERARSRERRIRER
EEFEMEE

TREFIHERENE ZCREEEFEMLME
REEENBERER

Pre-tax discount rate
Barr R =

Long-term growth rate
RARE

2022 PAA 2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F —E-C T —&
% % % %

Goodwill attributable to: AT EMEEE

- Bewisekid Holdings Limited ~ — Bewisekid Holdings Limited

— Zone Galaxy Limited — Zone Galaxy Limited

— Prestige Concord Limited — Prestige Concord Limited

- KC Training Company Limited — KC Training Company Limited
- Brilliant Ever Global Limited ~— — Z43BHRER AT

The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections and
the long-term growth rates used to extrapolate the cash flows
of the cash-generating units beyond the five-year period are
shown above. These growth rates were determined and are
based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and do not
exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry

20% 2%

19% 2%
19% 3%
N/ATEF N/ARiE
N/ATNE A N/ATNE AR

MEFR - FREBARALHERA - &
Mg REEANEE DT R E LB
MRDRE « HEEREERIBTIE
REAEE - BRBBAETROTFYRY
R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

18.

156

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
There were other assumptions used in the value in use
calculations of the cash-generating units as at 31 March 2021
and 2022. The following describes each of these others key
assumptions on which management has based its cash flow
projections when undertaking impairment testing of goodwill:

Projected revenue and budgeted gross margins — The
basis used to determine the values assigned to the projected
revenue and budgeted gross margins is based on the past
performance of the cash-generating units and management'’s
expectations for the market development.

The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific risks
relating to the respective cash-generating units.

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022, management
of the Group determines that there is no impairment on
the cash generating units. Management believes that any
reasonably possible change in any of the above mentioned
assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amounts
of the cash-generating units to exceed the respective
recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units.

Legendary Group Limited
Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE—_Z_-_—F=A=+—HIFE

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. REFE N BV

Cost of investment in associates BN BRI E A AR 472,338
Share of post-acquisition profits less DMEEE R RUER

losses and other comprehensive AR EE R EMEERA

income/(expense) of associates (Fx) (44,837)

427,551

Less: Impairment R ORE (427,551)
Details of the Group’s associates as at 31 March 2021 and 2022 RIEZ—FR-ZZF-__F=RA=+—8"
are as follows: AEEEE QB ZFFBEWNT ¢

Place of

establishment Attributable interest

and principal and proportion of

place of Fully paid-up share capital and  voting power indirectly Principal

Name of associates operation number of shares held by the Group activities
Rt E R AEEEEFEZEEERR
BENFRB TREXME BRRARRAHE RERELL A TEXR
2022 2021
—Eg-C —E--F

Prestige Concord Limited ~ BVI/Hong Kong 1,000 ordinary shares of US$1 each N/A  Seenote (a) Investment holding
("Prestige Concord”) below

Prestige Concord Limited ~ ®BEZAS/ 1,000RFREE1ETHTER NEMA R REER
(Prestige Concord ) BB fitsE ()

Red 5 Studios, Inc. United States 65,567,709 Common stock of 47.63% 47.63% Inactive
("Red 5") US$0.01 each and 10,180,553

Preferred Stock (Series B) of
US$0.01 each
Red 5 Studios, Inc. EH 65,567,709 SR EIB0.01E LAY 47.63% 47.63% EEEHK
(TRed 5J) %M 1210,180,5530% B R E E
0.01ETHE LR (BRI

Quick Capital Limited BVI/Hong Kong 150 ordinary shares of US$1 each 33.3% 33.3% Property investment
("Quick Capital”)

Quick Capital Limited EBRLHE/ 1SOREREEIETHOLER 33.3% 33.3% MELE
(TQuick Capital]) B

AXEAREERAR
2022 £k 157



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE_Z-_—_F#=A=1+—HIFE

19.

158

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes:

(@

Prestige Concord Limited

On 8 October 2019, the Group entered into sales and purchase
agreement (“Agreement”) with Mr. Yuen Yu Sum, who was
appointed by the Company as an executive director on 24
October 2019, pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase
30% of equity interests in Prestige Concord Limited (“Prestige
Concord”), a limited liability company incorporated in BVI, at
the cash consideration of HK$15,400,000. Prestige Concord and
its subsidiaries mainly generated revenue through YH Group
Limited ("YH"). YH is principally engaged in provision of financial
quotient and investment experience-sharing training courses and
consultation services which mainly cover (i) property investment;
(i) securities investment; and (ii) financial quotient in Hong Kong.
The acquisition was completed on 8 October 2019.

As at 31 March 2020, Prestige Concord is held as to 70% by Mr.
Yuen Yu Sum, a director of the Company.

As the Group also commenced its business of provision of
financial quotient and investment education courses during
the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group acquired the interest
in Prestige Concord in order to invest resources to expand
the share in the financial quotient and investment education
market and to broaden its customer base as Prestige Concord
and its subsidiaries possess a large customer base and an
extensive network of experienced experts and professionals in
the property and stock investment industry.

On 27 October 2020, the Group entered into sale and purchase
agreement with Mr. Yuen Yu Sum pursuant to which the
Group agreed to purchase the remaining 70% equity interests
in Prestige Concord at a consideration of HK$80,000,000.
The consideration was to be satisfied (i) as to HK$41,000,000
by issuance of the Promissory Note by the Group, (i) as to
HK$29,000,000 by the assumption of the liabilities from Mr.
Yuen Yu Sum to the Group; and (jii) as to HK$10,000,000 by cash.
The transaction was completed on 31 March 2021 and Prestige
Concord became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group at
the same date.

A guarantee of audited profit with minimum amount of
HK$17,000,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021 has been
undertaken by Mr. Yuen Yu Sum to the Group for the Group's
acquisition of Prestige Concord, or in case there is a shortfall,
a compensation would be provided by Mr. Yuen Yu Sum to
the Group as stipulated in the Agreement. According to the
audited results for the year ended 31 March 2021, the specified
minimum profit requirement has been met and therefore there
was no compensation receivable by the Group.

Details of the acquisition are set out in note 39 (b)(iii).

Legendary Group Limited
Annual Report 2022

19. REERNTNER @)

Wit

(a)

Prestige Concord Limited

RZE-NFT+ANA FEEEE
WEREE(R=ZTE-—NAF+A=+IA
BARBZERPITESR) FIVEEW
#(mEl  BRAEREBRENUNRE&RK
&15,400,0007% 7T #§ APrestige Concord
Limited ([Prestige Concord]) @ R & B R
ZEEFMKHBRAR) HI30%AXME o
Prestige Concord X H B AR EE @A
YH Group Limited (['YH]) 7 4 4% © YH
FERBBNEREMRIEELR
BIRERITHERE - TEBHEOMER
ﬁ (NBHIRE &(nl ﬁ?fﬁ‘j WiEEER

/\:.

RZZE=ZZTF=H=+—H " Prestige
ConcordB R AR EE R WAL EHEER
70%

HRAEBETREBEE_ZT_TF=A1

=t+t—HLEFEHERAREREMAR
BRERERENER  HAEEKER
Prestige Concord®Ji#s + AR A EJRATR
KRB RIZEHE TSR0 A RIEXR
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TERBEZNRBYENERREEA
484 -

RZZEZTF+A-+ER AEEHEE
WMARSETVEERZE Bt X&EEE
EEUEEPrestige Concordék T~70%%4E -
(B A80,000,00078 7T  REBEAFH()AE
B 1745, E 4541,000,000% 7T ¢ (iFEE=
AR 5 A IR K & B & 529,000,000 T
Ke(iii)38 10,000,000 7.2 77 A Z A o R
SER-_ZE-_—F=ZA=+t—H=EAK
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WEAR -

RWOR T E B A K B U FEPrestige
ConcordM AEEELFFHE : RBE_ZT
Z—F =A==+ HLFERNLEEZTNE
1R B 1K 4 58 417,000,000/ 7T 0B =
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EELmE REBECEZESE  HEZ
T—HE=ZA=1+—RItEE  DERET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Red 5

On 28 April 2016, the Group entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with independent third parties pursuant to which
the Group conditionally agreed to purchase 47.63% of equity
interests in Red 5 Studios, Inc. (“Red 5"), a limited liability
company incorporated in Delaware, the United States of
America.

Red 5 and its subsidiaries were principally engaged in the
development of innovative entertainment software and online
games in the United States of America, Europe, the PRC and
Southeast Asia. The online game called Firefall (“Firefall”) was
the main product developed by Red 5. The acquisition was
completed on 20 June 2016. 226,022,723 shares of the Company
were allotted and issued to vendors in proportion to numbers of
shares sold by each of the vendors. Cost of investment in Red 5
and its subsidiaries was approximately HK$472,388,000, which
represented the fair value of the ordinary shares of the Company
issued, determined using the published bid price available on
20 June 2016.

The investment in Red 5 was to provide an opportunity for the
Group to diversify its business into online game business.

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022, Red 5
continued to be inactive.

Quick Capital

On 9 February 2021, the Group entered into a sales and
purchase agreement with an independent third party pursuant
to which the Group conditionally agreed to purchase 33.33%
of equity interests in Quick Capital Limited (“Quick Capital”), a
limited liability company incorporated in British Virgin Islands,
at a consideration of HK$390. The acquisition was completed
on 26 February 2021.

Quick Capital is principally engaged in property investment in
Hong Kong. On 16 February 2021, Quick Capital signed a sales
and purchases agreement with an independent third party to
purchase a property located in Hong Kong at a consideration of
HK$18,000,000, the transaction was completed before the year
ended 31 March 2021. The Group provided funds to Quick Capital
to make payment for the transaction, based on the proportion of
shareholdings held by the Group, which has been included in the
amount due from an associate as at 31 March 2021 and 2022.

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

19. REEQRNERS (@)
Azt - ()

(b)

(c)

Red 5

RZT—XNEMA-+/\B  "EEEE
NE=ZFANEERE  BHEAEESK
FRZH ARed 5 Studios, Inc. ([Red 5] »
RENRE REEREMN M HER
AT]) HI47 63%HHE o

Red SREMBARIEEREFNEAR
BN - PEI R R B AR
B R A4 T R B B o 49 4% e iFirefall
(TFirefall]) ARed SR EEER - I8
BEBR-_T—AFNA-t+HEK-
226,022,7230% AN A B B0 L E 7 BT
% B b B B 8% e 384T TS E 5 o Red 5%
HIE A AR & B A8 49 /472,388,000
T AR —E—ARFARNA-Z+HERAHE
BEMETAATEETEBRAIATE -

Red SZIRE TN ARNEBERHEZ T E
BEREBEEBHE -

BE-_ - KR -_T-_—H=A=+—
AL - Red SEBEET(ELE -

Quick Capital

RZZEZ—F_ANH  AEEHE—ZF
VEZHITL—MEBRH Bt A%
B2 A iR EUWEEQuick Capital Limited
([Quick Capitall - MEEE XA S AL
2 BRAR]) 33.33%M%1E - 1B A3907%5
T B ER T -_—4F=-_A=+/<A
FERK ©

Quick Capital EFZREBNEFTMHFILE -
R-ZT——F=HA-+75H ' Quick Capital
B—ZBUE=FFI—MEEmE - A
1% X 1£18,000,0007% 7T Y B8 — B AL N B 7B
¥ ZRGTIREBE_T=_—F=A
=+ —BIEFEZRITK - ERAREEFA
FHMRMD A - AN E[RQuick Capital
REEESUINRGHE  WESERE
TR FRITECCF=ZA=1+—H®
FEUES & A RIFRIES ©

P LB R R AR & B IS IR R A
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19.

160

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Summarised financial information of the material associate
at 31 March 2022, adjusted for any differences in accounting

policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in the T
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below: W

Quick Capital

Quick Capital

Non-current assets FEREEE
Current assets TEAE
Non-current liabilities FEREaE
Current liabilities REAE
Net liabilities BEFE

Proportion of the Group's ownership interest
in the associate

Group's share of net assets of the associate

Revenue

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive expense for the year

Loss and total comprehensive income for the
year

Group’s share of loss for the year

Group’s share of the comprehensive expense
for the year

Dividend received from the associate during
the year

Yrgs

FANEE
FREMZHEX
FABBRRERREAE

FAXKEDEER
FAREEDEEMEEAX

FACKHERFRE

Reconciliation of the above summarised
financial information to the carrying amount
of the interest in an associate recognised in
these consolidated financial statements:
Net liabilities of the associate
Proportion of the Group's ownership

interest in the associate
Group's share of net liabilities of the
associate, not recognised by Group

LM BENBREZ SRS
P RRC RN E R AR
MAREEM L

BERFRERE
AEBENEE N R A ERRLD

AEEDEBERNRBERE
CRIEA S EHER)

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in the
associate

AEBNEE QRS REE

Legendary Group Limited
Annual Report 2022

19. REERNTNER @)
EREFHREREHRE - TRGANE
BROGEEETHRNEABERFN =

FZA=t BB ERBIERE

2022
—E-C

HK$'000

THET

19,556
316
(770)
(19,289)

(187)

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FHIT

33%



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

In view of the Group’s share of losses of Quick Capital
exceeded its interest in Quick Capital and thus, the Group
discontinued to share of the losses of Quick Capital.

Red 5

For Red 5, the company remained inactive during the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2022. There are no management
accounts made available to the Group since the business of
Red 5 ceased in 2017 and hence no financial information of
Red 5 was disclosed. In addition, the directors of the Company
consider there is no reversal of impairment required for the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022.

Impairment assessment

In the impairment assessment of the interest in associates,
goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment in associate is not separately recognised. It is
therefore not tested for impairment separately by applying
the requirements for impairment testing on goodwill. Instead,
the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for
impairment as a single asset, by comparing its recoverable
amount, being the higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal, with its carrying amount.

Red 5

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Firefall sever was
shut down in July 2017. Red 5 did not generate any income
subsequently and Red 5 faced serious financial difficulties and
management of Red 5 requested the Company for financial
support to fund the mobile version of Firefall.

The Board of the Company decided not to provide further
funding to Red 5 after deliberations, considering the following
factors:

() The associate is only an investment in the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group;

(i) There were no other probable and concrete business plan
in generation of income for Firefall; and

(i)~ For the best interests of the Company and its stakeholder,
allocation of resources should be focusing on principal
activities of the Group (i.e. OEM, retail and money lending
business).

19.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

REFE QN TRNER (8)
BN E 5 1EQuick CapitalZ E5EHEBE
#Quick Capitalz #z + FHIL - ANEBKLIE
2 hQuick Capital 2 &518 »

Red 5

BiRed 5ME ' ZAFREBE_T=_—F K
ZECCF=RA=+—HIFENREE -
BT —t%Red SEBKKILE  KEEW
EAIESHEIRRE - BUtWEFFERed 5
ZHIEER - N ARBEERAEEZ
T FRZEFZF=A=+—ALFE
MEETRERE -

B RS

FARESE S R AR EE TR E RIS R - 18K
REE QAR ENRAE By mmE
I & R - R AR EETRE
BIFRRE M EBETRERR - AR - &
BN EMEREEERE —BEEETRER
2o TEABEAKEEE (AMEREENI
RAFEREERA zBSE) REKEE
EITLLE o

Red 5
REBEE-_T—-N\F=ZA=+—HLEFE"
Firefall R 2 E N — T — 4+ ARFE
Red SR&#& AR EEAE MW AL KRed SHEGRER
ERIHES - Red SHEBEEERAQR
RALBI S £ LA Bh g EhhirFirefall o

REEEZBATERR - AAREFERTE
T HERed 5 E—FRHESD :

() BEQREA/REERESPHIRREK
NERE

(i) S E 4 AFirefall 2 4 YA B AT BE
HREMEBTE &

(i) BTARBRERNDENRENZ
BERDEERAENANEENEEER
(ARERERE - TEMBREFRS) °
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19.

20.

162

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Impairment assessment (Continued)

Red 5 (Continued)

The Board passed a resolution on 13 February 2018 concluding
that the Group would not provide further capital injection to
Red 5. As such, the Board decided to provide in full impairment
loss for the interest in Red 5.

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022, Red 5
remained inactive.

Quick Capital Limited

As at 31 March 2021 and 2022, the recoverable amount of the
Group's interest in Quick Capital Limited approximates to the
carrying amount and thus no impairment loss is recognised.

EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Unlisted equity investment at fair value
— Wealth Power Group Limited

19.

20.

BAEEZ I ETRAKRE
— Wealth Power Group Limited

REtE QB Ry ke ()

RAERHE ()

Red 5 (#)
EFEN-T\F-At=HEBRE
REAEETEARed SE—SIRETE -
Hitt - EEREREHNRed SHERARS
BORERSIA ©

HE— - —FR-_FT-—"F=A=+—H
IF4FJE - Red SE ALY -

Quick Capital Limited

W_E-_—FR-_FT-_—_F=A=+—8"
LB PQuick Capital Limited 894 25 &9 7]
el e BEREERE - B RERRER

o

BAFESFAHMGEERFENRE
TH

Note: The above equity investment was irrevocably designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group
considers the investment to be strategic in nature. Details of the
fair value measurement hierarchy of the financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income are set out in note
42 (B)((a)().

The Group holds 35% equity interests in Wealth Power Group
Limited ("Wealth Power"), an unlisted company incorporated
in BVI. Wealth Power is an investment holding company
indirectly investing in dessert business in the People’s Republic
of China. As the Group did not assign any management
personnel to Wealth Power or participate in any formulation of
financial or operating policies of Wealth Power, the directors
of the Group consider that the Group is not in a position to
exercise significant influence over operations of Wealth Power,
accordingly the investment is not equity accounted for in
accordance with HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures. The results of Wealth Power are dealt with in profit
or loss to the extent of dividends received/receivable from the
investment.

Legendary Group Limited
Annual Report 2022
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
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20. EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE 20. EAFEFARMBEZEKZARAE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME TH#)
(Continued)
A fair value loss on investment of HK$14,000,000 was 5 #414,000,000/8 TR E A T EEED 1#
recognised which was charged to the other comprehensive ROHERBEZZ-ZEF=A=1+—HI
expense for the year ended 31 March 2020. FEFRHEMEEFSZ RN -
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company disposed HE-_Z-_—_F=ZA=+—HLFE AR
of its entire equity interest in Wealth Power Group Limited to an AJLARE80,000/8 T MBI 5 = A HEER
independent third party at a consideration of HK$80,000. The Wealth Power Group Limited#) 2 EBA%#E o
cumulative fair value loss of HK$21,924,000 was transferred Z5T A F{EE1821,924,0008 TE R F R H
to accumulated profits upon the disposal of the equity ERn TARAREBRE 255 -

21.

investments for the year accordingly.

INVENTORIES 21. 78

Finished goods BIRK
Less: Impairment B RE

AXEAREERAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables B 5 W FIE

22. B REMEBWRIE

Less: Impairment B RE
Other receivables H A eI R IE
Temporary receipts BRI
Prepayment to Mr. YY Lam MARE IR 58 4 2 2 TR RUE
(see note 40 (a)(ii)) (AR E400))
Other deposits HEtize
Deposits for decoration of education HEFPLEBEERS
centre
Other prepayments H A TR 5B
Rental deposits HEZRe
Analysed as: DR
- Current i) 41,575
- Non-current — 3ERE 2,776

44,351

The Group allows credit period ranging from 30 days to 60 days
to customers from OEM Business. The Group allows credit
period ranging from 30 days to 60 days to customers from
Wholesaling Business.

As at the end of the reporting period, an ageing analysis of the
trade receivables net of loss allowances presented based on
the invoice date is as follows:

Within 30 days 30HA

31 to 60 days 31E60H
6110 90 days 61E90H
Over 90 days 90H A L

AEE M REBEREER R PR HNT30H
ZO0RMEER - AEBEMILBEBTFE
HAFI0EE0R ZZEH] -

UTRRHRERRZERAHZ2IINE SR
WEE (R R R ) BRI DT

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade receivables are set out in note 42 (B)(b)(ii).

Legendary Group Limited
1 64 Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. LOAN RECEIVABLES

Loan receivables arising from money
lending and accrued interest

A A 2 B E R ERTHE

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-__F=A=+—HILFE

23. BWER

Less: Impairment R RE
Analysed as: DT A

— Current — e

- Non-current — JEmE

42,123

42,123

All of the Group’s loan receivables are derived from money
lending business carried out in Hong Kong and are denominated
in HK$.

At 31 March 2022, the Group's loan receivables with gross
amounts of HK$40,178,000 (2021: HK$46,318,000) are secured
loans with collateral which are mainly properties and unlisted
equity interests. The Group is not permitted to sell or repledge
the collateral in the absence of default by the loan debtors.
There have not been any significant changes in the quality
of the collateral held for the loan receivables. In addition, the
Group's loan receivables with gross amounts of HK$65,000,000
(2021: HK$35,522,000) are secured loans with guarantee
provided by independent third parties.

At 31 March 2022, the Group's loan receivables bear interest
at fixed rates ranging from 6% to 12% (2021: 5% to 36%) per
annum.

A typical loan generally has a term of 6 months to 15 months
(2021: 6 months to 1.5 years).

AEEMRARKEFEKENEERROR
B - WABTTEHE »

R-T-—#=-A=+—0 KEHEK
B X4 %E40,178,0008 L (ZF = — F ¢
46,318,000/ 7T) AEEMER - AW
FERMERILETRE - REEEEBFA
WHEEHNBERT - TEHEEKMEEH
ERG - IFENERER R 2 R EW
mERB - N AEERKEREE
65,000,000 7T (= Z = — 4 : 35,522,000
L) BEBME = A REERNEEFE
e
T -F=ZA=+—H AEBEZER
AN T6%E12% 2 B FFRFE (=
—4F 1 5%%36%) °

A omE S

“ ~UH M

ER—RERRHREZISEAR (=2
fﬁ C6EAE154E) o

\IE
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_F=A=+—HILFE

23. BRER @)

23. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at the end of the reporting period, the maturity profile of
loan receivables, based on loan draw down date or loan last
rollover date, if applicable, is as follows:

RIESR - EREFIERABRERRR
MERERER B H (HEm) 2 BKEREH
BfpRESIT -

Within 30 days 30HA

31 to 90 days 31HZE90H

91 to 180 days 91HE180H
More than 180 days but within one year — #Bi8180B{B15E R
Over one year TBiB1F

Less: Impairment B RE

Details of the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from
loan receivables and the reconciliation of changes in gross
carrying amount and allowances for loan receivables are set
out in note 42 (B)(b)(i).

At 31 March 2021 and 2022, the directors of the Group
considered the credit risk relating to the credit impaired loan
receivables with reference to the assets which are held by the
Group as collateral. Expected credit loss of HK$6,500,000 (2021:
HK$6,500,000) was recognised for these credit-impaired loan
receivables with gross carrying amount of HK$6,500,000 (2021:
HK$6,500,000) as at 31 March 2022.

Definitions of Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 are detailed in note
42 (B)(b).

Expected credit loss of loan receivables
Expected credit loss in respect of loan receivables are recorded
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, in which case the
expected credit loss is written off against loan receivables
directly in accordance with the accounting policy of the
Company.

Legendary Group Limited
1EE it

Annual Report 2022

BRAEBREEBR L E S RKFIRE LR
EERRBRIAN IR E S8 MW E RS
RV AR IR BB EE42B) (D))

RZEZ—FR=_F-__F=RA=+—8"
Mﬁ%ﬁ%l%%ﬁﬁ%ZéE'$%li

REEERRKEEEREREKEIER -
RZZEZZF=R=+—0  EHEERAE
#36,500,0007% 7T (ZZF = —% : 6,500,000/
*>M?$ﬁﬂﬁ@$%E KRB EE
586,500,000/ 7T (ZZF = —%F : 6,500,000
BIT) ©

I EL - SEOPEER M EEIPE B 2 E &AM R
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ERERBBEESE

U ER 2 BREEEBERIERBRERA
fR o BOFREEEALEERKDATS - B
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
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24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM DIRECTORS 24, BIWESNIE
Maximum
amount
outstanding
during the year 2022 2021
FAZREBRE
BHIERHE —EIF T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT T FATT
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum RIBRIE 2,757 - 2,757
Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin PRI RS- 2,905 - 2,905
- 5,662
The amounts due from directors were unsecured, non-trade EWESEFIELAEER FEHNE - &
nature, with interest-bearing of 5% and repayable on demand. 5%t B R BARBEREE - ZHREDREE
The amounts were fully repaid during the year ended 31 March TR CF-A=T-RIEFERHEER -
2022.
25. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE 25. FEWEEE A RIRRIE
Maximum
amount
outstanding
during the year 2022 2021
FAR=MAKE
BRHIBSH = B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FA&TT FHT FAT
Quick Capital Quick Capital 6,230 6,230 6,230
The amount due from an associate was unsecured, non-trade JEMHE & AT RIBAERR  EBEHHE
nature, interest-free and repayable on demand. RENIBIRERIEE -

AXEAREERAR
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26.

27.

168

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets mandatorily measured at

FVTPL TRUEE
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong —RBEB LM ZBRAES
- Investment funds —REE®

g@%”ﬁi :F{Eﬁ»)\%g E+EZ

26. BAFEFTABENEREE

The Group's financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
represents the Group’s equity investments in ordinary shares
of entities listed on the Stock Exchange, and investment funds
as they were held for trading.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2022, the fair value of the equity
securities listed in Hong Kong is based on the bid prices quoted
on the Stock Exchange at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2022, the fair value of the investment funds
is based on the quoted prices obtained from the investment
fund manager as at the end of the reporting period as the
investments in these investment funds are redeemable by the
Group based on such quoted prices.

Details of the fair value measurement hierarchy of the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are set out in note
42 (B)(@)(i).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at banks and on hand RITRFHEAE

27. BERBRSEEY

REBZANHEF BRSO SRIEERAS
B AR 22 P T B AR Y QZIKTxéT&&

BES  DHREERFEEEMS

KRB —FR-_TE-_—F=A=+—H"
REB LT ZBRAESH 2 A FETIRIBERR
EHIRB R R B AERTE -

R-E-—F=A=1+—H0 REEZ2ZAR
FEDREBENREPRREESIRMEZ
BENE - RARNZEREESNHRER
HASEREEHERERED -

BAFERABR E’J%mﬂlﬁ?ﬁ’] NFEFE
& AR FHISE M TE42(B)@)0)

Cash and cash equivalents in the
consolidated statement of financial SEEY
position

RiFA P BIRRER 2R E RE

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-__F=A=+—HILFE

. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. BESREAMEBNRIE

Trade payables B S 50R

Accrued staff salaries [EFTE TH e
Other accruals and payables HAibpErT 8 A R EMFRIE
Other financial liabilities compriseote below):  H fh 5> g B {8 £ $5(2 T
— Payables for acquisition of KC Training ~ — UYgB#&KC Training Company

Company Limited (see note 39(a)(i)) Limited FE{ 51718

(B K15E39@)0)

— Payables for acquisition of Brilliant Ever —— WREZEKIRIRAR A A ERT X

Global Limited (see note 39(a)(ii)) 1B (BH1:#39()i)
- Payable for acquisition of Bewisekid — U BEBewisekid Holding

Holding Limited (see note 39(b)(i) and Limitedf& 1< 5018

35B(a)) ( /%/3/7‘&39(0)(/)&353(3))
Analysed as: arv=
- Current — e
- Non-current — IR
Note: These represent contingent consideration payable by the Group Bfat - ZEFREARERMNSARE - LR

which are recognised as financial liabilities of the Group. REASENEHEE-

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the RREARENEZAHNE 5 - FRIER
reporting period based on the invoice date is as follows: EOWT

Over 90 days

AXEAREERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_F=A=+—HILFE

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities | (&
- Billings in advance of performance — BHIRIERE

BRAE

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s contract liabilities
represents the advances received from customers regarding
the provision of financial quotient and investment education
services and private supplementary education services.

The contract liabilities primarily related to below:

° advance consideration received from the customers
for the provision of financial quotient and investment
education and private supplementary education courses,
for which revenue is recognised when the services have
been rendered,

° certain customers are required to pay deposits when they
place the sales order, which resulted in contract liabilities
until the Group delivers the products and the customers
obtain control of the products.

There was no revenue recognised in the current reporting
period that related to performance obligations that were

satisfied in prior year.

The movements of contract liabilities are as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year FHERR

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result  RAETEF AL LA GEHEEZ
of recognising revenue during the R AS DB ERD

year that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year

Increase in contract liabilities as a result  FRTEWEE EEEEENL

RZBEZ_F=A=1+—H0 ARANEL
BB IR B MR EHE RIEIARFLL
EBVHA RI% B B WV EL K

H>

AHRBTIERTIIRERR

IR R R AR BB PA R AL H B
HEREBEFPKIAMNNKE - Hit
TRALAR 7% R AR RR A B M 2

o ETEFPAR NEHSIIERIE
& Wl (EErEERNERA
BEESHEMMNITHEIEN) 64
afE -

AT S R SRR A RN BEFE T
ZBRHBEALH M -

BRABEHWT

29,808

(29.808)

24,994

of billing in advance of sales activities BRIBEEM
during the year
Balance at end of the year FRER

24,994

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Amount repayable within 1 year or on
demand
- Bank loan, unsecured
— Other borrowings, unsecured

—RITIEE - EIER
—HEE - KR

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-ZT_—_F=A=+—HILFE

30. RITREMIES

The carrying amounts of the above
borrowings are repayable:
— Within one year —R—FA

The Carrying amounts of the above

borrowings that contains a repayment (E\Ji%mbib:é1 ) &
on demand clause (shown under %féfzﬁﬁﬁﬁ
current liabilities) and are repayable:

— Within one year -R—FR

BiEMEE 2 REE

BERBFERKE T’)\

2021

T —F
HK$'000
FET

The bank loan of HK$5,000,000 is unsecured, interest bearing
at 2.75% per annum.

The other borrowings of HK$11,200,000 was secured, interest
bearing at 10.0% per annum and was fully repaid during the
year ended 31 March 2022.

The other borrowings were secured and guaranteed by:
. pledges over the Group’s investment property with an

aggregate carrying amount at the end of the reporting
period 31 March 2021 of HK$20,000,000; and

° personal guarantees provided by Mr. Yuen Yu Sum, an
executive director of the Company.

£R 77 B 3X5,000,00078 It A& #E I 3H  IFF
R 75%FT B o

H & 511,200,000 T B IR R EF
MEI00%:T ERERBE-_T-_—F=4
=T HALFERHEE -

HAEERBIA T EFEIR RIER

e AKREBMNBE_ZT - —F=F5
Zt+—BZREHRRZBAERES
20,000,000/ JT Ky 1% & W) S (B 1
&

o  ARFRTEFRHMARLLRHENE
AFER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-_F=A=+—HILFE

31.

32.

LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HEEE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities TREFMEENHERERE R KBAR
of the Group's lease liabilities at the end of the current and HHIRHB T AL EER

previous reporting period:

ENEERE

Lease liabilities payable:

— Within one year —1FRN

— Within a period of more than one — HBB1FETBIBE2FH
year but not exceeding two years A

— Within a period of more than two — HIE2F (BT BASF
years but not exceeding five years LIS

Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 5 : GiEh&aE IETFﬁ/T\BM%IH

months shown under current NEHEERR
liabilities
Amount due for settlement after 12 ERBBEE TN 12(E A%
months shown under non-current FIEEE MFIR
liabilities 14,783
As at 31 March 2022, the lease liabilities amounting to R_ZT_—_F=A=+—HB HAEHE
HK$1,580,000 (2021: HKS$NIl) related to leases of motor vehicle P! F’%ZTE?‘?EJ*?% 580,000/ T (=T =—
which total net carrying amount of HK$2,135,000 (2021: HKS$NIl). FTEIL) - BEREFEA2,135,0008 T

All other lease liabilities related to leases of properties. ZEIFTEm) FEHMEERE

PROVISION FOR LITIGATION 32. A

Litigation claim

The litigation claim brought against Sino Shine Retailing HHBZEARR AT ([FHIE]) IRIEMFA
Limited (“Sino Shine”) arose from a repudiatory breach of a RETEEBRNITERTIE (1’Eﬁ'ﬂ¥<fﬁ
tenancy agreement between Sino Shine as the tenant and an AN B—ZBUE=HERN T —R"F+
independent third party landlord entered into on 27 October AZ++tREN 2 HEwRE -

2016.

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. PROVISION FOR LITIGATION (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group received
a writ of summons in relation to a repudiatory breach of a
tenancy agreement between the plaintiff, an independent
third party landlord, and Sino Shine Retailing Limited, then
a subsidiary of the Group, entered into on 27 October 2016,
which the plaintiff is claiming the Group for, inter alia, damages
in the sum of approximately HK$1,735,000 plus interest. The
directors of the Company consider that it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, and the Group has recognised the provision of
HK$1,735,000, which is considered as a reliable estimate that
can be made.

Though Sino Shine was disposed by the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2020, according to the terms in the agreement
for sale and purchase of shares in Sino Shine with the buyer of
Sino Shine, the legal claim incurred for Sino Shine which related
to event before the date of disposal on 20 September 2019
shall be payable by the Group. Accordingly, the provision for
litigation claim of HK$1,735,000 remained a liability of the Group
as at 31 March 2021 and 2022. Based on the consultations with
the Company'’s legal counsel, the directors of the Company
consider that the claim is well covered by the provision made
and would not result in any further material adverse impact on
the financial position or results and operations of the Group.

32.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

ny

AR (@)
REE-T-NFZA=1t—BILFE K~
SEKHFRROEERRSE (BlI—28iL
F=NER) BAKEER —MHREIRIT
BEZERFRAFN T RETA-+LHR
I HERZEHEMSI - RE (AP
BIE) R R4K91,735,000/8 TTEV IR K S N F
BRAREERE - RRABEEDQHRFA
AR BLEN DAL - R AR ERER
81,735,000/ 7T * ZBEEEBIRRAREHL
SRR I SEfA T

BEAEEANEBE_T-_TFE=-f=1+—H
IFFEEBABEE - Al REAEHA
FHEBNE R 2 MFT LD B & i P&
P HERBERNEERH -2 —FNA
ZTHAZEHBENAERERAAE
EEM Bl RZE-—FR-F-—F
ZA=+—H " FAREEE1,735000%
TANAERARE —IBRE - KA ARAT
LR - ARFESRRZREHMER
HFR R E BT g AN E BB AR S
EEEENEME—TEATHTE -

AXEAREERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-Z-—_F=A=+—HILFE

33. EEHRAEERRE

33. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

174

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

TRAMMBEARE 0 2R IRLHD
I

Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax assets

BEERERE
BT IR A B

122

122

The components of deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
and the movements during the year are as follows:

RERREPBIRRR AR ERIEHRIAR
BEREEMARRESHNT

Depreciation

allowances

in excess

of related
deprecation Total

AR E
ZITERE et
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET

As at 1 April 2020 and 30 April 2021 RZZE_TFNA—HK

—E-—FNA=1+H 122
Disposal of subsidiary HERB AT (108)
As at 31 March 2022 WZZE-_—_F=A=+—H 14

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$59,403,000 (2021: HK$63,928,000) available
for offset against future profits that may be carried forward
indefinitely. No deferred tax asset was recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2022 (2021: HK$NIl) since it is not probable that future taxable
profits against which the losses can be utilised will be available
in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences in respect of accumulated provision for
allowance of credit losses of approximately HK$7,775,000 (2021:
HK$8,525,000). No deferred tax assets has been recognised in
related to such deductible temporary difference as it is not
probable that the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised in the foreseeable future.

Legendary Group Limited
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RZE__F=A=+—H K x£EHEEX
&) 7 T8 5 18 4959,403,0008 7T (— & = —
F : 63,928,000/ 7T ) A ALK 85 7] A2 4% IR AP
HEHEEREMN RZEZ—F=A=+—
B - BRERRH Al A R X E EE 1 N AT AL
H IR R R SR A A B A B R T 1R - M
BEGAVUBRARPHERELHBEE
(ZZ=—%F THmx) -

RBEER AEEREREEBFRRR
BB A B 2 0] H00R T B 2 S 497,775,00078
gL (ZZF = —4F : 8,525,000/ 7T) > HH A
MR E R ZEERAA BN A8 R AR R EE
FA MO Ak A T T R B A R R SRR AT
MIBEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

34. PROMISSORY NOTE PAYABLES 34. BRAEAEE

The carrying amount of the promissory RS EEZEREEANAT

note payables are repayable: A (EE -

Amount due for settlement after 12 JEREBEE AR 12[E A%
months shown under non-current BIER L EFA
liabilities

Movements in promissory note payable — fEfF G EREEIMT -
are as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year FEaEA
Consideration on acquisition of W EB AR ZRE
subsidiaries (note below) (B F3CHfsr)
Repayment during the year FRIER
Balance at end of the year FRES
Note: The promissory note payables settled in previous year comprised it - BEFEAE 2 ENERLERELRE
of:
(i) HK$40,000,000 which was unsecured, interest bearing at 0] 40,000,000/ 7T * A IR - 7
5% per annum; and K H5% &
(i) HK$41,000,000 which was unsecured, interest bearing at (i) 41,000,000 7T« BEIKIE - FF
3% per annum. K AE3% °
On 17 August 2020, the Group acquired the entire equity interest RZZEZZTFNA+ER  AEBEAMES
in Zone Galaxy Limited from Mr. Lam Yat Nam, an independent eI EEZone Galaxy LimitedZ 2 SPAs#
third party, at total consideration of HK$40,000,000, which was RAB 4B /40,000,000 7T + JHIREITARA
satisfied by issue of promissory note by the Company. AIERAEBRA IR -

AIREEEEERAE
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34.

35.

176

PROMISSORY NOTE PAYABLES (Continued)

On 27 October 2020, the Group entered into sale and purchase
agreement with Mr. Yuen Yu Sum pursuant to which the Group
agreed to purchase the remaining 70% of equity interests in
Prestige Concord at the consideration of HK$80,000,000. The
consideration was satisfied (i) as to HK$41,000,000 by issue of
promissory note by the Group, (i) as to HK$29,000,000 by the
assumption of the liabilities owed by Mr. Yuen Yu Sum to the
Group; and (jii) as to HK$10,000,000 by cash. The transaction
was completed on 31 March 2021 and Prestige Concord
became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, all of the Group’s
outstanding promissory note were settled.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

34. BEARRERE (&)

MRZZE-EF+A-++B - rEFEE
WREEIVEE W - Bt AEEER
[& E Ut BEPrestige Concordfs T70%P% #
K {& /580,000,000 7T ° B () A%
77 3 B H541,000,00078 7T ¢ ()= IR T
A IR AN 52 B EE B (529,000,000 7T 5 K (i)
I 910,000,000 Tz A REZMN - RHE
R-ZT=—F = A =+—H5EM &Prestige
Concordp A&z 2 &K B AT

REBE-ZF-__F=-A=1+—RALFE K
SEDHERIREFTZALTE -

35. RARREE
Number of
shares
B8 AE

Authorised: ERE
At 1 April 2020 (ordinary shares of RZZZZFFHA—H (§0.04%

HK$0.04 each) TC2ERR) 12,500,000,000 500,000
Capital Reorganisation fEARE 4 4,987,500,000,000 -
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 NZZE-_—F=A=1+—H8BxK

(ordinary shares of HK$0.0001 each) —Z=—4pJH—H (F}%0.0001

BTz Lk 5,000,000,000,000 500,000
Effect on share consolidation to i 15 & =B H0.00058 T 2 &

HK$0.0005 each (4,000,000,000,000) -
At 31 March 2022 (ordinary share of WZZ-——F=H=+—

HK$0.0005 each) (&1%0.0005/% 7T Z% 1,000,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid EEITRARE
At 1 April 2020 (ordinary shares of RZZZZTFHA—H (F0.04%

HK$0.04 each) TL2 E B 1,280,000,000 51,200
Capital Reorganisation R A E 4R N/A (51,072)
Placing of shares At E Rk fH 255,984,000 26
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZE-_—F=A=1+—HBK

(ordinary shares of HK$0.0001 each) —Z=—#pmA—A (FH%0.0001

Bz Eimk) 1,535,984,000 154
Issue of shares BITRR D 246,296,296 24
Exercise of share options 1T B A 10,000,000 1
Share Consolidation of HK$0.0005 F[%0.00058 T2 I8 fh & F

each (1,433,824,237) -
At 31 March 2022 (ordinary share of WZZ-—F=H=+—

HK$0.0005 each) (&1%0.0005/% 7T Zjé: 358,456,059 179
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at general meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares
rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

A. Movement during the year ended 31
March 2021
(a) Capital Reorganisation
The Company completed a capital reorganization
("Capital Reorganisation”) during the year which
included the followings:

(i)

(iif)

capital reduction (“Capital Reduction”)
whereby the share capital of the Company
would be reduced by (1) cancellation of
HK$0.0399 paid-up capital on each issued
share such that each issued share was treated
as one fully paid-up share of HK$0.0001
each (the “New Share”) in the capital of the
Company; and (2) the reduction of the par
value of each and every unissued share from
HK$0.04 to HK$0.0001,

share premium cancellation whereby upon
the Capital Reduction becoming effective,
the entire amount standing to the credit of
the share premium account of the Company
would be cancelled (“Share Premium
Cancellation”),

the credit arising from the Capital Reduction
and Share Premium Cancellation would be
applied towards offsetting the accumulated
losses of the Company as at the effective
date of the Capital Reduction. The balance of
credit after offsetting, would be transferred
to a distributable reserve account of the
Company and be applied for such purposes
as permitted by all applicable laws and the
memorandum and articles of association of
the Company and as the board of directors
considers appropriate; and

35.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

B ()

BB B A RRET SRS, -
WHEBBHERRABRRAG LFE—R
FORIE - AL BRIGYARA 2 FIBEE

SHRASHR -

A BE-ZE-_—-F=H=1+—H

It FECE#E
(a) BAEA
ARARAFEETRBAE

B (TRABA]) - %5 R
TR -

0]

(iii)

AXEAREERAR

R A Ei R (TR A H
L) B ARFIAR
#5358 38 LA 75 2 HIRL -
WEHESREHITEN
0.03998 TLH BB B AN
N EREZEITRMD AR
RARRIRAFZREE
0.00018 TTH) — B SR ik
o (I BD) - k@ =
BARFEITROOEER
0.047% JT Il )R £0.0001/8
JT

SRR AR (E - B - R
BRAHDR AR - ANAE]
Bty (BRI #ERR 2 2 A6
AR R ([FEEK
&) :

B AN B K A S A ) e
EEZERSRIEHEARR
AR AR AR B2
REHE AL - PR EAR
Bl Z RETEA o HIRIER
ERBESEREANA
Ao IkEER R B
AP AR R B2 B E
BRAM AR PTERT A
EEeRRAEZAE
)52
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

35. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
A. Movement during the year ended 31
March 2021 (continued)
(a) Capital Reorganisation (Continued)

(iv)  immediately following the Capital Reduction,
the authorised share capital of the Company
would be increased from HK$1,250,000
divided into 12,500,000,000 New Shares of par
value of HK$0.0001 each to HK$500,000,000
divided into 5,000,000,000,000 New Shares of
par value of HK$0.0001 each, by the creation
of 4,987,500,000,000 additional New Shares
of par value of HK$0.0001 each.

At the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 23 March 2020 (the "EGM"),
the proposed resolution to approve the Capital
Reorganisation and the transactions contemplated
thereunder was duly passed as a special resolution
by way of poll by the shareholders.

Subsequent to the passing of the resolution at the
EGM, the Capital Reorganisation would become
effective after the other conditions were fulfilled,
inter alia, the approval from The Grand Court of the
Cayman Islands (the “Court”) and registration of the
order of the Court confirming the Capital Reduction
and the minutes approved by the Court containing
the particulars required under the Companies Law
(2020 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, as amended
or modified from time to time, with respect to the
Capital Reduction.

The Capital Reorganisation was confirmed by an
Order of the Court on 7 October 2020 and all
conditions were fulfiled. The Capital Reorganisation
was completed at the same date.

Legendary Group Limited
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A. BE

—E2--%=A=+-—H

I FEZBE (&)

(a)

RAEAR (&)

(v)  EBE R A HIRE - K
RAIEERAEE B
1,250,000% T (H A
12,500,000,0000% & B% &
180.00017% 7T ) ¥ B 19)
# 40 Z500,000,0007 7T
(% 45,000,000,000,000
B% & % ™ 180.00017% T
BFTARG) + R RILER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
A. Movement during the year ended 31
March 2021 (continued)
(b) Placing of shares

On 27 November 2020, the Company entered into
the Placing Agreement with the Placing Agent,
pursuant to which, the Company has conditionally
agreed to place, through the Placing Agent up
to 255,984,000 Placing Shares to not less than
six independent Placees at the Placing Price of
HK$0.345 per Placing Share. The condition of the
Placing has been fulfilled and the completion of the
Placing took place on 22 December 2020.

The Placing Price represents (i) a discount of
8.00% to the closing price of HK$0.375 per Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 27 November
2020, being the date of the Placing Agreement; and
(i) a discount of approximately 6.76% to the average
closing price per Share of HK$0.370 as quoted on
the Stock Exchange for the last five consecutive
trading days up to and including 26 November 2020,
being the date immediately preceding the date of
the Placing Agreement.

B. Movement during the year ended 31
March 2022

(a)

Issue of shares

Pursuant to the announcement of the Company
on 26 July 2021, the vendor of the acquisition of
Bewisekid Holding Limited, Mr. Poon Chi Ming has
fulfilled his obligation in relation to the guaranteed
profits and thus 246,296,296 consideration shares
were allotted and issued to the vendor accordingly
on 26 July 2021 (see note 39 (b)(i) relating to the
acquisition Bewisekid Holding Limited). The issue
of the consideration shares is within the limit of the
General Mandate and is not subject to any approval
by the Shareholders of the Company.

All new shares rank pari passu in all aspects with
each other in accordance with the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company

#

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

E-_T-__HF=-A=+—HItFE

35. BARfE @)
A. BE-E-_-=ZA=t+-—H
IEFEZB8 ()
(b) EERHD

WZEZZF+—-HA=Z++t
B KAFWESRIEBT IR
EhE BUHALFAEFIK
HRBZEBRRENRERTD
RANBBEBLEARARERS
255,984,000/% B & g + BL &
BRTREERN0.345F T °
IeEFE 2 RHEEEER - B
REFHEER T _ZTF+=
RAZ+ZHA%K -

BREEER : (RMR=_ZZE=ZF
F+—HAZ++tR8 (AREH
FEH) BB ®RZW
T {8 & A% A% 190.3757 7T 3T &
8.00% : Kk HEZERS
BEZE-EF+—HA=+H
(BEEREHERHNZA
H) AErAEEEXSBE
B TR 2 M T (B AR
1& 17 0.37078 LT 78 £96.76% ©

B. BZ-F-_—_%=H=t—H
HFEEZEE

(@

BITRG
BREAQRIR-_ZT-_—Ft
AZ+XXEB®HAM: WE
Bewisekid Holding Limited
WERESHEEEEBITH
FHRFRMNOETS At
246,296,296 X B & fh B R
—E-—FEAZF+NBHEE
MEBERBETTER (RME
39(b)i) - A B U HEBewisekid
Holding Limited) - 217K EH
BR—MEEZRESEA
ARG AR R B -

RBAR R BABERAM A
A PTBEFEDES T E R

FHRSER

AXEAREERAR

2022 £k 179
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

35. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
Movement during the year ended 31
March 2022 (continued)

(b) Exercise of share options

180

B.

(c)

On 16 August 2021, 10,000,000 ordinary shares
of the Company of HK$0.0001 each were issued
upon the exercise of 10,000,000 share options (see
note 36).

All new shares rank pari passu in all aspects with
each other in accordance with the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company

Share Consolidation

Pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholders
passed at an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company on 24 September 2021, every five
issued and unissued ordinary shares with a par
value of HK$0.0001 each in the share capital of
the Company were consolidated into one ordinary
share with a par value of HK$0.0005 each, such
that the authorised share capital of the Company
is HK$500,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000,000
shares with a par value of HK$0.0005 each, the
subdivided shares shall rank pari passu in all
aspects with each other in accordance with the
memorandum and articles of association of the
Company,

Details of the Share Consolidated are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 25 August
2021, 24 September 2021, 27 September 2021
and 1 November 2021 and the circular dated 8
September 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
Movement during the year ended 31
March 2022 (continued)

Details of the Group's reserves are as follows:

B.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium account of the Company
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on
which a dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
instrument designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that
are held at the end of the reporting period.

Special reserve

Special reserve represented the difference between
the nominal amount of the share capital and share
premium of a former subsidiary of the Company
and the nominal amount of the share capital issued
by the Company pursuant to a group reorganization
in prior years.

Other reserve

Other reserve arose from the waiver of loan from a
controlling shareholder of the Company in previous
years.

Share option reserve

Share option reserve represent equity reserve
arising from equity-settled share option expense
under share option scheme of the Company
provided to directors and employees.

#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

36.

182

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 25 September 2014
for the primary purpose of providing incentives or rewards to
eligible participants, and will expire on 10 October 2024, after
which no further options will be granted.

Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Company may
grant options to:

(@ any employee or proposed employee (whether fulltime
or part-time and including any executive director),
consultants or advisers of or to the Company, any of the
subsidiaries or any entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which
the Company holds an equity interest;

(b) any non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any of the
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;,

() any supplier of goods or services to the Company or any
of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;,

(d) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(e) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any
Invested Entity; and

(f)  any shareholders or any shareholder of any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity.

On 14 July 2020, a total of 10,000,000 share options were
granted to Mr. Yuen Yu Sum, an executive Director of the
Company to subscribe for shares of HK$0.04 each of the
Company under the share option scheme of the Company
adopted on 25 September 2014, subject to acceptance of
the Grantee and the payment of HK$1 by the Grantee upon
acceptance of the Options.

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

On 26 March 2021, a total of 127,992,000 share options were
granted to certain grantees to subscribe for an aggregate of
127,992,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.0001 each in the share
capital of the Company under the share option scheme of
the Company adopted on 25 September 2014, subject to
acceptance of the Grantees and the payment of HK$1 by each
of the Grantees upon acceptance of the Options.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the Company'’s shareholders. The number
of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options
granted and may be granted to any individual in any one year
is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company'’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options may be
exercised at any time from the date of grant of the share
option. The exercise price is determined by the directors of
the Company, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
average closing price of the ordinary shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option
(which must be a business day), and (i) the closing price of
the ordinary shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option (which must
be a business day).

Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share in the Company and is settled gross in shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
The following share options were outstanding under the share
options during the year:

Share option granted in 2021: -
Balance at beginning of the year FENEEAR

T ERHZBRE

. IBRESTE (®)
7R PR IR B AR 581 4 R 7T 8 O B AR
T

Number of share options
BREHE

2022
—E_C

137,992,000

(10,000,000)
(102,393,600)

Granted during the year FREH
Exercised during the year FRITE
Effect of Share Consolidation RGPS &
Forfeited during the year FRKK
Balance at end of the year FRER

25,598,400 137,992,000

Weighted average exercise price (HKS)

nEFHITEE (BT)

1.650

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting periods are as
follows:

Number of share options

Exercise price (HK$)

AR BAR 14 R T M AR A1 T{E (B 7T
FEALNTE -

Exercise period

BREHE iTHEE (GB)

ASs at 31 March 2021
R —F=H=+—H

1T

10,000,000 0.227 From 14 July 2020 to 13 July 2030
B EF+A+NBE-_ZE=F+A+=H
127,992,000 0.330 From 26 March 2021 to 31 March 2031
B2 - —F=-A-t+tR"HEZZE=—F=ZA=+—H

137,992,000

ASs at 31 March 2022
R-E-_—_F=ZA=+—H
25,598,400 1.650

—F£=/F=+/XH

From 26 March 2021 to 31 March 2031
E2-F=-—F=A=+—H

The share options are fully vested upon the acceptance of
the grant.

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE_T-_—_F=A=+—BHItFE

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 36. ERESTE (®)
During the year ended 31 march 2021, 137,992,000 share REBZE_Z-_—F=ZA=+—HILEFE-
options were granted. The estimated fair value of the share 137,992,000 Rl EE R L - HE =T
options granted during the year ended 31 March 2021 was “—F=A=1T—HILFE  HHEHOERE
HK$5,437,000, of which the Group recognised a share option B 1f 5T A F (B 55,437,000 7T - &R AE
expense of HK$5,437,000 during the year ended 31 March 2021. EREE-E-—F=A=1+—HILFE®

SRR ERT 55,437, 00058 7T °

No share options were granted during the year ended 31 HE-ZT-_—F=A=+—HILFEHE
March 2022. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the option BREAMERE - HE_T-__F=A1
holder of the 10,000,000 share options exercised the options =+—H1LFZ - 10,000,000 BE f & 2 BB
and subscribed for 10,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company H&ﬁéﬁ*ﬁ/\ﬁfiﬁ%ﬁx%jr%%m,ooo,oooﬂx
(see note 35 (B)(b)). Further, the number of the outstanding AAwE @k (RHEESSB)D0) © thih + 7
127,992,000 share option was adjusted to 25,298,400 upon the FRRMDEMHE - = ﬂiﬁﬁm BRREHE
Share Consolidation during the year (see note 35 (B)(c)) and F1127,992,0007 78 #& 2£25,298,40015 (5,
details of which are set out in the Company’s announcement FE35(B)(C)) * HFBEHR ARG RAE=E
dated 27 September 2021. Z—FNRAZTERHRM o
The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during HEZT-—F=A=+—HIFE mE
the year ended 31 March 2021 was estimated as at the dates HE AR EEE N ERE A TFEREEB
of grant using a binomial model, taking into account the terms HAf A A REE TR - R ARBRRIE
and conditions upon which the share options were granted. TERR I B IR B -
The following table lists the inputs to the model used: TRIIE P AEXABAE
B
Dividend yield (%) 1% B K (%) 0-2%
Expected volatility (%) i‘ﬁ Hﬁ/)fzfpga( 34.93%-35.24%
Risk-free interest rate (%) ¥ 1 2 (%) 0.492%-1.381%
Forfeiture rate (%) 5§H§ZT %) 58%
The expected life of the share options is based on the historical BRENTETFHIERBE=FNELH
data over the past three years and is not necessarily indicative B RORERABEEFAENTTERL o FBEK
of the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility W e B RR B SR IR BE SR SR R PR 2
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative EERBERAR LI o
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome.
No other feature of the share options granted was incorporated SEAFERBENADE D ERENE M
into measurement of fair value. FEE o

AXEAREERAR
2022 £k 185



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022

37.

38.

186

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions
to the plan vest immediately.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$488,000 (2021:
HK$204,000) represents contributions paid to the MPF scheme
by the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021. As at 31 March
2022, there were no material forfeitures available to offset the
Group'’s future contributions (2021: HK$Nil).

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Transaction and balances with related
parties
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions and balances with related party during the
year:

Related company controlled by
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum
— Rental income from course center
received
- Management fee income received

37.

38.

HR#REEEFNEE DR
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BERKEF
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I8
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Other than the above, the Company had the other
transaction and balances with related parties:

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Transaction and balances with related
parties (continued)

Financing arrangement

During the year ended 31 March 2020, a shareholder of
the Company advanced loans of HK$9,720,000 to the
Group, which is unsecured, interest-bearing at 4.5%-
5.0% per annum and repayable within 24 months from
the draw down dates. The outstanding loan balance was
fully repaid during the year ended 31 March 2021. The
interest expense on loans from a shareholder during the
year ended 31 March 2021 amounted to HK$104,000.

Other transactions

As at 31 March 2021, the Group acquired the remaining
70% of equity interests in Prestige Concord from Mr.
Yuen Yu Sum and Prestige Concord became a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group.

Mr. Yuen Yu Sum, an executive director of the Company,
is interested in this transaction or arrangement to the
extent that Prestige Concord is controlled by him.

Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other
members of key management of the Group during the
year was as follows:

Salaries, wages and other benefits

Equity-settled share option expense

Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

R I IRARMEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
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39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2022

188

(M

KC Training Company Limited

On 20 September 2021, the Company, Able Glorious
Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability, a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and Mr. Chung
Kar Ho Carol (the “KC Training Vendor”) entered
into the sale and purchase agreement in relation
to the acquisition of the entire equity interest in KC
Training Company Limited, a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability,
which is wholly-owned by the KC Training Vendor
for a consideration of HK$9,000,000 (the "KC
Training Consideration”).

KC Training Company Limited, through its subsidiary,
is principally engaged in holding development
and training programs (the “Training Programs”)
with an aim to enhance selling techniques and
communication skills of the customers. The Training
Programs are specifically designed for the insurance
brokers and agents, who wish to enhance their
sales performance and customer relationships.
The directors of the Company consider that the
acquisition of KC Training Company Limited will
facilitate the Group to further expand the business
scope and revenue stream of the Financial Quotient
and Investment Education Business and is in line
with the business development strategy of the
Group.

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)

(M

KC Training Company Limited (Continued)

On 11 November 2021, the Company, Able
Glorious Limited and KC Training Vendor entered
into a supplemental agreement (the “KC Training
Supplemental Agreement”) and the principal
amendments contemplated under the KC Training
Supplemental Agreement are set out below:

1. The KC Training Consideration to the Vendor
has been amended and restated as follows:

The KC Training Consideration of HK$9,000,000
(subject to the adjustments) shall be satisfied
by Able Glorious Limited by four instalments
according to the following schedule:

()  First instalment in the sum of
HK$2,000,000 will be satisfied upon
completion of the acquisition in the
following manner:

(@) asto HK$1,000,000 by cash; and

(b) settlement of debts of
HK$1,000,000 owed by the KC
Training Vendor to KC Training
Company Limited (the “KC
Training Assumed Liabilities”).

#
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39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)
(i) KC Training Company Limited (Continued)

190

The KC Training Consideration to the Vendor
has been amended and restated as follows:
(Continued)

(i)  Second instalment in the sum
of HK$3,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) will be satisfied within
14 business days upon issuance of
the audited financial statements of the
company for the year ending 31 March
2022 in the following manner:

(@ asto HK$1,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) in cash; and

(b)  asto HK$2,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) by the issue of the
promissory note in the principal
amount of HK$2,000,000 by the
Company to the KC Training
Vendor (or its nominee(s)) (the
"KC Training Promissory Note A").

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)
(i) KC Training Company Limited (Continued)

1. The KC Training Consideration to the Vendor
has been amended and restated as follows:
(Continued)

(i)  Third instalment in the sum of
HK$3,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) will be satisfied within
14 business says upon issuance of
the audited financial statements of the
company for the year ending 31 March
2023 in the following manner:

(@  asto HK$1,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) in cash; and

(b)  asto HK$2,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) by the issue of the
promissory note in the principal
amount of HK$2,000,000 by the
Company to the KC Training
Vendor (or its nominee(s)) (the
"KC Training Promissory Note B").

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

. WEBHMEAR (@)
(@ RBE-ZFE-__F=A=+-—
HIEFE (&)
() KC Training Company
Limited (&)

1.

F AT} ZKC Trainingft
BRETREHROT :
(#)
(ifi) = H§ $£3,000,000
7T (A] T 38 %)
REE=ZT==
F=A=+—H1t
FEZARRNFEE
RIS MK EMmE
T IO{E B R
AT A

pu]

%
B
é}

S

@ NHEEXH
1,000,000/
T (A F
)R

) #H @ H X
A & mKC
Training&
7 (s A R
B AN) AT
RNeeBER
2,000,000
7 7T B K,
£ & ([KC
Training/ i,
Z BB)) X
£$2,000,000
& (A T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

192

(Continued)

(@) During the year ended 31 March 2022

(i) KC Training Company Limited (Continued)

1. The KC Training Consideration to the Vendor
has been amended and restated as follows:
(Continued)

(iv)

Legendary Group Limited
Annual Report 2022

Fourth instalment in the sum
of HK$1,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) will be satisfied by the
issue of the promissory note in the
principal amount of HK$1,000,000 by
the Company to the KC Training Vendor
(or its nominee(s)) within 14 business
days upon issuance of the audited
financial statements of the company for
the year ending 31 March 2024 (the “KC
Training Promissory Note C", together
with the “KC Training Promissory Note
A" and “KC Training Promissory Note B”,
the “KC Training Promissory Notes").

. WEBHMEAR (#)

(@ RBE-ZF-_—_F=A=+-—

HIEFE (&)

() KC Training Company
Limited (&)

FIAE H ZKC Trainingft

1.

{g %«( {

(%&)
(iv)

Rl BT

26 P4 HF $£1,000,000
7 ot (7] 7 # #)
=R = I NN
MKC Training= 75
(HEREA) R
HE-T-NFE=
A=+—HItFE
EoPNNSIF =5
B Mz T
& % HRETA
% & %8 /31,000,000
BT R A R R IE
([KC Trainingi# %,
FIRC] - BRI TKC
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)

(M

KC Training Company Limited (Continued)

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

39. WEEMBAR (@)

(@) MEBZE

—E--HE=A=+—

HIEFE (&)
() KC Training Company
Limited (&)

2. The KC Training Vendor irrevocably and 2. KC Training= 77 “~ 7]
unconditionally guarantees to Able Glorious 8 B & & 4 b mADle
Limited that the actual net profits for each of Glorious Limited#&{R &=
the three years ending 31 March 2022, 2023 T F T =F
and 2024 shall be no less than HK$2,000,000 EZZZNFE=RA=+—
(the “KC Training Guarantee Profit”). Hit=EFESFHER

4 F) 7 A~ 2> 52,000,000
7 7T ([KC Trainingiz 1%
) e
The principal terms of the KC Training XX EFIKC Training7# i,
Promissory Notes are as follows: FBRZFERR
Principal amount: HK$2,000,000 for KC Training Promissory Note A, HK$2,000,000 for

KC Training Promissory Note B and HK$1,000,000 for KC Training

Promissory Note C, with an aggregate amount of HK$5,000,000.
PN i B KC Training# X Z & A%2,000,0007 7T » KC Trainingi# < 2B A

2,000,0007% 7T }KC Trainingr# X, S #&C%1,000,000% 7T - 25 7%

5,000,000/ 7T, ©

Interest: 5% per annum from the date of issue of the KC Training
Promissory Notes and payable monthly in arrears

Fe B #%1TKC Training# 4 2% A B F XK 55% @ 1% A X

Maturity: 3 years from the date of issue of the KC Training Promissory
Notes

FIH B 277KC Training/é 3 Z98 B A 51345

Early repayment: The Company may pay to the Vendor prior to the maturity date

any outstanding principal amount (together with the outstanding
accrued interests) of the KC Training Promissory Notes

REEE AR AR E B BIM E 75 2 KC Training# & £ 2 R (EE
ReerE GERAREZETFL)

B

Bii

The completion date of the acquisition was on 11
November 2021.

WEEBEEXABA-T
——#F+—A+—H-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(a) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)
(i) KC Training Company Limited (Continued)

The acquisition has been accounted for as the
acquisition of business using the acquisition
method and the details are as follows:

39. WEBMIE AR ()
(@ RBE-TB-=—F=ZA=+-—
HIEFE &)
() KC Training Company
Limited (&)
ZWEEEEREBKED®
REEEAR  FEWT

HK$°000
TAT

KC Training Consideration transferred in ZWBEEREEN
the acquisition (note below): KC Training{ {8
(Ktatin )
— Cash consideration paid —BNRERE 1,000
— Other financial liabilities (note) —HEitberaE (Ait) 7,203
Total consideration BAE 8,203
Analysis of assets acquired and liabilities R B TR EERFT
recognised as at the date of acquisition BRANEBEI N (RERRFEE
determined on a provisional basis: EE) :
Intangible assets EmREE 975
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables TERFRIR ~ 1'E R HE MR RIE 1,339
Amount due from a director FEURE =508 830
Tax recoverable B E R 151
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRESEEY 1,700
Contract liabilities BHBEE (2,540
Accruals and other payables FEETE A I EL A FE A5 3008 (127)
Fair value of the net assets FEENATE 2,328
Less: KC Training Assumed Liabilities A, KC TrainingFrEdEa & (1,000)
Fair value of net assets acquired on the WHESTHE W FEER
acquisition NYEE 1,328
Goodwill on acquisition determined on a WEEE (REREEETE)
provisional basis:
Total consideration BARE 8,203
Fair value of net assets acquired BB FEEN A TE (1,328)
Goodwill kS 6,875
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WIBFIELENRESRAFE
Cash consideration paid ENReRE 1,000
Less: Cash and cash equivalents balances B WENRS RESEEY
acquired K (1,700)
(700)

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

39. WIBHIE AR (&)
(@ RBE-ZE-_—_F=A=+-—
HIEEE &)
KC Training Company

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)
(i) KC Training Company Limited (Continued) (i)

Note: At the date of acquisition, the Group recognised
as other financial liabilities of the Group and
measures the unpaid cash and other consideration
comprising the KC Training Promissory Notes
issuable by the Company upon meeting KC Training
Guarantee Profits at the present values of the
cash consideration that would be paid and the
KC Training Promissory Note that are expected
to be issued. Based on the assessment of the
management of the Company, the probability the
full amount of the contingent consideration would
not eventually have to be paid was not significant
at the date of acquisition and at the end of the
reporting period.

Goodwill which arose on the acquisition included
a control premium. The consideration paid for the
business combination effectively included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies,
revenue growth, future market development of
the company. These benefits are not recognised
separately from goodwill because they do not meet
the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible
assets. The goodwill is not deductible for income
tax purposes.

The initial accounting for the above acquisition in
the consolidated financial statements has been
determined provisionally as the Group is awaiting
the final results of an independent valuation
in relation to other intangible assets and other
net assets of KC Training Company Limited and
its subsidiary acquired in the transaction. The
valuation has not been completed by the date the
consolidated financial statements were approved.
Accordingly, the amounts of identifiable net assets
and goodwill as stated above may be subsequently
adjusted in the consolidated financial statements of
the Group in future.

Limited (&)

MiaE - RUREE B EE - AEERERA
AEBEZHMEREE I
BT ZRERERE
HA% F 317 ZKC Trainingi#
REBZREFERNES
REMRE  BERARFR
K KC Training/® =855 712
AIFEF7.2 KC Trainingi& s,
ZE - REAQREEEN
AT - PAUREE B A R R4S HR
K BREAINEZHEA
REMTTREELTEK ©

WIBEL 2B BRE#R
B RETEREBAHMX
2 KRB B 15 B T8 B 13 [7) U8
e WABRRE AR ZARK
MSRRAERZTHE - AR
ENm AN AR BB EE
ZHERZE - HULHI RER
BOFRER - mEAFER
FI1STAE

BN A & E IE S5 A RKC
Training Company Limited & £
MEBRRNRZ S 2 H
BREEREMEEFEZE
SMIAEZEEER B
BEBEREEMBIREZVIH
CHEENERET - BELK
AW REMARS  HE
BARTTA o Bt - bl e] 3R
EEFEREENSERLED
BN ARRAEE 24560
HEAIELFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)

196

(M

KC Training Company Limited (Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the profit for the year is HK$5,807,000
attributable to the additional business generated by
KC Training Company Limited. Revenue for the year
includes HK$7,519,000 generated from KC Training
Company Limited.

Had the acquisition of KC Training Company Limited
been completed on 1 April 2021, revenue for the
year of the Group from continuing operations
would have been HK$116,111,000, and profit for the
year from continuing operations would have been
HK$27,213,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of
the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2021, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit
of the Group had KC Training Company Limited
been acquired at the beginning of the current
year, the directors of the Company calculated
depreciation of property, plant and equipment
based on the recognised amounts of property, plant
and equipment at the date of the acquisition.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’s
announcement on 20 September 2021, 28 October
2021 and 11 November 2021.

Legendary Group Limited
Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. WERKMIEAR (&)

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2022 (@ RBE-ZE-_—_F=A=+-—
(Continued) HIEFE &)
(ii) Brilliant Ever Global Limited (i) FEKRIRBERDQF

On 31 March 2022, the Company, Able Glorious
Limited and Mr. Leung Yu Hang (the “Brilliant
Ever Vendor”) entered into the sale and purchase
agreement (the “Brilliant Ever Agreement”) in
relation to the acquisition of the entire equity
interest in Brilliant Ever Global Limited, a company
incorporated in BVI with limited liability, which was
wholly-owned by the Brilliant Ever Vendor, for a
consideration of HK$40,000,000 (the “Brilliant Ever
Consideration”).

Brilliant Ever Global Limited, through its subsidiary,
is principally engaged in provision of financial
quotient and investment experience sharing
courses in Hong Kong. The directors of the
Company expect that the acquisition of Brilliant
Ever Global Limited will create synergy effect to the
existing business lines to the extent that it would
allow the Group to conduct cross-selling and cross-
marking exercises for other investment courses
currently offered by the Group.

The Brilliant Ever Consideration of HK$40,000,000
shall be satisfied by the Company in the following
manner:

() First instalment in the sum of HK$7,000,000
has been satisfied in the following manner
upon signing of the Brilliant Ever Agreement:

(@) asto HK$6,000,000 in cash; and

(b)  settlement of debts of HK$1,000,000
owed by the Brilliant Ever Vendor
to Brilliant Ever Global Limited (the
“Brilliant Ever Assumed Liabilities”),

RZEZZF=A=+—8"
K@) ~ Able Glorious Limited
RRFEEE ([ZXER]D F
YEE WS ([ZFExipzE] - R
AB BB IRIRER A A
(—EREBRLRES MK
WERRAR) M EkE B
HKIRIKBRARIREKER
2EHA - R{E/340,000,0007%
7T ([ZEKRAED) -

FOKRMAR R RIEBENE
RETBEFENERHEYE
MIRBEERDZRIE - ARA
BEERY - WBFEKRRER
NAHRBRBGRELHR
MIE UAFAEEREHAA
SEBAAMRHOEMIRER
RETRIXNHEERRXXEFELE

B o

5K X f840,000,0007% 7T 1 Ha A
REWRIA T A -

() % — H £7,000,0007% 7T
BRERIE KR AT
BFALAT

(@ 6,000,000/ 7T A3
DT

() BEEKEHER
HAGRIKBR QA
21,000,000/ T {&
% ([ZEKFTEER
&) e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(a) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)
(ii) Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued)

198

(if)

(iii)

Second instalment in the sum of HK$6,000,000
(subject to the adjustments) will be satisfied
within 14 business days upon issue of the
audited financial statements of the company
for the year ending 31 March 2023 by issue
of the Promissory Note A to the Brilliant Ever
Vendor (or its nominee(s)) (the “Brilliant Ever
Promissory Note A”).

Third instalment in the sum of HK$9,000,000
(subject to the adjustments) will be satisfied
within 14 business days upon issue of the
audited financial statements of the company
for the year ending 31 March 2024 by issue
of the Promissory Note B to the Brilliant Ever
Vendor (or its nominee(s)) (the “Brilliant Ever
Promissory Note B").

Fourth instalment in the sum of HK$18,000,000
(subject to the adjustments) will be satisfied
within 14 business days upon issue of
the audited financial statements of the
company for year ending 31 March 2025
by issue of the Promissory Note C to the
Brilliant Ever Vendor (or its nominee(s)) (the
“Brilliant Ever Promissory Note C”, together
with the “Brilliant Ever Promissory Note A"
and “Brilliant Ever Promissory Note B”, the
“Brilliant Ever Promissory Notes”).

Legendary Group Limited

Annual Report 2022

39. WEMBAR (@)

(@) RBZE-—E-—F=A=+-—
RIS (&)
(i) FXKRBRARDFE (&)

(i)

(ifi)

(iv)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2022

(Continued)

(ii) Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued)
The Brilliant Ever Vendor irrevocably and
unconditionally guarantees to Able Glorious Limited
that the actual profits for each of year ending 31
March 2023, 2024 and 2025 shall be no less than
HK$5,000,000, HK$8,000,000 and HK$11,000,000,
respectively (the “Brilliant Ever Guaranteed
Profit(s)”).

The principal terms of the Brilliant Ever Promissory
Notes are as follows:

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BE_Z-_F=A=+—HItFE

. WEBHMEBAR (@)

() RBE=-B=-=—F=A=+-—
HIEFE &)
(i) FEXBRARART (&)

FEKE J AR R AR
MAble Glorious Limited{R#& -
BHE_ZT-=F - _T-_NF
E_ZE-_RAF=A=+—H1
FEEFEZEBRRMNED HIT
1> $25,000,000/% 7T * 8,000,000
7 7T $%.11,000,0007% JT (T2 5k
REHF]) -

TXHINFE AR RRZ T E
S/

Principal amount HK$6,000,000 for Brilliant Ever Promissory Note A, HK$9,000,000 for
Brilliant Ever Promissory Note B and HK$18,000,000 for Brilliant Ever

Promissory Note C

PN ek oK AL EBRAR6,000,000 7T+ F ok H R BB 49,000,000 7T K #E
K 3 ZR 5 C /18,000,000 7T

Interest 5% per annum from the date of issue of the Brilliant Ever Promissory
Notes and payable monthly in arrears

HE B EITEOKA N FR A R F N R A% E A BB

Maturity 3 years from the date of issue of the Brilliant Ever Promissory Notes

FI| 5 B BT Rk H IR B B G346

Early repayment The Company may pay to the Brilliant Ever Vendor prior to the maturity

date any outstanding principal amount (together with the outstanding
accrued interests) of the Brilliant Ever Promissory Notes

RFEER

fNa

The completion date of the acquisition was
completed on 31 March 2022.

ARBARBBMARAZKE S XNEXELZRZEAREERE S
# (ERAEEEFNE)

WEEEBELEET T HH
BT —F=RF=+—H-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)
(ii) Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued)
The acquisition has been accounted for as the
acquisition of business using the acquisition
method the details are as follows:

39. WEMBAR (&)
(@) RBE-E-_—F=A=1+-—
HIEEE &)
(i) FXBHRERAT (&)
W EEEALBKEEE
B  SHEmT

HK$'000
THTT

Brilliant Ever Consideration transferred in

ZYEBETERENEKRE

the acquisition (note below): (HizzaF) -
— Cash consideration paid -BRBESRE 6,000
— Other financial liabilities (note) —HibhemBE&E (1) 29,412
Total consideration BARE 35,412
Analysis of assets acquired and liabilities RN BTN EER IR
recognised as at the date of acquisition RNBES T GRERGEERE
determined on a provisional basis: E)
Fixed assets ERE 187
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,389
Intangible assets mREE 4,000
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables TERROE ke R EAMEWEIE 4,780
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReEED 177
Contract liabilities AHBE (1,128)
Accruals and other payables FEETE A I ELh FE A5 308 (84)
Lease liabilities fHEaE (1,157)
Tax payables JERFEIR (876)
Fair value of the net assets FEERTE 7,288
Less: Brilliant Ever Assumed Liabilities W BOKFTEEAE (1,000)
Fair value of net assets acquired on the WEEREWEFEEN
acquisition NEE 6,288
Goodwill on acquisition determined on a WEEE REREERET)
provisional basis:
Total consideration HBRE 35,412
Fair value of net assets acquired BUIEFEEATE (6,288)
Goodwill P 29,124
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: W FELNE SR AT
Cash consideration paid ENReRE 6,000
Less: Cash and cash equivalents balances B WERR e MR EEMES
acquired £ (177)
5,823

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39. WIBMIBAR (&)
(a) During the year ended 31 March 2022 (@ RBE-ZE-_—_F=A=+-—
(Continued) HIEFEE (&)
(ii) Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued) (i) ZFEXKRERATR (&)

Note: At the date of acquisition, the Group recognised as
other financial liabilities of the Group the Brilliant
Ever Promissory Notes issuable by the Company
upon meeting the Brilliant Ever Guarantee Profits at
the present values of the Brilliant Ever Promissory
Notes that are expected to be issued. Based on the
assessment of the management of the Company,
the probability the full amount of the contingent
consideration would not eventually have to be
issued was not significant at the date of acquisition
and at the end of the reporting period.

Goodwill which arose on the acquisition included
a control premium. The consideration paid for the
business combination effectively included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies,
revenue growth, future market development of
the company. These benefits are not recognised
separately from goodwill because they do not meet
the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible
assets. The goodwill is not deductible for income
tax purposes adjusted in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in the future.

The initial accounting for the above acquisition in
the consolidated financial statements has been
determined provisionally as the Group is awaiting
the final result of an independent valuation in
relation to other intangible assets and other
net assets of Brilliant Ever Global Limited and
its subsidiary acquired in the transaction. The
valuation has not been completed by the date the
consolidated financial statements were approved.
Accordingly, the amounts of identifiable net assets
and goodwill as stated above may be subsequently
adjusted.

Bt - R R REEBAR
BT PR R K ER BR AR 38 48 )
&P T EATZ BOKIRBRAS
REEARAEEZEMLE
BERE  WIRAHETHT
ZENIRRENEEE 2 BE
FE-REARBEEEN
FFh - RS B R R
R REBAIN2HAR
REHATBIELTERX ©

WBEL 2R B ERE#E
B RETEREBAHMX
2 KRB B 15 B T8 B 163 (7] RUE
Mz WABRE AR ZARK
MSRRABZEHE - AR
FHEATE BB EE
ZHERZE - FUL H IR ER
BORER - AETARARRK
REBZGEPBHRETER
IR AR -

MR AREESFABEKR
BRAERRBDREMBRRNR
HTRWBzEMBETEERE
tEEREBILIELRE
ER M ERRBERNEGS
MBRE NS EHRIENE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

202

(@) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)
(ii) Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

The completion date of the acquisition was
completed on 31 March 2022 and the profit and
revenue for the year attributed to the Group is
immaterial.

Had the acquisition of Brilliant Ever Global Limited
been completed on 1 April 2021, revenue for the
year of the Group from continuing operations
would have been HK$122,756,000, and profit for the
year from continuing operations would have been
HK$31,674,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of
the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2021, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit
of the Group had Brilliant Ever Global Limited
been acquired at the beginning of the current
year, the directors of the Company calculated
depreciation of property, plant and equipment
based on the recognised amounts of property, plant
and equipment at the date of the acquisition.

Details of the above are set out in the Company'’s
announcement on 31 March 2022.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of KC
Training Company Limited and Brilliant Ever
Global Limited is attributable to the anticipated
profitability of the distribution of the Group's future
development on the market of financial quotient
and investment education business.

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2021

(M

Bewisekid Holding Limited

On 10 August 2020, the Group acquired the entire
equity interest in Bewisekid Holding Limited from
Mr. Poon Chi Ming, an independent third party, at
total consideration of HK$33,250,000, which was
to be satisfied by the issue and allotment of the
consideration shares at the issue price of HK$0.135
per share by the Company.

A guarantee of audited profit with minimum amount
of HK$5,000,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021
has been undertaken by Mr. Poon Chi Ming to the
Group for the Group's acquisition of Bewisekid
Holding Limited, or in case there is a shortfall, issue
and allotment of the consideration shares shall be
adjusted. According to the audited results for the
year ended 31 March 2021, the profit has met the
requirement and therefore there is no adjustment
to the consideration shares to be issued by the
company.

#

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022

E-_T-__HF=-A=+—HItFE

39. WEBKMBATE (&)
(b) RBEZ=-ZE=-—F=A=1+—
HILEE

(i)

Bewisekid Holding
Limited
RZZEZZFFN\A+H K&
BERBE = ESRLER
fEBewisekid Holding Limited
ZEREERE RELER
33,250,000/ 7T * AR AN
EITEER01358 31T R IAC
BRERGOH NI -

EERATEER A EBKE
Bewisekid Holding Limited[a]
AEFELAR : RBEZZ
Z—F=ZA=t+—RHLEFEN
KEZFNBREZRSEA
5,000,000/ 7T * IREZEFE + /B
BT REERERD - B
BEEZES BE-T - —
FZA=+T—HLEFE %7
HEERESR - Bt W
BARDAGETRERD -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

204

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2021
(Continued)
(i) Bewisekid Holding Limited (Continued)

39. WHBHIE AR ()

(b) RBE=FB=—F=A=+—
A AL B (%)
() Bewisekid Holding
Limited (&)

HK$'000
BT

Consideration transferred: EEERE:
- Consideration shares — RERHD 33,250
Analysis of assets and liabilities as at the RBEEEANEERERE
date of acquisition: o
Property, plant and equipment M - BB KEE 42
Trade and other receivables B 5 K& H e RIS 7,070
Cash and cash equivalents ReMASEED 6,792
Contract liabilities AHBE (11,619)
Other payables and accrued expenses Hoh B 3B K BRI SE (117)
Tax payable P RiE (670)
Fair value of the net assets BEEFEZAFE 1,498
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries KB B A RNEE
Total consideration RERE 33,250
Fair value of net assets BEFEZATE (1,498)
Goodwill [EES 31,752
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: KBEEEENRESRANTE
Cash consideration paid EfReRE -
Less: Cash and cash equivalents balances B BB S KRS EEY
acquired e (6,792)
(6,792)

The directors of the Company consider that the
fair value of the consideration approximated to its
fair value and further, other than those identified
assets acquired and liabilities assumed as at the
date of acquisition, no other significant assets or
liabilities have been identified.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’s
announcements on 11 May 2020, 30 June 2020, 13
July 2020, 4 August 2020, 10 August 2020 and 26
July 2021.

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

39. WEKMBAR (&)
(b) RBE=_ZF=-—F=HA=+—
HIEFE &)
(ii) Zone Galaxy Limited

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2021
(Continued)
(ii) Zone Galaxy Limited

On 17 August 2020, the Group acquired the entire
equity interest in Zone Galaxy Limited from Mr.
Lam Yat Nam, an independent third party, at total
consideration of HK$40,000,000, which was to be
satisfied by the issue of promissory note by the
Company.

A guarantee of audited profit with minimum amount
of HK$6,000,000 for the year ended 31 March
2021 has been undertaken by Mr. Lam Yat Nam
to the Group for the Group’s acquisition of Zone
Galaxy Limited, or in case there is a shortfall, a
compensation would be provided by Mr. Lam Yat
Lam to the Group as stipulated in the Agreement.
According to the audited results for the year ended
31 March 2021, the profit has met the requirement
and therefore there is no compensation receivable
by the Group.

RZZ2ZZF)\A++EA &K
% & LA 48 X {840,000,0007% 7T
M8 86 = 5 Mk 5B 5 A W BE
Zone Galaxy Limitedsy & &6 A%
- BEREEHARFER
BATHRAEBRZN o

MEBREERAEBUKE
Zone Galaxy Limitedrs) A< £ &
A RBE_ZT_—%F
=A=T—HLEFENKEEZ
FE R 7 & 1K & 8 736,000,000
BT MEERE - AlEMNES
S IR IR 1% 3 R E [ AR SR B
HE  REHBHE_ZT=—F
—A=+—BLFEZEEZ
¥E ZAMEEfaeEkR
bt - WA AR E 2 HE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. WEMBAR (&)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2021 (b) RBE=-E=-_—F=A=+—
(Continued) HIEEE (&)
(ii) Zone Galaxy Limited (Continued) (i) Zone Galaxy Limited (&)
HK$'000
FHTT
Consideration transferred: EEERE:
- Promissory note issued — BEITALER 40,000

Analysis of assets and liabilities as at the RWEEEERNEEREE

date of acquisition: DA
Other receivables H R 28,541
Cash and cash equivalents ReMASEED 2,276
Contract liabilities ARAaE (16,964)
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMERNFIE (1,469)
Amount due to a director JEN—BESRFIE (3,750)
Short-term loan HHER (458)
Tax payable e FIIE (1,165)
Fair value of the net assets BEFEZATE 7,011
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries g =PGRS T
Total consideration BRE 40,000
Fair value of net assets BEFEZATE (7,011)
Goodwill S 32,989
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WBEENRESRATE
Cash consideration paid ENRERE -
Less: Cash and cash equivalents balances B BWEEIR S KRB EEY

acquired whEek (2,276)

(2,276)

The directors of the Company consider that the fair KAREERAE  RE E’J“
value of the consideration approximated to its fair BEEEQNFEESE - I
value and further, other than those identified assets ZERIREE R HIE # ) E’]ﬁﬁqﬂl
acquired and liabilities assumed as at the date of E%éf@&ﬁﬁ%?fé‘%%@\\ IS
acquisition, no other significant assets or liabilities BRI EMEREESBEE -

have been identified.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. WEKMBAR (&)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2021 (b) RBE=_ZF=-—F=HA=+—
(Continued) HIEFE (&)
(iii) Prestige Concord Limited (iii) Prestige Concord

On 27 October 2020, the Group entered into sale
and purchase agreement with Mr. Yuen Yu Sum
pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase
the remaining 70% of equity interests in Prestige
Concord at the consideration of HK$80,000,000.
The consideration would be satisfied (i) as to
HK$41,000,000 by issue of the Promissory Note
by the Group, (i) as to HK$29,000,000 by the
assumption of the liabilities from Mr. Yuen Yu Sum
to the Group; and (iii) as to HK$10,000,000 by cash.
The transaction was completed on 31 March 2021
and Prestige Concord became a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group.

A guarantee of audited profit with minimum amount
of HK$17,000,000 for the 12-month period from 1
April 2020 to 31 March 2021 has been undertaken
by Mr. Yuen Yu Sum to the Group for the Group's
acquisition of Prestige Concord, or in case there
is a shortfall, a compensation would be provided
by Mr. Yuen Yu Sum to the Group as stipulated in
the Agreement. According to the audited results
for the year ended 31 March 2021, the profit has
met the requirement and therefore there is no
compensation receivable by the Group.

Limited
R_Z_ZFE+HA-++HB"
AEBERBREEIIER
W - Bt AEEREBENRRK
{&80,000,000/% 7t & EPrestige
concordfh 70%R% 4 - KRB
AT A 24 ¢ ()41,000,000
BITHAREEFRETEALE
A+ (11)29,000,0008 70 H R
WREEABHAEER Z AF
S -+ K(iii)10,000,0007% JT LA
RBEXT - RHERZT=—
F=A=+—H%=K KPrestige
ConcordE ik AR & 2 2 &Mt
BAF -

ERAREEERAEE K AE
Prestige Concorda] 7 £ & &
HRE: R-E-TFMA—
Az-_ZE-—9F=ZA=+—H
b+ = {6 B AR 2 & Az 7
& 1K & %8 A17,000,0007% 7t -
HMERERE IR RLE
IR Z e 2 R A S B E
LiEE - REHE-_T=—F
A=+ HILFEZEE%
EE zABEEREER
It - WHARET AN E 2 HE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

39. WEIBME AR (#)
(b) RBE-—ZE-_—F=A=+—
HIEFEE (&)
(iii) Prestige Concord
Limited (&)

HK$'000
FET

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2021
(Continued)
(iii) Prestige Concord Limited (Continued)

Consideration transferred: EEENAE:

— Promissory note issued — BEITREERE 41,000

— Cash consideration —BERE 10,000
Total consideration BARE 51,000
Analysis of assets and liabilities as at the RRBEEEEANEERASG

date of acquisition: SR
Property, plant and equipment M - eSS R 621
Investment properties WEYE 20,000
Trade and other receivables B 5 M E 0 R IR 1,448
Amounts due from directors FEURE = 508 29,000
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReEED 7,011
Contract liabilities AHaE (6,263)
Trade and other payables B 5 R H A fE S 5RE (3,245)
Other borrowings Hibfas (11,200
Lease liabilities fEaE (421)
Tax payable e HiE (5,614)
Fair value of the net assets BEFEZATE 31,337
Less: Set-off by liabilities from Mr. Yuen Yu Sum 3 : =48R4 RARE B

to the Group B BRI (29,000)
Fair value of net assets acquired in the REEIEPERIBEEFE

acquisition A/ =] (2,337)
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries WEEM B A RN EE
Total consideration for 70% equity interest 70%R%HE R AR KB 51,000
Investment in associate for 30% equity interest PRB L N A2 0% FEIR & 21,667
Fair value of net assets acquired EREEESFEZATE (2,337)
Goodwill B 70,330
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: KHBELENESRATE:
Cash consideration paid BEIRERE 10,000
Less: Cash and cash equivalents balances B BREE S RESEEY

acquired a3 (7,011)

2,989
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. WIBHE AR (#)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2021 (b) RBE=_ZF=-—F=HA=+—
(Continued) HIEFE (&)
(iii) Prestige Concord Limited (Continued) (iii) Prestige Concord

The directors of the Company consider that the fair
value of the consideration approximated to its fair
value and further, other than those identified assets
acquired and liabilities assumed as at the date of
acquisition, no other significant assets or liabilities
have been identified.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Bewisekid
Holding Limited, Zone Galaxy Limited and Prestige
Concord Limited is attributable to the anticipated
profitability of the distribution of the Group's future
development on the market of financial quotient
and investment education business.

Bewisekid Holding Limited, Zone Galaxy Limited and
Prestige Concord Limited contributed approximately
HK$33,024,000, HK$35,086,000 and HK$NIl to the
Group'’s revenue for the year respectively for the
period between the date of acquisition and the
end of the reporting period. Bewisekid Holding
Limited, Zone Galaxy Limited and Prestige Concord
Limited contributed approximately HK$14,031,000,
HK$15,083,000 and HK$NIl to the Group's profit for
the year respectively for the period between the
date of acquisition and the ended of the reporting
period.

If the acquisition had been completed on
1 April 2020, total Group revenue for the year
from continuing operations would have been
HK$146,222,000, and profit for the year from
continuing operations would have been
HK$62,659,000. The proforma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of the revenue and results of operations
of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on
1 April 2020, nor is intended to be a projection of
future results.

Limited (&)
RRARESFRA  RENQFE
BEHEERAFEES 1IN B
ZERUREE B HIT #50H0 A7k
BEERMAEREIN TE
HANEMBAEENREE -

Iz 8 Bewisekid Holding
Limited ~ Zone Galaxy Limited
KPrestige Concord LimitedzE
EREEHEERAEBERH
PRI EHE EBTISHRK
BREMBTERRFIGES -

U EE B A= S BREARE
Bewisekid Holding Limited -
Zone Galaxy Limited fzPrestige
Concord Limited% 5l &4 4 &
F Wi &= B B 4933,024,0007%8
JT ~ 35,086,000/ 7T K TATT °
U EE B HAZ S BIREARE
Bewisekid Holding Limited -
Zone Galaxy Limited fzPrestige
Concord Limited? 5l &4 5 &
F W A B B 4914,031,000%8
JC ~ 15,083,000/ 7L R AT ©

WEEEEER S _FFN
A—H%EMK - NREEREAH
BCEEB R F RN B R
£146,222,0007 7T+ 2R B A
FBEEEEBRFENREF G A
62,659,000/ 7T ° EHEERHEH
SRR WA —ERREU
BEBEER T -_TFMA—
HEK  ASEEBERDEDN
W RIS EEE - NTEIER
RAREERITEA ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 40. HEKMB AT
(a) During the year ended 31 March 2022 (@) BE2E=—F=-=—F=A=+—H
IHFE
(i) Hung Lee Asia Trading Limited (i) BFEMNEZERLTE
As referred to in note 12, the Group discontinued AP FE12FT I - ANEERA
its “Wholesaling Business: wholesaling of seafood” BHERBH 2 2 BRERLKL L
business subsequent to its disposal of its entire HH#rE 2 e £
equity interest in Hung Lee. % e

The net assets of Hung Lee at the date of disposal
were as follows:

Bz EEREN

HK$'000
THAT

Consideration received: EWRE :

— Cash —|/E 35
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which kX iZ4IENEEREB/IH :

control was lost:
Deposit and other receivables e I HAb EIGRIE 80
Cash and cash equivalents RENBLEEY 10
Accruals and other payables fEFTE A R H AR 5B (716)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFEAE (108)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEAEFE (734)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—BMEARBESE :
Consideration received and receivable Bl el R (B 35
Net liabilities disposed of BEHEAEFE 734
NCI of Hung Lee ) FEFE AR A (2,739)
Loss on disposal RER= o=} (1,970)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEEZRERHFHE
Consideration received: EHRE
Cash consideration (included in other BeRE (GTAEMEWIE)

receivables) _
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B ERERTESRKES 10

10

The impact of Hung Lee on the Group's results and BAE AL B AREE SBEF
cash flows in the current and prior year is disclosed EXERReNENZERKH

in note 12. 12 o

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 40. HEKMBEAT (&)

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2022 (@) B2=—=E-_—_F#=A=+—H
(Continued) ILFE (&)
(ii) Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited (i) EFRLEBRAF

On 7 September 2021, the Company, Peaceful
Success Enterprises Limited (a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability, being a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company) and Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited
(@ company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability, which was dormant in previous years and
is wholly-owned by Peaceful Success Enterprises
Limited entered into the shareholders’ agreement
(the "YY Lam Shareholders’ Agreement”) with
Defining Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability in which Mr. YY Lam owns
the entire share capital of Defining Limited.

Pursuant to the YY Lam Shareholders’ Agreement,
Defining Limited shall subscribe for 10% of the
then enlarged issued share capital of Maxi Chain
Enterprises Limited (the “Subscription”), which
was scheduled to take place on 1 October 2021.
Mr. YY Lam would be appointed as the General
Manager and the chairman of Board of directors
of Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited. In order to
provide incentive to Defining Limited, it shall have
the right to increase its shareholding in Maxi Chain
Enterprises Limited to 20% of the then issued share
capital of Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited on 1
October 2022 (the “Further Subscription”).

RZZEZ—FNAAtH AR
A BT EARAR(—M
REBELZHSEMKINE
RAT BARFAKNEEEE
MEAR) REBREGRA
A (—HRESAMKINE
RAR RBEFEEEER
WHEZCEERAG2EHE
) EDefining Limited (—fER
BEBFMALHBRAT - M
Y45 iR 9 A # A Defining Limited
B 2 B0 MR RE) BT AL MR R
(TR R D ©

REAE AR % - Defining
Limitedi$ RER B EBR
NREREBADHITRAN
10% ([R8EEE]D - &R0
ZEZ-F+A—HETMK
BIREEREZERRERE
BRATIZHBEERESE
J& o A mEDefining Limited$2
e HEREN_Z-_F
TA—BRERZELEBR
ANRAMREENERFEESR
PR A B & B B 31T B AN H920%
([E—HREEE]) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BHE-T—_—

FZA=+—BILFE

40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 December
2022 (Continued)
(ii) Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited

(Continued)

Upon completion of the Subscription, the Group's
interest in Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited was
reduced from 100% to 90%. Upon completion
of the Further Subscription, the Group's interest
in Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited will further
be reduced from 90% to 80%. Accordingly, the
Subscription and the Further Subscription constitute
a deemed disposal of the equity interest in Maxi
Chain Enterprises Limited without loss of control.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the deemed
disposal of the 10% equity interest in Maxi Chain
Enterprises Limited has been recognised in equity.

In connection with the YY Lam Shareholders’
Agreement, the Company and Maxi Chain
Enterprises Limited entered into the service
agreement (the “YY Lam Service Agreement”) with
Sure Wisdom Corporation Limited (a company
wholly-owned by Mr. YY Lam) and Mr. YY Lam on
7 September 2021. Pursuant to the YY Lam Service
Agreement, Sure Wisdom Corporation Limited
has agreed to (i) provide teaching services at
the Schools for the private supplemental Chinese
Language courses targeted at Hong Kong secondary
school students (including but not limited to HKDSE
students) (the "Courses”) targeted at HKDSE
students during the period from 1 December 2021
and 31 August 2024 (the "Term”), and (ii) engage
Mr. YY Lam as the designated tutor to teach the
courses.

Legendary Group Limited
21 2 Annual Report 2022

40. LEHNEBAR (@)
BE—2-_—F=A=1+—H

(a)

IEFE (#8)
(i) BBFELEARLQT (&)

RARBEETHKE  AEER
RBELEARARZEESR
100%33 2> Z290% ° TR HE — 23R
BEETNE  AEERZE
EAR A F 2 s B90%
#— R E80% - EIL R
BEEE—PRBEHENX
BIEHERBREBRARZ
AR AR - 1 3 A K KA B o R
HE—_ZT-_—_F=HA=+—H
LFE SIELERERES
PR A F110% A4 B A A TERR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

40. HEMBAT (&)
(@ 82-—FE-_—_F=A=+—H
ILFE (&)
(i) FBFEEBRIT (&)

40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 December
2022 (Continued)
(ii) Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited

(Continued)

Mr. YY Lam has been well known in the market
as the “Star Tutor” with a proven prominent track
record of helping his students to improve their
examination results in Chinese Language and has
extensive experience in the provision of private
supplementary education courses to student.

Pursuant to the YY Lam Service Agreement, the
Company has agreed to pay to Mr. YY Lam and
Sure Wisdom Corporation Limited the sign-on
bonuses (the “Sign-on Bonuses”) in the total sum
of HK$25,900,000 as follows: () as to HK$10,000,000
shall be paid to Mr. YY Lam upon signing of the YY
Lam Shareholders’ Agreement; (i) as to HK$900,000
shall be paid to Sure Wisdom Corporation Limited
on or before the commencement date of the Term
(i.e. 1 December 2021); and (iii) as to HK$15,000,000
shall be paid to Mr. YY Lam either (a) on or before
31 May 2022; or (b) immediately upon Sure Wisdom
Corporation Limited and/or Mr. YY Lam exercising
their right to terminate the YY Lam Service
Agreement due to the occurrence of any events
of default on the part of Maxi Chain Enterprises
Limited and/or the Company. The directors of
the Company consider that the Sign-on Bonuses
represent the services to be provided by Mr. YY
Lam to the Group, and thus, the amount would be
charged to profit or loss over the term of the YY
Lam Service Agreement.

Subsequent to the entering into the YY Lam
Shareholders’ Agreement with Mr. YY Lam as
mentioned above, the Group commenced a
new business segment relating to the "Private
Supplementary Education Business”.

Details of the above are set out in the Company'’s
announcement dated 7 September 2021.

MBEMREERTIZ LZFH (5
EEM XE EREHHE
ERETXEDKRETEES
HNEBEL N RBEREML
HOBERETARBEEL

RBEWE IR % - AR A
RERNEMECERNEER
RAZHENRS ((FHHE
&)+ #%8525,900,0007 7T
£ 15 0 F ¢ ()10,000,00078 7T
ERFEFI R MRRR R
F T #R0& AR 5 A 5 (i)900,000
BIT/AR BRI B A (Bl =
TE-—E+-"A-H) H 2z
AN FHEERAA &
(iii)15,000,0007% 7t ZE@K = &
o FRA=t+—BZ A
HOBFEHNEERAB R,
MEMREERAZBEEEGRA
AR/ SR RN R B EAAE
D FEHmITE R MR
iR B 765 195 525 18 S 5P T MR IR 5
o RRBEERE  BHE
SEWEMRE LR AEER
HERT - Bt - ZE2B|HR
WHEMRBHRFHNEBER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

40. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2021

40. HEMBAR (&)
(b) B2=—=2-_—=A=+—H

IHEFE
On 5 May 2020, the Group disposed of the entire equity RZZE-_ZTFRARH AEBLE
interest in Winsky Management Limited, a dormant E ¥ % A mWinsky Management
company, at total consideration of HK$100,000. limited,z 2> &F A4 - 424X & %100,000
BT
The net assets of Winsky Management Limited. at the Winsky Management limited# & B
date of disposal were as follows: Bz BEFEWNT ¢

HK$'000
FBT

Consideration received:
— Cash received

2R E :
—BUIRE 100

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which
control was lost:

KERFENEERBBD

Other receivables H b pE U IE 14
Other payables and accrued expenses Hib N RE R BT (13)
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFE 1

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary:

& — R E QR RS

Consideration received and receivable B fEdR (B 100
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFE M
Gain on disposal o W e 99
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEZRERATEH

Cash consideration HERE 100

Less: bank balances and cash disposed of

B EHERITERERE -

100

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

FRBEE
ES B

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_T-_—F=A=+—HIEE

41. RAF BRI R R F#EE

2021

- 46
212,950 201,668
5 180

212,955 201,894

Investment in subsidiaries RSB ARAIRE
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and deposits TBRRIERRE
Amounts due from subsidiaries R B A FIFRIE
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEEYD
Current liabilities REBARS
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE B A RIFIE

Other payables and accrued expenses
Dividend payable

HA B FRIE R ERT R
FERT AR

53,115
1,522

54,637

158,318 134,879

158,330 134.889

179 154
158,151 134,735

Net current assets RBEETFE
Net assets BEEFE
Capital and reserves BEAXR#E
Share capital [N
Reserves B

Total equity R AEER

158,330 134,889

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors
on 30 June 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yuen Yu Sum
== 3R 3
R?‘/ﬁﬁk

RRABZHBRARER T _FXA
STREESSSHERBRETE XA T
EERRFE

Chan Lap Jin Kevin
BRIE

AIREEEEERAE
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41.

216

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Movements in the Company’s reserves are as follows:

At 1 April 2020

Profit and total
comprehensive income
for the year

Dividend recognised as
distribution (note 13)

Capital Reorganisation

Issue of Shares (note 35)

Equity-settled share
option arrangement
(note 36)

ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂ&i@& \f@%ﬁ

REDERRE (F:213)

BAEA

BITRAD (H17235)

DUEREE B RELH
(Hi£36)

At 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021

Profit and total
comprehensive income
for the year

Dividend recognised as
distribution (note 13)

Issue of shares (note 35)

Exercise of share options
(note 35 and 36)

%:g:—EEHE+—E
—&FMA—H
EW@W&%EW S

RRAARARE (13)

BATIRID (B77235)
TT{ERERIE (E35R36)

At 31 March 2022

“F-_f=A=1-H
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Share Share
capital premium

BE  BRHEE
HK$'000  HK$'000
AL THET

51,200 618,133

- (10,137)
(61,072)  (618,133)
26 88,289

78,152

(26,248)
33,226

2,269

87,399

ZAYN

Special
reserve

BHIRE
HK$'000
TATL

56,102

56,102

56,102

Al e

Share
option
reserve

BRERE

HK$'000
Tt

5,437

FEHANT

Accumulated
(losses)/
profits

23t (FR)
Va7
HK$'000
THIT

(676,379)
2,218

669,205

(4,956)

14,169

a1. FATHMBRRRR G ()

Total

act
HK$'000
FAT

49,056

2,218
(10,137)

88,315

5,437

134,889

14,169

(26,248)
33,250

2,270

158,330



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in
respective notes, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves.

(A) Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets at amortised cost
— Trade receivables

— Loan receivables

— Other receivables and prepayments

— B HRUGK
— R ER

REBERATR 2 EREE

— BEfbEds Iﬁ&?ﬁiﬁ%&lﬁ

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-__F=A=+—HILFE

42. EXEBER
AEMEBHER - DRRAEMO TR
PSS RS BE AR TEARE
AR - AR [ 2 288 S S R £ 4 4R
ﬁo

AREBNEARBEIFERFER (BRERA
MMERENERREERE)  BE MR
SEBMFRARKNRBEE AREER
(BREETRALMEE)

(A) @I EEH

2021
B4
HK$'000
FAT

— Amount due from an associate — FEUNEE AN T ZIE
- Restricted cash —RFIMRE
- Cash and cash equivalents —BHE MR EEY
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFABTHNESHEE
Financial liabilities SRBE
- Trade and other payables (note — B9 REAMEN IR

below) (K1aF20°F) 46,383
- Bank and other borrowings — RITRHMEE 5,000
— Lease liabilities —HEaE 24,277
- Promissory note payables — [EREEER =

Note: The amount included the other financial liabilities relating
to the acquisition of certain companies for both years.

Bret - IR B S S M E 2 s A TR

BRAREBNEGERARE -

AIREEEEERAE
2022 R 217
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42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency
risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and other price risk. The
Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group
to manage these risks are described below.

(@) Fair values

(i)

218

Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair
value of the Group's financial instruments
measured at the end of the reporting period
on a recurring basis, categorised into the
three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The
level into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs
used in the valuation technique as follows:

J Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs, that is,
unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
at the measurement date

J Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs, that is, observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and
not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs
for which market data are not available

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured
using significant unobservable inputs

Legendary Group Limited
Annual Report 2022

42. EXRERER (4#)
cRREMEERERBK

(B)

AEBEzERMIATRNEZRARE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continuea)
(a) Fair values (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group has a team headed by the finance
manager with the assistance of independent
professionally qualified valuers to perform
valuations for the financial instruments,
including unlisted equity investment which
is categorized into Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. The team reports directly to the
executive directors and the audit committee.
A valuation report with analysis of changes
in fair value measurement is prepared
by the team at each interim and annual
reporting date, and is reviewed and approved
by the executive directors. Discussion of
the valuation process and results with the
executive directors and the audit committee
is held every three months to coincide with
the reporting dates.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

42. EXREARER (&)
(B) $REAKREEEEREE &)

(@ 2¥E#E)

(i

BAFEBHETHEE
REE (&)

NFEER (&)
REEHEA —EhPBE
BEEN/ M BB E
FEERMLEMNTHET
HERMTA (BRBER
RN ESRE=RNIEL
MRARE) £1THE -
ZPHERAMITERR
ERLERER - %/
REFHERFERE B
BEMA N TEFEED)
DITEMERS - AHEH
TTEEEMMAAE - W
WITEERERZE Y
HEBENRERETH
i kel = 8 A 81T
—R o ERERH K-

AXEAREERAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 42. EXRBER (&)
(B) Financial risk management objectives (B) €REMEEBERER &)
and policies (continued)
(@) Fair values (Continued) (@ 2A¥E#E)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities () BHATFEFABHEHEE
measured at fair value (Continued) REE (&)

AN FEER (&)
Fair value measurement
DAY EE
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AYE F— f B=H
HKS'000 HK$'000 i HK$'000
BT AT AL

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022 R-B--%=fA=1+-H

Recurring fair value LEMLTFEAE
measurements:

Assets EE

Financial assets at FVTPY BATESABRNSHEE
Equity securities listed in Hong &% Fi 2 RAES

Kong NATER  NATER
Investment funds WELS 1554 N/ATER

1,554 N/ATER

As at 31 March 2021 R=B--%=fA=1-H
Recurring fair value EERATEAE

measurements:
Assets EE
Equity instrument at FVOCI BLFEHAEM2ELNEN

BATA

Unlisted equity investment SRS N/ATEA N/ATER
Financial assets at FVPL BLTEFNERMNE R
Equity securities listed in Hong ~ 1A%&5 Lz A&

Kong 1594  NATER  NATER

1,594 N/ATER

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(a) Fair values (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and
2022, there were no transfers between Level
1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level
3. The Group's policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at
the end of the reporting period in which they
occur.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the
directors of the Company considered that
the fair value of unlisted equity investment
approximated to HK$Nil value.

During the year ended 31 March 2022,
the Group disposed the unlisted equity
investment to an independent third party
and no unlisted equity investment was held
by the Group as at 31 March 2022.

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

The movements during the year in the balance
of these Level 3 fair value measurements are
as follow:

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

42. EXREARER (&)
(B) $REAKREEEEREE &)

(@ 2¥E#E)

(i

B FEITENEHBEE
REE (&)
NFEER (E)
BHE_Z-_—FK_Z
T CHFZAZt+—HIEF
B B—HREE_REL
mEY - EEARED
FE=R o REBEBERTIR
HESRRERRERD
FESLMNEE -

HE-_T=-_—%=A1
=+ HLEFE  AAF
ERZRAIFLTRAERE
A ERTHEILEEE
go

HE—_ZET-__-_%=A#
=+—HILFE - ~&EE
MEE =R EIELET
BAZERR T4
ZA=t—8B AE=E#
BISAELTRARE -

EBE=RAFEH S
EH

FRREE=RATE
EEBZEDEIINT -

HK$'000
FHT

Unlisted equity investment
Balance as at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021,
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022

FETBRAKRE

R-T-_TFMOMA—

H -

—E-—F=A=+—8"

“E-—HFNWA—HE=ZE
T =ZRA=1+—Hz#&% 1
BIREEAEBEERAT
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42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(a) Fair values (Continued)

222

(ii)

Fair value of financial assets and
liabilities carried of other than fair
value

For the Group's financial assets and liabilities
not measured at fair value in the consolidated
statement of financial position but for which
the fair value is disclosed, the carrying
amounts of bank and other borrowings and
promissory note payables approximated to
their fair values and were determined as
Level 3.

The fair values of bank and other borrowings
and promissory note payables have been
calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The Group's
own nonperformance risk for interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings was assessed
to be insignificant and the fair values of the
non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings approximate to their
carrying amounts.

Legendary Group Limited

Annual Report 2022
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
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42. EXREARER (&)
(B) $REAKREEEEREE &)

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continuea)
(b) Credit risk

(b) FERR

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Group.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to
loan receivables and trade and other receivables.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies, for
which the Group considers to have low credit risk.

The Group has taken measures to identify credit
risks arising from loan business. The Group
manages credit risk at every stage of the risk
management system, including pre-approval,
review and credit approval and post-transaction
monitoring processes. The Group conducts
customer acceptance and due diligence during the
pre-approval process. A transaction is subject to
the review and approval by the executive directors.

During the post-transaction monitoring process,
the Group performs credit evaluations on each
and every major customer periodically. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates.

Certain loans granted are backed by collateral
(e.g. property, unlisted equity investments) as
security. The Group also focuses on ascertaining
legal ownership and the valuation of the collateral.
The Group closely monitors the ownership and
the value of the collateral throughout the loan
period. The loan receivables are due by the date
as specified in the corresponding loan agreements.

EERREZXZHFARES
HMETRNERARKE AT
BRRHER -

AEBEERRIZREEW
EFRRE SR EMEKTKIR
AEBERARE RREEEY
MmiEERBHOAR  RER
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EERR BEESL BE
RIEEHEARZ HRERE
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TEPEHLLRBIAE - X5
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42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

In accordance with accounting policies, if there is
objective evidence that indicates the cash flows
for a particular loan is expected to decrease, and
the amount can be estimated, the loan is recorded
as an impaired loan and the impairment loss is
recognised in profit or l0ss.

The Group’s policy requires regular review of
the quality of individually significant financial
assets. For assets for which an allowance for
impairment loss is provided individually, the amount
is determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss
at the reporting date on a case-by-case basis. In
making such assessments, the Group considers the
value of collateral held and expected future cash
flows from the asset.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country
in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting
period, 29% (2021: 27%) and 82% (2021: 71%) of
the loan receivables was due from the Group's
largest loan debtor and the five largest loan debtors
respectively.

Legendary Group Limited
224 Annual Report 2022

42. EXRERER (4#)
cREAMREEREREK &)

(B)

(b)

FERR (&)

RIFSFTER - WEBEBRR
TREERZASREHRSS
T Mz A TEE - R
CHERBREER - Mz
EFENEEATER -

RER B 2 B AR E A TE BlAm
EREREMEEZER - 5t
R EEETRERBEREM
F AT RTRE R R
AEREEAEEL ZER
BMEE- - EIEHBE BTG
B AREZEAFERRZ
BEIREZEEMGZEYRR
RIRE R

REBEERZZEERRBEER
EEPMIFERFEEMBITE
FBERZERBERAZE -
I BEXEEEFREREER
RAEEAZEKNERNEPE
%o RIEEIKR - BIRERZ
29% (—Z T = —F:27%) &
82% (ZZE=—1%F : 71%) 2 5
REAEEZAKERERAR
AREREBA °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
The Group adopts a loan risk classification approach
to manage its loan receivables portfolio risk. Loan
receivables are categorised into the following
stages by the Group:

Stage 1. Loan receivables have not experienced
a significant increase in credit risk since
origination and impairment recognised
on the basis of 12 months expected
credit losses (12-month ECLS).

Stage 2. Loan receivables have experienced
a significant increase in credit risk
since origination and impairment is
recognised on the basis of lifetime
expected credit losses (Lifetime ECLs
non credit impaired).

Stage 3:  Loan receivables that are in default and
considered credit impaired (Lifetime
ECLs credit-impaired).

The Group applies the ECL model to measure the
impairment loss of the loan receivables.

#

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

226

(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Parameters of ECL measurement

According to whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk and whether there is an impairment
of assets, the Group measures the impairment
loss for different assets with ECL of 12 months or
the entire lifetime respectively. The key measuring
parameters of ECL include probability of default
(PD), loss given default (LGD) and exposure at
default (EAD). Based on the requirements of HKFRS
9, the Group takes into account the quantitative
analysis of historical statistics (such as ratings of
counterparties, manners of guarantees and types
of collaterals, repayments, etc.) and forward looking
information in order to establish the model of PD,
LGD and EAD.

Relative definitions are listed as follows:

PD refers to the possibility that the debtor will not
be able to fulfil its obligations of repayment over the
next 12 months or throughout the entire remaining
lifetime. The Group’s PD is adjusted based on the
results of the internal rating-based approach, taking
into account the forward-looking information and
deducting the prudential adjustment to reflect the
debtor’s point-in-time (PIT) PD under the current
macroeconomic environment;

LGD refers to the Group's expectation of the extent
of the loss resulting from the default exposure.
Depending on the type of counterparty, the method
and priority of the recourse, and the type of
collaterals, the LGD varies,

EAD is the amount that the Group should be
reimbursed at the time of the default in the next 12
months or throughout the entire remaining lifetime.

Legendary Group Limited
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42. EXREARER (&)
(B) $REAKREEEEREE &)

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continuea)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(b) FERME &)

Forward-looking information

The assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk and the calculation of ECL both involve
forward-looking information. Through the analysis
of historical data, the Group identifies the key
economic indicators that affect the credit risk and
ECL of various business types.

The impact of these economic indicators on the PD
and the LGD varies according to different types of
business. The Group applied experts’ judgement
in this process, according to the result of experts’
judgement, the Group predicts these economic
indicators on a quarterly basis and determines the
impact of these economic indicators on the PD and
the LGD by conducting regression analysis.
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42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

228

(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Modification of contractual cash flows

A modification or re-negotiation of a contract
between the Group and a counterparty may result
in a change to the contractual cash flows without
resulting in the derecognition of the financial assets.

Such restructuring activities include extended
payment term arrangements, repayment schedule
modifications and changes to the interest
settlement method. The risk of default of such
assets after modification is assessed at the
reporting date and compared with the risk under
the original terms at initial recognition, when the
modification is not substantial and so does not
result in derecognition of the original asset and
the book value of the financial asset is recalculated
and the related gain or loss is included in current
profit and loss. The recalculated book value of the
financial asset is determined based on the present
value of the contractual cash flows following the
renegotiation or modification, as calculated using
the original effective interest rate of the financial
asset.

The Group monitors the subsequent performance
of modified assets. The Group may determine
that the credit risk has significantly improved
after restructuring, so that the assets are moved
from Stage 3 or Stage 2 to Stage 1. At 31 March
2022, the carrying amount of financial assets with
such modified contractual cash flows amounted to
HKS$NIl (2021: HK$30,313,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables
() Analysis of loan receivables by collateral
type with maturity profile

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHE_Z_—_F=—A=+—HIFE

42. EXREARER (&)
(B) ¢RIEMEEEEREE &)

(b) FERME &)

FERE & EE
() EEFFRIREE S HEK

Loans secured by
EFANTREEER

Unsecured  Properties and

loans

RERER
HK$'000
THT

other assets

WERHHEE
HK$'000
T

Guarantee
provided by
third parties
HE=H
RUER
HK$'000
Thx

Total

it
HKS'000
Thn

As at 31 March 2022 S
Due within 3 months or on demand SEARGBAEELRE - 6,500 6,500
Due after 3months but within 6 months  3(EA%{B6fE A R34 - 9,152 9,152
Dug after 6 months but within 12 EREEEARIE
months 9,720 24,526 34,246
Due after 12 months 12[ER%EE - = =
9,720 40,178 49,898
Less: Impairment BRE (464) (7,311) (7,775)
9,256 32,867 42,123
As at 31 March 2021 H-g--#=A=1-A
Dug within 3 months or on demand SEARGBAEELRE 2753 30479 - 53,232
Due after 3months but within 6 months ~ 3(ER%{B6fE A R34 5523 11,39 - 16919
Dug after 6 months but within 12 EREEEARIE
months 10,869 - 600 11,469
Due after 12 months 1ER%EE - - - -
39145 41875 600 81,620
Less: Imparment BRE (140) (8,383) 2 (8,525)
39,005 33,492 598 73,095
FIREEEBGRAT 229
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 42. EXRBER (&)
(B) Financial risk management objectives (B) ¢RIEAMEEBBFERIRK &)
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)y EERMK (&)
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables EREFREEE (F)
(Continued)
(i) Analysis of loan receivables by collateral (i) AR IR E 5 B fEY

EXEEEEST
Loans secured by
BRANTREEER
Guarantee
Unsecured Propertiesand  provided by
loans  otherassets third parties
HE1
BERES MERHAEE RitER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén ThR THR

type with credit quality

As at 31 March 2022 RZB-ZEZf=1-H
Loan receivables that are credit FERBRRER

impaired

- Not past due - K

- Less than 3 months past due - BE 3R

- Over 3months past due - BEREEA

- Overdue rescheduled loans -AEREAER

6,500 6,500

Less: Impairment b (6,500) (6,500)

Loan receivables that are not credit REEHE EYNER

impaired
- Not past due - A 33,678 43,398
- Less than 3 months past due - BH 3R =
- Over 3 months past due - BHRiB3EA -
- Overdue rescheduled loans - BHEEAER -
43,398
Less: Impairment W (1,275)

42123

42123
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables
(Continued)
(i) Analysis of loan receivables by collateral
type with credit quality (Continued)

42. EXREARER (&)
(B) ¢REMREEEERBE &)

(b) EERME (&)
ERESAEFmEE ()

(ii)

BRI IRE
EHEEEESN (&)

153 BIIEN

Loans secured by
ERHATRBEER
Guarantee
Unsecured Propertiesand  provided by
loans  otherassets third parties Total
HEZH
BERES WEREMEE RitER g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT T T THx
As at 31 March 2021 RZBZ-£=f=1-A
Loan receivables that are credit EERERKER
impaired
- Not past due - ka5 - - - -
- Less than 3 montfs past due - BER3EA - - - -
- Over 3 months past due - AEEA3MEA - 6,500 - 6,500
- Overdue rescheduled loans -RAEREAES - - - -
- 6,500 - 6,500
Less: Impairment B R(E - (6,500) - (6,500)
Loan receivables that are not credit AEERE EUER
impaired
- Not past due L 16392 11,3% 600 28388
- Less than 3 months past due - BE MR - - - -
- Over 3 months past due - BEREEA 2753 - - 2753
- Overdue rescheduled loans -AEREAER - 2919 - 8979
39145 35,375 600 75,120
Less: Impairment W RE (140) (1883) 2 (2,025)
39,005 33492 5% 73,09
39,005 33492 598 73,095
BIXREREERRATR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives

232

and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Reconciliation of changes in gross carrying

amount and allowances for loan receivables
The table below provides a reconciliation of the
Group’s gross carrying amount and allowances for
loan receivables for the year ended 31 March 2021
and 2022. The transfers of financial instruments
represent the impact of stage transfers upon the
gross carrying amount and associated allowance
for ECL. The net remeasurement of ECL arising from
stage transfers represents the increase in ECL due

to these transfers.

Legendary Group Limited
Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE_T-_—_F#=ZA=1+—HILFE

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 42. EXRBER (&)
(B) Financial risk management objectives (B) €mEMEEBERER &)
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b)y EERMK (&)
Reconciliation of changes in gross carrying FERE S REAR G R EEE
amount and allowances for loan receivables AR ()

(Continued)

Non credit impaired Credit impaired
AEERE EERE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F1RR FRE HIEE st
Gross  Allowance Gross  Allowance Gross  Allowance Gross  Allowance

exposure  forECL  exposure  forECL  exposure  forECL  exposure  forECL
BR  BERG BE  BERG 28 BERG 2H  FERG
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TER Thn ThR TR ThR Tén ThR

At 1 April 2020 R-Z-EEMA-A 27,458 (6,896) (18) 30,313 (6,876) 57,823 (13,790)
New loans/financing originated REFER/ BE 23,286 (59) - 1,800 (1,213) 25,086 (1,272)
Loans/financing derecognised or ERSIRRACERN

repaid during the year (other than B2/ BB (Bis)

Write-offs) (937) 62 (300) 202 (1,289)
Modification loss ETEE = s S > >

Transfer to 12-month expected BUENEARIESFE
credit loss (stage 1) (81BR) 30,313 (6,876) (30,313)

Transfer to lfetime expected credit  EHZ2EELESES
loss not credit-impaired (stage 2) (REERE) (28R = =
Transfer 1o lfetime expected credit  EHZ2EELESER

loss credit-mpaired (stage 3 (BEERME) (£3ER) (5,000) 5,000
Total transfer between stages RIEBNEB B 25,313 (25,313)
Impact on year end expected credit  ERERBEBERYERE
loss of exposures transferred BEEFENYE
between stages during the year =
Movements due to changesin credit ~ EEEREF I HNE
risk 11,744 (5,489) 6,255
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R-E--£ZA=+-AR
—E-—E[f-A 75,120 (2,025) (6,500 81,620 (8,525)
New loans/financing originated REHEs/BE 35,694 - - 35,694 -
Loans/financing derecognised or ERSI BRSO ERN
repaid during the year (other than B3/ B8 (BHE)
Write-offs) (65,440) (65,440)
Written off s (1,976) (1,976)
Modification loss BIEE = .
Transfer 10 12-month expected EVZNEARBEERE
credit Ioss (stage 1) (B1BR)

Transfer to lifetime expected credit ~ E¥Z2HEREEER
loss not credit-impaired (stage 2~ (REEHE) (£20E8)
Transfer to lifetime expected credt  EBE2HEEEESE

loss credit-mpaired (stage 3 (BEERE) (£3%R)
Total transfer between stages BREBRNEG
Impact on year end expected credt  ERREGEBERHERHE
Ioss of exposures transferred iRl

between stages during the year -
Movements due to changes in credit ~ EEEREF S HHE
risk (1,235) - (1,235)

At 31 March 2022 R-E-—#=f=1-0 (1,275) (6:500) 49,898 (7,775)

AIREEEEERAE
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e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 42. EXRBERE (&)
(B) Financial risk management objectives (B) £mEMEEBEEREEK (&)
and policies (continued)
(b) cCredit risk (continued) (b) FER (&)
Movements of Expected credit loss of loan FERE AR EEEEE
receivables

Non credit Credit
impaired impaired Total
AEERE EERE #st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi57 Fi57E B

Movement of ECL of loan JEWERESEEERE

receivables
At 1 April 2020 R-ZE-ZTENH[—H 6,876 6,914 13,790
Reversal of ECL for the year S REHREEEEED (4,851) (414) (5,265)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 R-E-_—F=Zf=+—HE=-Z

April 2021 ——4FmA—H 2,025 6,500 8,525
Reversal of ECL for the year  FRFEHEE EERED (750) - (750)
At 31 March 2022 RZBE-—_F=A=1+—H 1,275 6,500 7,775
Definitions of Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 are FPEE - EBEME=R
described above. EBREES N L -

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-__F=A=+—HILFE

42. EXREARER (&)
(B) $REAKREEEEREE &)

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continuea)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(iii) Other credit risk

EERMK (&)
B EEmE

(b)
(iii)

Trade receivables

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country
in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting
period, 21% (2021: 100%) and 36% (2021: 100%)
of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group'’s largest trade debtor and the five largest
trade debtors respectively within the OEM Business
and Wholesaling Business segment.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are usually due
within 30 days to 60 days from the date of billing.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
trade customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLS,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As
the Group’s historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.

B G EWE
TEEERZZEERRBREIER
BEPMETFLEMBITE
FEARZERERZE - F
It EXEEERERBEZIR
RS EASZEAEREPE

o RIREHIR - B MK
BRE221% (ZTE=Z—F:
100%) M36% (Z & = —F:
100%) 7 5l B A< 5 B R &
BEXBRMBEEB>BAZ
BRARESGEBARTAESE
BA e

FrEEkBBETEEIEER
ZEPHEHITMER
e ZEFEEINELBE
REBERZ B RIERZE
REEN  WEERZEFPZET
BRIARE PSS T 2188
R TEE 8%

A;A(AGA.
= Ha

%o B REGK
R A HIE30H E60H A FH -
—RmME ARELREES
EPESHEM -

AEBEZAEREHRAEE
BiENSE (ERRERET
H) FHEE SRR B R R
B ANAEBEELEERE
BBI BT TRES DN
EEEABEAREZR  EAE
REEIE R B R B R R IR
SETRAEFEETE— ST
I
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e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

236

(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continuead)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iiij) Other credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables as at 31 March 2022 and 2021:

Current (not past due)
1to 30 days past due

31 t0 60 days past due
61 t0 90 days past due
Over 91 days past due

As at 31 March 2022

R-E--f=A=+—H
e CREH)
#H1ZE30H

BHEI31ZE60H
BEHRG1ZE90H
EHEERH

42. EXRERER (4#)
(B) s@EMEEREREE (&)

(b)
(iii)

Expected
credit loss
rate
AHEE

[ B2

As at 31 March 2021

R-ZE--§=ZA=+—A

EERK (&)

B EmpEE (&)

B S EWHE (&)
TRHEFINR-_BE-_—_FER-F
——4%ZRA=+—BAX&EZ
FZERBKRORE S ERKE
TBHEEEEER

Gross
carrying
amounts

Loss
allowance

SREAE
HK$'000
TAT

BREE
HK$'000
THAT

1,336

Current (not past due) WE) CRgHEd) 641 -
1 to 30 days past due BH1E30H 672 -
31 to 60 days past due BHEA31ZE60H - -
61 to 90 days past due EH61ZE0H - -
Over 91 days past due BB H 93.5% 1,389 1,299

2,702 1,299

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience and adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group's view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of

the receivables.

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

42. EXREARER (&)
(B) $REAKREEEEREE &)

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continuea)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(iiij) Other credit risk (Continued)

(b) EERME (&)
(iii) EftsEmE (%)

Trade receivables (Continued)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect
of trade receivables during the year is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year FHEEH

Amount written off during the year & R#EERER

Disposal of Hung Lee R R

Impairment losses recognised FRERAREEE
during the year

Balance at end of the year FREE

Other receivables

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of
the Company make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables and
deposits based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable forward-looking information. The
directors of the Company believe that there are
no significant increases in credit risks of these
amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL. For the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group
assessed the ECL for other receivables and deposits
were insignificant and thus no loss allowance was
recognised.

BSEMHE (%)
FNE 5 R IR SR B R
gEHmT

2021

HK$'000
TAT

Eft W E

HEMERFIBEREEMS
ARAREEFREBEBREENT
B BAKBRIUAKEERAR
BERBOAErTE REMEE
KE 8 E At B UGRIE R IR & Y
A U B M 3 1T T HA E Bl ST A o
RATEZRRBBVIATERLA
RZEFFIENEE R EE
ERMEAREERE20E A
BHEEEERERE - &HZE
CECCERZFE-F=R
=+—BIEFE - RNEEFG
HAth fE WK IE R iR & 00 TE BR{E
EEEWTEA - Bt s
RIEERE -

AXEAREERAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(B) Financial risk management objectives

238

and policies (continued)
(c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily
from loan receivables, bank deposits, bank and
other borrowings, promissory note payables and

lease liabilities.

Loan receivables, bank and other borrowings,
promissory note payables and lease liabilities at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest

rate risk.

Bank deposits are carried at low interest rates and

the interest income thereon is not significant.

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_T-_—F=A=+—HIEE

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 42. EXRBERE (#)
(B) Financial risk management objectives (B) £mEMEEBERBER #)
and policies (continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (Continued) (c) RI=EmM (&)
Interest rate profile FIEEER
The following table details the interest rate profile of TRAMLASEEFE2MITA
the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments RS HAR AR, -

at the end of the reporting period:

Effective interest Fffective interest
rate ‘ rate Amount

ANEH

BERFI= z Ek]
% ; HK$'000
TET

Fixed interest rate ElE %
Financial assets EREAE
- Loan receivables - EWER 5% t0 12% 42,123 5% t0 36% 73,095
5%Z12% 5%%36%
Financial liabilities SEEE
- Other borrowings —EffEE 2.75% (5,000) 10% (11,200)
2.75%
- Promissory note payables —— &R EiE N/ATER = 3% t0 5% (57,440)
3%%5%
- Lease liabilities -HERRE 2% t0 5.9% (24,277) 2% 10 18.2% 9,797)
2%%5.9% 2%%18.2%
Variable interest rate 2 ENF %
Fixed assets ElEEE
- Cash at bank - #R7RE 0.001% 21,018 0.001% 72,944
33,864 67,602
Fixed rate instruments EEFETAGHESSE
as a percentage of net BIAFEIAL
interest-bearing financial
instruments (7.9)%

AIREEEEERAE
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42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

240

(c)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Loan receivables, other borrowings, promissory
note payables and lease liabilities are fixed rate
instruments and are insensitive to any change in
interest rates. A change in interest rates at the
end of the reporting period would not affect profit
or loss.

The Group does not have significant exposure
to interest rates arising from variable rate cash
at bank, accordingly no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

Currency risk

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the executive
directors monitor its foreign exchange exposures
and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposures should the need arises. At
the end of the reporting period, there is minimal
exposure to currency risk by the Group as
substantially all financial assets and all financial
liabilities recognised are denominated in the
functional currency of the respective Group entities.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group
are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to the parent
company’s board approval. The Group'’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)
(e) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments including interest payments computed
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period
and the earliest date the Group can be required to

pay, is as follows:

As at 31 March 2022

R-BE--f=R

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-_T-_—F=A=+—HIEE

42. EXREBEE (#)
(B) €mEMEEBERER &)

RBESRR (&)
R|EHR - AREZIFTE
TR ABEREAQORRAK
(BREAGHMNESL (NEFH
M) R RE R ZRITH
KAEZNEBHIEA) 2285
ARAEEAZNHTE B
L

(e)

Contractual undiscounted cash flow
BRABRRER

More than More than
1yearbut 2 years but
less than less than
2 years 5 years
- EHEMERN MERELER
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THRL

Within 1 year

Carrying
amount
RAE
HK$'000
THT

Total
@t
HK$'000
TR

or on demand
—FRZRER
HK$'000
TR

=t+-H
Non-derivative financial FTEsRaE
liabilities
Trade and other payables ~ BHRAMERNZE
Bank and Other ROREMGEE
borrowings
Lease liabilities HERE
Asat31March 2021 ~ A=%=-%=7
=t+-H
Non-derivative financial HTELRAE
liabilities
Trade and other payables ~ Z5REMEMZE 45,294 - - 15294 15,29
Bank and other BOREMES
borrowings 12,302 - - 12,302 11,200
Promissory note RARERENGE
payables - 61,033 - 61,033 57,440
Lease liabilities HEER 2,602 2,434 5,374 10,410 9,797
60,198 63,467 5,374 129,039 123,731
BREREEERAT 241
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

BE_Z_-_—_F#=ZA=1+—HIFE

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(e) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank and other borrowings with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the “within 1 year
or on demand” time band in the above maturity
analysis. As at 31 March 2022, the aggregate
carrying amounts of these bank loans amounted
to HK$5,000,000 (2021: HK$11,200,000). Taking
into account the Group’s financial position, the
management does not believe that it is probable
that the banks will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The
management believes that such bank and other
borrowings will be repaid within five years after
the end of the reporting period in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements, details of which are set out in the

table below:

Bank and other
borrowings

As at 31 March 2022

As at 31 March 2021

Bank and other
borrowings

(e)

42. EXREAEARER (&)
(B) $REAKREEEEREKE &)

REBEERER (&)

B A5 1R SR E B IR IRTT R
HAbERET A LB ER B S 4T
B [—FRFIRER ] RHEEE
NeRZEZZF=HA=+—
A ZERTERNEEDR
& /45,000,000 7T (=& = —
4 : 11,200,000% 7T) © & & 5
REBEMBMBRR  EERER
RIBIT P RAI BT ARG HE
EREANER - BRERA
ZERITREMERERES
AR E T BB R E BN R
HEHRERFNEE  FER
NI

Maturity Analysis - Bank and other borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause based on scheduled repayments
HME L - WEREREERRNBTREMED (BRGTEET)
More than
1 year but

Within 1 year less than
or on demand 2 years
—-FRRRER -FREMER
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR

12,302 -

More than
2 years hut

less than Carrying
5 years [0]¢] amount

MERBLFR asr REfE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TiEn TiEn TiEn

- 12,302 11,200
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE_T-_—_F#=ZA=1+—HILFE

43. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 43. EXEmETHNEEYHE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TR AEERETHEENEEY
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- BEReRIREEH - BEFHELENE
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are ERBEESREXIRKBSRENRERLZE
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, ReREXRTHERARETHELERESRE
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows HEE -

as cash flows from financing activities.

Promissory  Loan froma Bank and other
note payables  shareholder borrowings  Lease liabilities

*E R k1T
37 \ HipfE & HERRE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

AT THT THET BT TET

At 1 April 2020 RZZ-FFNA—H - 9,720 6,800 4,080 20,600
Changes from financing cash REBLRER

flows (24,399) (9,824) (7,836) (2,267) (44,326)

New leases entered FIMEE - - - 7,351 7,357

Interest expenses MER% 839 104 578 212 1,733

Acquisition of subsidiaries WEMB AR 81,000 - 11,658 421 93,079

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April R-Z-—%=A=1+-H

2021 kZZE-—%mA-A 57,440 11,200 9,797 78,437
Changes from financing cash BERLFELE

flows (58,290) (11,924) (5,212) (75,426)
New leases entered FMEEE - 17,916 17,916
Interest expenses MBS 724 619 2,193
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERB AR 5,000 1,157 6,157

At 31 March 2022 RZZEZZF=A=+-H 5,000 24,277 29,277

AIREEEEERAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022

44.

244

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION
During the year ended 31 March 2022

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group agreed to
settle the debts of HK$1,000,000 owed by the Brilliant Ever
Vendor to Brilliant Ever Global Limited regarding the acquisition
of the entire equity interest in Brilliant Ever Global Limited (see
note 39 (a)(ii).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group agreed to
settle the debts of HK$1,000,000 owed by the KC Training
Vendor to KC Training Company Limited regarding the
acquisition of the entire equity interest in KC Training Company
Limited (see note 39 (a)(i)).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group settled the
other payables of HK$33,250,000 to Mr. Poon Chi Ming through
the issuance and allotment of 246,296,296 ordinary shares of
the Company of HK$0.0001 each in the Company to Mr. Poon
Chi Ming (see note 35 (B)(a)).

Further, during the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
acquired certain property, plant and equipment with the
carrying amount of HK$15,781,000 through the entering into
leasing arrangements with the counterparties.

Legendary Group Limited
Annual Report 2022

44. EXRFBEERS

BE-_ZE-_—_F=A=+—HLF
E
REBEE—T-_—_F=A=+—HIEFE K
EER BB RKIRIRB R A AL 2%
REAE R ZEIRIRE J7 i R R IRB R A 7]
91,000,000 & (RLHIEE39 ()ii)

BHE_ZT-_—_F=-"A=+—RHLFE-
K & B 7 = 5t Uk BSKC Training Company
Limited 2 SF A& 4 45 ~TKC Training® 77 45
KC Training Company Limited#41,000,0007%
ToER (RMEE39 @)() -

HE-_Z-_—_F-AZ+—HBILFE-
AREBMBEBAFESHEEBRITREE
246,296,2961% B IR EI{E0.0001 & 7L HY A~ A A
TR AEE DR R L AR B A FE T RIE
33,250,000 7T (R Hi5E35B(@)) °

o BEZE-—F=A=+—HItF
B AEEBBERSHFAICHERH
U B8 BRI 1B 415,781,000/8 LRI % T4 % -
T B AR o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2021

During the year ended 31 March 2021, Mr. Yuen Yu Sum, an
executive director of the Company, and the Group entered an
agreement, pursuant to which the amount of HK$80,000,000
for the consideration for the acquisition of 70% equity interest
of Prestige Concord from Mr. Yuen Yu Sum was offset against
the amount due from Mr. Yuen Yu Sum to the Group of
HK$29,000,000 and by the issue of promissory note to Mr. Yuen
Yu Sum by the Group of HK$41,000,000 and HK$10,000,000
settled by cash.

Mr. Poon Chi Ming, an independent third party, and for the
Group entered an agreement, pursuant to which the amount
of HK$33,250,000 for the consideration for the acquisition of
100% equity interest of Bewisekid Holding Limited from Mr.
Poon Chi Ming was payable by the issuance and allotment
of the shares of the Company. The shares were not issued
and allotted to Mr. Poon Chi Ming as at 31 March 2021 and
the outstanding balance included in other payables of the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Mr. Lam Yat Nam, an independent third party, and the Group
entered an agreement, pursuant to which the amount of
HK$40,000,000 for the consideration for the acquisition of 100%
equity interest of Zone Galaxy Limited from Mr. Lam Yat Nam
was settled by the issue of promissory note to Mr. Lam Yat
Nam by the Group.

44.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

EXKBRERS (&)
BE-ZE-—-=ZHA=+—HL*HF
E
HE-_Z-_—F=ZA=+—HLFE"
RABRITEERM R ERAE@R]
SRR BRI 0 R R % A U B Prestige
Concord70%H% # &) 1X. {880,000,000/% 7T /5
A 7K 5 (B FIE UR 3R MR R St A 5K TE29,000,000
BILRAEERARBARCEZITERLRERE
41,000,0007% 7T & LA 33 4 45 £10,000,00078
TURTHESH -

ELRLE BUE=H BASEFIY
Wk - BB b - % AR SR A U BEBewisekid
Holding Limitedz & & & # =~ X f&
33,250,000 7T Jh A8 AN A m) 3517 IR BL 22 AR 1)
BRI A= E-—F=A=+—0H"
ZERM AT REE TELERLE - M
KREBERT I ARE RN R 2 EfE
RFIBER -

MRBEE  BYFE=7 HEAKEIL
ek - IRUL - AR T LAY BEZone Galaxy
Limited .z 2 &f x4 < X {840,000,0007& 7T /5
AEEMMRB R EBTEARRIBEN TR
Bt o

AXEAREERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 45. XRAFIMBARIZFHE
COMPANY
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the REEHR - AAREEREERFENNE
Company at the end of the reporting period are set out below. RNAFBEEHINIT -

Attributable equity
Place of incorporation/ Issued and interest and voting power
operation fully paid-up capital held by the Company  Principal activities

ELTAE 2t ERTRARER ALTAMBEERERREE TEXH
% %

Directly owned subsidiary

EEERMEAF
Multi Vision Development Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of USS$1 100 100 Investment holding
gach
Multi Vision Development Limited RERGHE/B6 RERIETHLER 100 100 ®EEK
Able Glorious Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of US$1 100 100 Investment holding
each
Able Glorious Limited ZBRLES/BA RERIETHLBR 100 100 REER
Peaceful Success Enterprises Limited — BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of US$1 100 100 Investment holding
each
BRAEERAT RERNES /B RERIETNLER 100 100 #REER
Indirectly owned subsidiary
BEERIEAR
Hong Kong Investor Education Limited  HK/HK 1 ordinary share 100 100 Provision of financial
(Formerly known as Able Glorious quotient and
(HK) Limited) investment education
courses
BAREEAEERAR (F1fAbe  BE /B REER 100 100 REMERREHERE
Glorious (HK) Limited)
Able Rich Management Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of US$1 100 100 Investment holding
each
ENERERAA) EBRUHE/BE RERIETHLER 100 100 RAER
L & A Group of Companies Limited ~ HK/HK 38,400,000 ordinary shares 100 100 Manufacturing, sales and
retailing of garment
products
HTEEARNA &b/ Bh 38,400,0008% &% 100 100 REEREE HERT
&
L & A Management Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share 100 100 Investment holding
L & A Management Limited RERIHE /B RERER 100 100 AR
Sun Dynamic Group Limited BVI/HK 3,000 ordinary shares of 100 100 Investment holding
US$1 each
Sun Dynamic Group Limited KERUEE/B5  3000REMETHLER 100 100 HELR

Legendary Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F#=ZA=+—HLHFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 45. ARBMEATZFHE &)

COMPANY (continued)

Attributable equity

Place of incorporation/ Issued and interest and voting power
operation fully paid-up capital held by the Company  Principal activities
SR/ e ERTRBEER AQAFEEGRERRERE TE£K

% %

Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited HK/HK 1 ordinary share 90 90 Provision of private
Supplementary
education

REMEBRAT BB/ BR 1RE B 90 90 RERIHEIHERE

Hung Lee Asia Trading Limited HK/HK 100 ordinary share - - Wholesaling of seafood

BHENE HERAF BE/BE 1008 @fx - - gERE

L & A Food Trading Limited HK/HK 1 ordinary share 100 100 Property investment

HLRREHERAA &%/ Bk REER 100 00 MERE

L & A Solutions Limited HK/HK 1 ordinary share 100 Money Lending

L & A Solutions Limited BB/ BR TREER 100 HE

Freemaker Institute Limited HK/HK 1,000 ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of financial
(uotient and
investment education
Courses

BREAZEEERAT Bh/BR 1,0008% & i@k 100 100 REMHREEHERE

Bewisekid Holding Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share 100 100 Investment holding

Bewisekid Holding Limited EBEUHE /BB RERER 100 100 HERR

Be Wise Kid Education Limited HK/HK 10,000 ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of financial
(uotient and
investment education
Courses

ZA-HEBRLF B/ BE 10,0000 L 100 100 REHEHREEHERE

Initial Aim Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of US$1 100 100 Investment holding

each

Initial Aim Limited RBRIES /B RERIETHLER 100 100 RERR

Prestige Concord Limited BVI/HK 1,000 ordinary shares 100 100 Investment holding

Prestige Concord Limited RBRELHE /55 1,0008% & % 100 100 HEER

YH Group Limited HK/HK 150,000 ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of financial
(uotient and
investment education
Courses

TFEEEBERAR Bk BE 150,000 £k 100 100 REFEREEHERRE

AXEAREERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 45. XATMB AT ZFHE (&)
COMPANY (continued)

Attributable equity
Place of incorporation/ Issued and interest and voting power
operation fully paid-up capital held by the Company  Principal activities
R /S BRTRARER AQNAFMEEERERRER TTEK
% %

YH Education Limited HK/HK 1 ordinary share 100 100 Provision of financial
(uotient and
investment education
COUrses

TSHEBRAT Bk /BE IRERR 100 100 REMERREHERE

98 SHH Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of US$1 100 100 Investment holding

each

98 SHH Limited EERAHE /BE RERIETHEER 100 100 HAHR

31 Edutech Limited HK/HK 1,320 ordinary shares 66 66 Provision of financial
Quotient and
investment education
CoUrses

31 Edutech Limited Bk /BB 13200 &R 66 66 REMBRREHERRE

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, FRIHERREEFRRFTIEZEREEE

in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally BAEERBBEZARRMBAR - RNAH

affected the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To EERE  RHEMMNBARZFBEHEH

give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the BRHBRITER ©

directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive

length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during REFERNRRMEFER  SEMEA

both years and at the end of both years. RIEATEERE S

At 31 March 2021 and 2022, there is no subsidiary of the Group RZEZ—FR-_F-_F=A=+—H

which has material non-controlling interests AEENBEEAEAFERERNNE L
al e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46. WINDING UP PETITION

During the year ended 31 March 2019, a petition has been
filed to the court by two shareholders of the Company (the
“Petitioners”), which together were holding over 3% of the
Company’s issued shares, and the Petitioners filed and served
a re-amended petition to the court on 3 December 2019. The
Petitioners pray (i) that the Company be wound up pursuant
to the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance (Cap. 32); (i) that the court make such other orders
as are deemed to be just and equitable; and (iii) that provision
be made for Petitioners’ costs. The hearing has been adjourned
to 6 July 2020 (with 5 days reserved).

The Honourable Ms. Justice Linda Chan has made an order
to dismiss the Petition (the “Order to Dismiss”) at the hearing
on 13 December 2021. A sealed copy of the said order was
received by the Company on 23 December 2021. As at 31
March 2022, there was no outstanding winding-up petition
against the Company.

Details of the “Order to Dismiss” are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 15 December 2022 and 18 January 2022.

46.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_ZT-__F=A=+—HILFE

BREF
REE_Z-NF=A=+—HILLFE - $
NAMBRE ([2EFAD (B HBEEAR
BTG HiE3%) MERRR 25 - H
2BARZE-NF+ZA=ZHEZERRER
FORET —IEEFEFINES - 2FAR
SRA R RIRIE A R) OF 88 KA TE 530 1'7%
BRE) FE  (VERIEREMALE
 R(imt 2 5 AZW$J%%%
RAEHEE S -_TF LA A (BHR

BB AE DR E-_—F+=-FA+=H
WEMPESHERESE (HESD - A2
AER_ZE_—F+_A=+=0H3 L
ELZBHBAR RZTE_—F=A=+—
B BHESHHARAR 2 RRNERES -

[BES] 2 BHRARAEHAE=-T
::¢+ B+REER-ZE-—F—F+N\
/N i
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EEHBEHRE

2022 2019 2018
—t T F-TF —TNF —F)\F

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THTT T THETT THTT

Ccontinuing and FEREKILE

discontinued B

operations
Revenue Wz 115,088 96,468 74,271 71,731 57,881
Operating profit/(loss)  #&&%7 (E518) 34,186 42,866 (32,809) (7,074) (272,116)
Profit/(loss) for the year €|,/ (E518) 26,007 40,425 (34,015) (10,131) (271,246)

Financial position B R AR

Assets and liabilities EENEBE

Total assets BERBE 329,389 353,178 89,536 114,408 150,949
Total liabilities BfE8sE (117,272) (179,159) (39,557) (16,082) (13,757)
212,117 174,019 49,979 98,326 137,192

Capital and reserves  BA& R

Total equity ViN/NCIEZ 2= DN
attributable to FEIE M R
owners of the
Company 213,338 176,758 52,577 98,177 137,822
Non-controlling FEPEAR R
interests (1,221) (2,739) (2,598) 149 (630)

212,117 174,019 49,979 98,326 137,192
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